
 
 

 

 

 
 

Local Government Act 1972 
 
I Hereby Give You Notice that an Extraordinary Meeting of the Durham 
County Council will be held remotely via Microsoft Teams on 
Wednesday 16 December 2020 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the following 
business:- 
 
 

1. Chairs' Announcements   
 

2. Declarations of interest, if any   
 

3. Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the 
period to 30 September 2020 - Report of Corporate 
Director of Resources  (Pages 7 - 16) 

 

4. Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2021/22 - Report of 
Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 17 - 34) 

 

5. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2019/20 - 
Report of Corporate Director of Resources  (Pages 35 - 82) 

 

6. Appointment of Interim Chief Executive - Report of Chief 
Officer Appointments Committee  (Pages 83 - 86) 

 

7. Director of Public Health Annual Report 2020  (Pages 87 - 
124) 

 

8. Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2019/20 - Report 
of the Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel  (Pages 125 - 
156) 

 

9. Motions on Notice   
 

 Councillor O Temple to Move 
 
This council is aware that that the council has taken multi-
million pound headleases in respect of four developments 



 

 

in County Durham: 
 
1. Two office developments at Freeman’s Reach, 

Durham City 
2. An industrial development at Merchant Park, Newton 

Aycliffe 
3. The major development currently under construction 

at Milburngate, Durham City 
 
Council is also aware that at the time of approving these 
headleases, cabinet took into account the significant 
transfer from the private sector to the council of both the 
potential risk and reward that could flow from these 
developments. At that time cabinet judged that the potential 
rewards outweighed the possible risks. 
 
In the light of the coronavirus pandemic and the significant 
changes that are taking place in both commercial practice 
and consumer behaviour as a result of it, council requests 
that a report be brought to the next meeting of Cabinet after 
1st February 2021 setting out the cabinet’s latest detailed 
assessment of these changed circumstances and their 
likely impact on the council’s budget in future years in terms 
of: 
 

 The current and future expected range of commercial 
activity to be undertaken by leaseholders/tenants of 
these properties 

 

 Potentially changed lease or rental levels for each of 
these tenant types 

 

 The likelihood of the council being able to re-let the 
properties where the leases of current or contracted 
occupants come to an end before the council’s 
headlease itself ends 

 

 The revised best and worst-case scenarios the 
council envisages in terms of Income and 
expenditure from these investments. 
 

Councillor P Sexton to Move 
 
I call on the Council to conduct an internal review of the 
decision made to allow admissions of Covid-19 patients 
from Hospitals into County Durham care homes 
 
 



 

 

Councillor M Wilkes to Move 
 
County Durham has one of the highest Covid-19 care home 
death rates in the UK. There continues to be significant 
outbreaks in our care homes. 
 
It is essential that we learn from what has happened and 
continues to happen so that we can reduce the risks of 
further deaths in our care homes over the winter and 
spring. 
 
This Council therefore calls for an independent review to 
take place immediately to report back as soon as possible 
with initial findings. 
 
Councillor O Gunn to Move 
 
This Council notes with concern the unique and challenging 

circumstances currently affecting schools and applauds the 

work of teachers and all school staff. Since the outbreak of 

COVID 19 their commitment to provide the best possible 

educational experience in an increasingly challenging and 

complex scenario has been outstanding.  

The  impact of the pandemic has resulted in significant 

disruption to teaching and learning and, as  a result, pupils 

taking GCSEs, AS and A -levels cannot realistically be 

expected to either focus properly upon their education or 

complete all of the units of work necessary. Moreover, there 

has been a disproportionate impact in some areas that 

already faced significant inequalities due to high infection 

rates, the North East being one of those areas worst 

affected. 

This Council asserts that the vast inequalities of classroom 

based learning vs home learning make any traditional 

examination system fundamentally flawed and unfair.  It is 

impossible to guarantee a level playing field for 

examinations in 2021. Furthermore, a three week 

examination delay announced by Government falls far short 

of addressing the anxieties and concerns of teachers, 

parents and most importantly, the pupils themselves. 

It is therefore essential that the Government provides clarity 

for pupils and teachers now and not next month or next 

year. The fiasco of the summer examinations was hugely 

stressful for pupils and there must be no repeat of the 

confusion and anxiety caused by another Government last 



 

 

minute u turn.  

This Council deplores the Government’s unwillingness to 

listen to educators and learners whilst expecting them to 

work in such challenging circumstances.  

This Council therefore calls upon the Government as a 

matter of urgency to: 

a) cancel 2021 school examinations and move to a robust 

and transparent  teacher assessment model; 

b) liaise with Local Government and other relevant bodies 

to bring this to fruition. 

 
Councillor L Hovvels to Move 
 
The NHS Test and Trace was introduced on 28th May 2020 
and is a cross -Government programme chaired by 
Baroness Dido Harding, reporting directly to the Prime 
Minister and the Cabinet Secretary. It was set up as a world 
beating system to ensure population level testing and 
contact tracing to enable people to be tested, traced and 
then isolated to slow the spread of coronavirus. 
Local Authorities were told by Government that the system 
would be fully operational by September as schools and 
then universities returned.  
 
The NHS Test and Trace Tier 2 nationally employed call 
handlers, currently contact 83% of County Durham 
residents in the first 24 hours after testing positive for 
coronavirus. However only 57% of their close contacts are 
contacted.  17% of positive cases are therefore missed and 
are then being referred to the Public Health England Health 
Protection Team and subsequently the Local Authority 
Public Health Team. 43% of contacts are not reached at all. 
 
The Local Authority has a responsibility to deliver a Local 
Outbreak Control Plan with testing, trace and isolate being 
key components of this plan. However, until NHS Test and 
Trace can fulfil the initial expectations set out by 
Government the Local Authority will remain unable to fully 
deliver this plan and fully protect the health of our residents. 
 
I call upon the Council to: 

 express a vote of no confidence in NHS Test and 

Trace  

 write to the Secretary of State for Health and Care to 



 

 

express grave concerns at the failings of NHS Test 

and Trace and the impact it has had on local 

outbreak control arrangements 

 thank local Council staff who are managing cases 

due to the shortcomings of NHS Test and Trace 

 

 
 
And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby 
Summon You to attend the said meeting 
 
Dated this 8th day of December 2020 
 
 

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
 
To: All Members of the County Council 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Extraordinary County Council 
 

16 December 2020 
 

Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury 
Management for the period to  
30 September 2020 
 

 

 
 

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 
 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None. 

Purpose of the Report 

 

1 The purpose of this report is to provide information on the treasury 
management mid-year position for 2020/21. 

 

Executive Summary 
 

2 This report provides a summary of the Council’s treasury position, 
borrowing activity, investment activity, treasury management and 
prudential indicators. 

 
3 The Council held £348 million in borrowing and had £263 million cash 

balances invested at 30 September 2020. During the half year period no 
additional borrowing was taken out as the council held sufficient cash 
balances to fund its expenditure.  

 
4 Investments have been undertaken in line with both the CIPFA Code 

and government guidance which require the Council to invest its funds 
prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. 

 
5 During the half year period to 30 September 2020, the Council has 

complied with Treasury Management Indicators relating to interest rate 
exposure, maturity structure of borrowing and sums invested for more 
than one year. The Council has also complied with Prudential Code 
Indicators which relate to the capital programme and how much the 
Council can afford to borrow. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 

Recommendation(s) 
 

6 Council is asked to: 
 

(a) note progress with the Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21; 
 

(b) agree that the overall counterparty limit for Money Market Funds is 
increased to £125m, with the maximum exposure to a single Money 
Market Fund increased to £25m. 

 
  

Page 8



Background 
 

7 Treasury management is defined as ‘the management of the local 
authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated 
with those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks’. 
 

8 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the 
treasury management operation is to ensure this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk 
counterparties, with a main aim of providing sufficient liquidity, ahead of 
the achievement of the best possible investment returns. 
 

9 The second main function of the treasury management service is to 
arrange the funding of the Council’s capital programme. The capital 
programme provides a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, and 
there needs to be longer term cash flow planning to ensure capital 
spending requirements can be met. The management of longer term 
cash may involve arranging long or short term loans, utilising longer 
term cash flow surpluses and, occasionally, debt restructuring to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives.  
 

10 The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring 
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and its 
Prudential Indicators (PIs). This requires that Members agree the 
following reports, as a minimum: 

 
(a) an annual Treasury Management Strategy in advance of the year 

(reported to the County Council on 26 February 2020 for the 
2020/21 financial year); 
 

(b) an annual review following the end of the year describing the 
activity compared to the strategy (reported to Full Council on 21 
October 2020 in respect of the 2019/20 financial year); 
 

(c) a mid-year Treasury Management Review report, covering the 
first six months of this financial year, to 30 September 2020 (this 
report); 

 
11 This mid-year report provides a summary of the following: 
 

(a) summary treasury position; 
 

(b) borrowing activity; 
 

Page 9



(c) other debt activity/long term liabilities: 
 

(d) investment activity; 
 

(e) treasury management indicators; 
 

(f) prudential code indicators; 
 

Summary Treasury Position 
 

12  The Council’s debt and investment position is organised to ensure 
adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for 
investments, and to manage risks within all treasury management 
activities.    

 
13 At the beginning and mid-year point of 2020/21 the Council’s treasury 

position (excluding borrowing by finance leases) was as follows: 
 

  31.03.20 
Rate 

/Return 
Average 

Life  
30.09.20 

Rate 
/Return 

Average 
Life  

  
£ million % years 

£ 
million % years 

Total Debt 359 3.42 22.93 348 3.43 22.94 

Total Investments 232 1.05 0.53 263 0.57 0.42 

Net Debt 127     85     

 

14 As at 30 September 2020, the Council had £348 million of borrowing 
and £263 million of cash balances invested. The main factor in the 
increase in cash balances over the period has been the receipt of 
COVID-19 related grants and the front loading of other Government 
grants. 

 

Borrowing Activity 

15 At 30 September 2020, the Council held £348.472 million of loans, a net 
decrease of £10.108 million from the start of the year. The mid-year 
borrowing position and the change since the start of the year is shown 
in the following table: 

 

 

 

 

Page 10



 

31.3.20 In-year 30.9.20 Average 30.9.20 

Balance Movement Balance Rate Average 
Life 

£ million £ million £ million % years 

Public Works 
Loan Board 

288.975 (10.002) 278.973 3.31% 20.3 

Private Sector 69.420 (0.098) 69.322 4.41% 26.2 

Pension Fund 0.185 (0.008) 0.177 8.05% 8.1 

Total borrowing 358.580 (10.108) 348.472   

 

16 The Council’s chief objective when borrowing has been to strike an 
appropriate risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving cost certainty over the period for which funds are required. 

17 During the half year period no additional borrowing was taken out as the 
council held sufficient cash balances to fund its expenditure.  

 
18 No rescheduling has been done during the first half of the year as the 

differential between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature 
repayment rates made rescheduling unviable. 

Other Debt Activity / Long Term Liabilities 

19 Although not classed as borrowing, the Council also raised £0.160 
million of capital finance for replacement fleet vehicles and equipment 
via finance leases during the first half year to 30 September 2020. It is 
expected that a further £12.382 million will be raised during the 
remainder of the year, giving total expected additional lease finance of 
£12.542 million. 

Investment Activity 
 

20 The Council continues to temporarily invest cash balances, representing 
monies received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves 
held. During the half-year to 30 September 2020, investment balances 
ranged between £240.9 million and £346.1 million. 

 
21 As at 30 September 2020 the Council held investments totalling 

£263.349 million. The following table provides a breakdown of these 
investments split by the type of financial institution and maturity period: 
 

Page 11



Financial 
Institution 

0-3 
months 

3-6 
months 

6-12 
months 

12-24 
months  Total 

 £ million 

Banks 82.604 27.839 34.799 - 145.242 

Building Societies - 8.700 - - 8.700 

Central Government 0.870 - - - 0.870 

Other Local 
Authorities 

10.875 17.399 - 21.749 50.023 

Money Market 
Funds 

58.514 - - - 58.514 

Total 152.863 53.938 34.799 21.749 263.349 

% of total 58% 21% 13% 8%  

 

22 The Council’s investment policy is governed by Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance, which has 
been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the 
Council on 26  February 2020. Both the CIPFA Code and government 
guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have 
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the 
highest rate of return, or yield. The Council’s objective when investing 
money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return, 
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of 
receiving unsuitably low investment income. 
 

23 To provide increased flexibility by allowing increased levels of cash to 
be kept liquid, and to achieve improved returns on our liquid cash 
balances, it is proposed that the counterparty limits for Money Market 
Funds are increased. The identified levels are a total maximum 
exposure of £125m, from the existing £100m, with the maximum 
exposure to a single Money Market Fund increased to £25m from the 
existing £20m. 

 
 

Treasury Management Indicators 
 

24 There are three debt related treasury activity limits which are designed 
to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in 
interest rates. 

Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s 
exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper limits on fixed and variable rate 
interest rate exposures, expressed as the proportion of net principle 
invested was: 
 
 
 

Page 12



  
30.9.20 
 Actual 

30.9.20 
 Actual 

2020/21 
Limit 

Complied 

Upper limit on fixed interest 
rate exposure 

£309.0m 89% 100% 

Upper limit on variable interest 
rate exposure 

£39.5m 11% 70% 

 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the 
Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the 
maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were: 
 

  
Lower 
Limit 

Upper 
Limit 

30.9.20 
Actual 

Complied 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 0% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 40% 0% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 60% 18% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 80% 11% 

10 years and above 0% 100% 71% 

 

Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The 
purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of 
incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments: 

 

  
Limit As at 

30.9.20 
Complied 

Actual principal invested beyond one 
year 

£75m £40m  

 

Prudential Code Indicators 
 

25 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to 
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when 
determining how much money it can afford to borrow. 

 
26 The objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure, within a clear 

framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management 
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To 
demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential 
Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored 
each year. 

 
Capital Expenditure: The table below summarises planned capital 
expenditure and financing when the 2020/21 budget was set in February 
2020 and compares it to the estimated full year outturn position as at 30 
September: 

Page 13



 
2020/21 
Original 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Estimate 
at 30.9.20 
£ Million 

Difference 
£ Million 

Capital Programme 199.043 145.755 (53.288) 

Financed by:       

Capital receipts 9.913 7.866 (2.047) 

Capital grants 48.435 45.357 (3.078) 

Revenue and reserves 34.451 37.344 2.893 

Net borrowing financing need 
for the year 106.244 55.188 (51.056) 

 

Actual Debt: The Council’s actual debt at 30 September 2020 is as 
follows: 

  31.03.20 
Actual 

£ million 

2020/21 
Actual at 
30.9.20 

£ million 
Difference 
£ million 

Borrowing 358.580 348.472 (10.108) 

Finance leases 42.665 42.293 (0.372) 

PFI liabilities 37.170 37.170 0.000 

Total Debt 438.415 427.935 (10.480) 

 
Operational Boundary: This is the limit beyond which external 
borrowing is not normally expected to exceed. Periods where the actual 
position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable subject to the 
authorised limit not being breached. 
 

 

2020/21 
Original  
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual at 
30.9.20 

£ million Complied 

Borrowing 
     

513.000  348.472 

Other long term liabilities 
       

85.000  79.463 

Total 
     

598.000  
     

427.935  

  
Authorised Limit for external borrowing: This represents a control on 
the maximum level of borrowing and is a statutory limit determined under 
section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. It reflects the level of 
external borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the 
short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. 

Page 14



  

2020/21 
Estimate 
£ Million 

2020/21 
Actual at 
30.9.20 

£ million Complied 

Borrowing 
     

563.000  348.472 

Other long term liabilities 
       

90.000  79.463 

Total 
     

653.000  
     

427.935  

 
The revised estimate for other long term liabilities has been adjusted to 
reflect the Councils long term lease interest in properties at Freemans’ 
Reach which are being treated as finance leases. 

 

Conclusion 
 

27 The Council has complied with its Treasury Management Strategy 
2020/21 for its half-yearly activity covering the period to 30 September 
2020. 

 

Background Papers 

 County Council - 26 February 2020 – Medium Term Financial 
Plan, 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and Capital Budget 
2020/21 – Appendix 15: Durham County Council Treasury 
Management Strategy 2020/21 

 

 County Council – 21 October 2020 – Treasury Management 
Outturn 2019/20. 

 
 

Author(s) 
 

Jeff Garfoot    Tel:  03000 261946 
 
Azhar Rafiq    Tel: 03000 263480 

 
  

Page 15



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 
None 

 
Finance 
The report details the Council’s cash management, loans and investment 
activity during 2020/21 in the first half year to 30 September 2020.  The report 
also provides the overall financing of the Council’s capital expenditure, along 
with borrowing and investment income returns. 
 

Consultation 
None 
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
None 
 

Climate Change 
None 
 

Human Rights 
None 
 

Crime and Disorder 
None 
 

Staffing 
None 
 

Accommodation 
None 

 
Risk 
None 

 
Procurement 
None 
 

Page 16



            

Extraordinary County Council 

16 December 2020 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

2021/22  

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources 

Councillor Alan Napier, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance 

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1. To seek Council approval for the continuation of the current Local Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) for a further year into 2021/22, which 
would continue the protection afforded to all claimants in line with what 
their entitlement would have been under the former Council Tax Benefit 
system. These proposals were considered by Cabinet at their meeting on 
18 November 2020, who resolved to recommend to Council the 
continuation of the scheme into 2021/22.  

Executive summary 

2. Durham is one of a small minority of councils to continue to offer the 
same level of support to all claimants as was available under the former 
Council Tax Benefit scheme which was abolished and replaced by 
LCTRS on 1 April 2013.  In 2018/19, when national data was last 
collected, only 36 local authorities in England, and no other councils in 
the North East, offered all residents this level of assistance. This means 
no LCTRS claimants in our area have been worse off in the last eight 
years than they would have been under the previous national scheme. 

3. Councils are required to review and approve their schemes annually and 
have this agreed by a Council meeting before 11 March each year.  

4. Nationally the most common change made to LCTRS is the introduction 
of minimum payments.  Over 80% of Local Authorities have introduced 
these; making all residents liable, regardless of their income, and 
responsible for paying a percentage of their council tax.  This ranges from 
5% to 50% of the property’s full council tax liability.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



5. National research confirms that there is a clear correlation between 
higher minimum payments in LCTRS and council tax collection rates.  

6. There are currently 58,250 LCTRS claimants in County Durham, of which 
22,050 (38%) are pensioners and 36,200 (62%) are working age.  28,940 
(80%) of working age claimants currently receive 100% LCTRS discount, 
with LCTRS support forecast to be circa £61.9m in 2020/21. 

7. The rollout of Universal Credit (UC) is scheduled to be completed in 2024 
and is already in payment to a significant number of people in Durham.  
As of September 2020, there were circa 18,250 LCTR claimants 
receiving UC, just over 50% of the working age LCTR caseload.   

8. The council is around four times more likely to receive a report of a 
change in circumstances when a working age LCTR claim is based on 
UC, than when it is not.  Regular monthly recalculations of UC and LCTR, 
most frequently caused by changes in earnings, are leading to multiple 
bills being issued to households. This has resulted in residents not being 
able to easily keep track of their Council Tax liability, leading to difficulties 
for households when managing their finances and personal budgeting.   

9. The Council will need to keep track of the impact of the continuing roll out 
of UC. After many years of continued improvement, our in-year council 
tax collection rate reduced slightly in 2018/19 to 96.65%, and further still 
in 2019/20 to 96.37%. The current year has seen a further significant 
reduction year on year also but that in most part is due to the impact of 
Covid-19. 

10. Consideration of whether to extend the current scheme into 2021/22 
needs to take account of a number of key factors and changing the 
scheme at this stage means additional council tax revenues (or 
pressures) would need to be built into the medium term financial plan 
(MTFP) projections. No changes to the scheme were factored into the 
MTFP(11) projections reported to Cabinet on 14 October 2020.  

11. The coronavirus pandemic has had a significant impact on the LCTRS 
working age caseload, which increased dramatically in the first quarter of 
2020/21 as an unprecedented number of new claims were received by 
working age customers adversely affected by Covid-19.  At the peak in 
May 2020 the working age LCTRS caseload was almost 3,000 higher 
than in January.  The total value of LCTRS awards is expected to be 
around £5m higher in 2020/21 than in the previous year. 

Recommendation(s) 

12. Council is recommended to: 

(a) Continue the current Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme into 
2021/22, which will retain the same level of support to all working 

Page 18



age council taxpayers on low incomes as was the case under the 
previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme; 

(b) agree that the extension to the Scheme be initially for a further year 
only and be kept under continuous review with a further decision 
on the scheme to apply in 2022/23 to be considered by Cabinet in 
summer 2021 and Full Council by 11 March 2022; 

  

Page 19



Background 

13. The Government abolished the national Council Tax Benefits system on 
31 March 2013, replacing it with a requirement for local authorities to 
work with their precepting bodies to establish a Local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) with effect from 1 April 2013.  The LCTRS 
provides a ‘discount’ against the council tax charge, rather than a benefit 
entitlement. 

14. The Council Tax Reduction Scheme Grant replaced Council Tax Benefit 
subsidy and from April 2013 was paid directly to the council and the 
major precepting bodies (Police and Fire). 

15. Government funding towards council tax support was reduced by 10% 
nationally in 2013/14.  By so doing, the Government also transferred the 
risk of any growth in the system through more council taxpayers 
becoming eligible for support with their council tax to local authorities as 
the government grant was a fixed amount. This risk has materialised in 
the current year when an unprecedented number of new claims for LCTR 
was received as a result of the national lock down linked to the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

16. The funding made available to support the LCTRS in 2013/14 (90% of the 
previous funding available under the Council Tax Benefit System) now 
forms part of the council’s formula funding arrangements. Whilst separate 
figures were published for this in 2013/14, there is no longer any visibility 
over what level of funding is now for LCTRS that is contained within the 
formula.  

17. The council’s formula grant includes an element relating to town and 
parish councils and whilst the council has passed the grant on to the town 
and parish councils, there is no statutory requirement to do so.  

18. Following discussions with the Town and Parish Councils’ Working 
Group, and in the spirit of partnership working, recognising the important 
role town and parish councils play in providing local services to 
communities, it is proposed to continue to pass on the town and parish 
element of the formula grant in 2021/22.  

19. In doing so, it is proposed that the council continues to apply pro-rata 
reductions in the Council Tax Support Grant paid to town and parish 
councils in line with any reductions in the overall formula funding made 
available to the council and this is reflected in the MTFP model.  

20. In 2020/21 Town and Parish Councils received £1.332m of LCTRS grant 
allocations and for budget planning purposes have been advised that the 
Council will retain payments at this level next year, though the amount of 
grant provided to individual town or parish councils may vary according to 
the year on year changes in their tax raising capacity. 

Page 20



Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 

21. On 4 December 2019 County Council agreed the current LCTRS for 
2020/21, which mirrors the previous scheme that operated under the 
Council Tax Benefit System for all claimants.  No council tax support 
claimants have therefore been worse off in the last eight years than they 
would have been under the previous national scheme. 

22. The council has been mindful of the continuing impacts of the wider 
welfare reforms which are having a detrimental impact on many low 
income households and the fact that the additional council tax liabilities 
for working age households could have a significant impact on affected 
household budgets by around £130 a year based on a scheme whereby 
entitlement for working age claimants is set at a maximum of 90% 
entitlement. This would make collection of council tax more difficult and 
costly to recover from these low income households. 

23. In approving the scheme for 2020/21, the Council gave a commitment to 
review it on the grounds of MTFP affordability given the ongoing austerity 
it faces, the cumulative impacts the Governments welfare reforms and the 
prevailing economic circumstances facing our residents. 

24. In the North East region, Durham are now the only authority whose 
scheme continues to mirror entitlement under the former Council Tax 
Benefit system, whilst the other eleven councils have schemes that cap 
the maximum entitlement to working age claimants.  

25. The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) estimate that a quarter of the 
additional council tax liability created by cuts to LCTR since 2013 is not 
being collected in year. The table below summarises the key features of 
the schemes in place across the North East in 2020/21 and how their in-
year council tax collection rates have changed between 2012/13 and 
2019/20: 

Local Authority 
Basis of 
Scheme 

Minimum 
Payment 

Second 
Adult 
Reduction 
Offered? 

Change in in-year 
council tax collection 
rate between 2012/13 

and 2019/20 

Durham CTB No Yes +1.37%points 

Darlington CTB 20% No +0.34%points 

Gateshead CTB 8.5% No -0.72%points 

Hartlepool CTB 12% No -1.80%points 

Middlesbrough CTB 15% No -4.40%points 

Newcastle Income Banded 10% No -0.08%points 

North Tyneside CTB 15% No -1.90%points 

Northumberland CTB 8% Yes -0.06%points 

Redcar and 
Cleveland 

CTB 12.5% No +1.11%points 

Page 21



Local Authority 
Basis of 
Scheme 

Minimum 
Payment 

Second 
Adult 
Reduction 
Offered? 

Change in in-year 
council tax collection 
rate between 2012/13 

and 2019/20 

South Tyneside CTB 
30% or 
15% if 

vulnerable 
Yes -2.07%points 

Stockton CTB 20% No -3.05%points 

Sunderland CTB 8.5% Yes -2.31%points 

All English Unitary 
Authorities 

N/A N/A N/A -0.50%points 

All English 
Authorities 

N/A N/A N/A -0.80%points 

 
26. In 2018/19, when national data was last collected, Durham County 

Council was one of just 36 nationally who continued to mirror entitlement 
under the former Council Tax Benefit system (11%), with 290 (89%) out 
of 326 having cut the amount of support available to claimants. The latest 
published data available shows the most common changes to have been 
implemented elsewhere have been the introduction of a minimum 
payment level and reducing or removing the Second Adult Reduction.  
The chart below shows the types of changes and restrictions 
implemented to schemes across England: 

 

27. In some local authorities, like Durham, the lowest-income households 
continue to be exempt from paying council tax whilst in others they are 
required pay between 5% and 50% of their bill. There is a wide disparity 
of support available across the country. 

Page 22



28. The majority of councils who made changes to their schemes in the first 
few years of LCTR did so to cap the overall amount that could be paid to 
working age households – 80% of councils had a cap in 2018-19 – but 
different councils have set them at very different levels. Combined with 
different choices about other aspects of scheme design, this means that 
otherwise similar households are treated very differently according to 
where they live.  However, more recently, local authorities have started to 
focus on making changes to better support applicants receiving UC, while 
maintaining a cap on the total amount that an applicant can receive. 

29. The rollout of UC was originally intended to be completed by 2017, but 
after repeated rescheduling the current target date is September 2024.  
Despite the extended roll-out, UC is already in payment to a significant 
number of people in Durham.  This covers new claimants and those 
affected by natural migration to UC, where a change in circumstance can 
remove entitlement to a legacy benefit and result in a person having to 
make a UC claim instead. As of September 2020 there were circa 18,250 
LCTR applicants receiving UC, just over 50% of the working age LCTR 
caseload in Durham.   

30. The LCTR scheme in Durham, based on the former CTB scheme, is a 
complex scheme, designed to reflect and interact with the Department for 
Work and Pensions’ (DWP) long-standing range of legacy benefits.  All of 
which are calculated weekly, are based on the same premiums and 
allowances, have identical income and capital assessment rules and an 
established history of common case law. 

31. UC is a complete departure from the legacy benefits it replaces.  It is 
calculated monthly, with new rules and new allowances, and for in-work 
claims is subject to regular monthly changes.   

32. When compared to the legacy benefits schemes it replaces, UC produces 
more losers than winners, with prominent losers being disabled 
claimants, due to the loss of substantial disability allowances.  Going 
forward, to offer effective support to applicants who receive UC, local 
authorities will increasingly need to rethink their LCTR schemes.   

33. Durham County Council took an early decision to accept electronic 
notifications of a new UC claim from the DWP as an application for LCTR. 
This measure has helped Durham maintain its working age caseload.  
Other local authorities have seen reductions in the number of LCTR 
applications received, due to residents no longer being required to come 
to the council to make joint HB and LCTR claims.  This will have resulted 
in increases in council tax arrears and impacted on collection 
performance.  

34. In terms of impact on LCTRS workload, the council is around four times 
more likely to receive a report of a change in circumstances when a 
working age LCTR claim is based on UC, than when it is not.   

Page 23



35. Regular monthly recalculations of UC and LCTR, most frequently 
caused by changes in earnings, lead to multiple bills being issued to the 
household and significant difficulties for residents trying to maintain their 
council tax payments.  Net council tax charges are repeatedly being 
recalculated and instalment dates pushed back to later in the year. This 
is further complicated by the need to give customers paying by direct 
debit 14 days notice when making a change in their payments.  These 
changing instalments can cause considerable budgeting difficulties for 
residents, as well as a knock-on impact for the council in terms of 
increased call traffic and council tax collection work. 

36. Nationally, LCTR schemes provided 24% less support to working age 
households in 2018/19 than if the national Council Tax Benefit system 
had been retained. 

37. In 2018/19, over two million households across the country were being 
adversely affected by the change from Council Tax Benefit. On average 
these families were paying £204 additional council tax in 2018/19 in 
comparison to what they would have paid under the national Council 
Tax Benefit scheme. The number of LCTRS claimants paying an 
additional £200 or more had increased to 933,000 in 2018/19. 

38. There are currently 58,250 LCTRS claimants in County Durham, of 
which 22,050 (38%) are pensioners and 36,200 (62%) are working age 
claimants.  28,940 (80%) of working age claimants currently receive 
100% LCTRS discount, with LCTRS support forecast to be circa £61.9m 
in 2020/21. 

39. In Durham, there are now over 3,750 claimants currently classed as 
working age that would have been treated as pensionable age claimants 
prior to 2010, when the process began of moving state pension credit 
age from 60 for women and 65 for men, up to 66 for both.  This process 
was completed in 2020, with a further move up to 67 planned between 
2026 and 2028, then to 68 between 2044 and 2046.  As the chart below 
shows, over the last eight years there has been a eight percentage point 
increase in the proportion of working age applicants within Durham: 

Page 24



 

40. This means a higher proportion of our caseload is coming under the part 
of the LCTRS scheme that the Council has control over. Working age 
customers also carry a greater administrative workload as they have 
more frequent changes in their circumstances, particularly when they are 
in receipt of UC. 

41. As Members will be aware, if any changes are made to the scheme, 
these must be consulted on and be subject to an equality impact 
assessment. Councils are required to review and approve their schemes 
annually and have this agreed by a Council meeting before 11 March 
each year. 

42. Statutorily, pensioners have to be protected from any changes, therefore 
any reductions can only be applied to working age claimants.  

43. Eight years after the Government abolished the national Council Tax 
Benefits System the council continues to have an LCTRS which mirrors 
the previous entitlement under the Council Tax Benefit system for all 
claimants. No council tax support claimants have therefore been 
financially worse off in the last eight years (including the current year) 
than they would have been under the previous national scheme. 

44. The Council has been mindful of the continuing impacts of the wider 
welfare reforms which are having a detrimental impact on many low 
income households and the fact that the additional council tax liabilities 
for working age households could have a significant impact on affected 
household budgets by around £100 to £130 a year based on a scheme 
whereby entitlement for working age claimants is set at a maximum of 
90% entitlement. This would make collection of council tax more difficult 
and costly to recover from these low-income households. 

53% 54% 54% 56% 56% 57%
60% 61%

47%
46%

46%
44%

44% 43%
40% 39%

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

01/04/13 01/04/14 01/04/15 01/04/16 01/04/17 01/04/18 01/04/19 01/04/20

Working Age and Pension Age Caseload

Working Age Pension Age

Page 25



45. In January 2019, analysis from the IFS showed a direct link between 
higher minimum payments in LCTRS and lower overall council tax 
collection rates: 

Minimum 
Payment Level 
in LCTRS 

Estimated Effect on 
Collection Rate 

(percentage point 
change) 

Up to 8.5% -0.09% 

8.6% to 20% -0.24% 

Over 20% -0.49% 

 
46. Based on Taxbase assumptions, the estimated net cost of retaining the 

scheme is circa £5.1 million – this reflects the reduction in Government 
Grant support towards maintaining these schemes in the first year. To 
recover the full £5.1m cost by reducing the benefit awarded to working 
age claimants, which currently totals circa £38.6 million, and factoring in a 
prudent collection rate of 80%, would require the maximum entitlement to 
be reduced from 100% to 83.5%. 

47. Should the council review its scheme and reduce maximum entitlement to 
working age claimants, depending on the forecasted council tax collection 
from affected low income households, there would be scope to increase 
council tax revenues by between £3.01million (based on a scheme that 
awarded maximum entitlement to working age households of 90% with a 
prudent collection rate of 80%) and £5.1million (based on a scheme that 
awarded maximum entitlement of 83.5% with a prudent collection rate of 
80%).  This would impact circa 36,200 working age households across 
County Durham, where 6,950 (19%) are actually in low paid jobs rather 
than being unemployed. 

48. When the scheme was reviewed last year, a small amendment was made 
to extend the maximum backdating period from six to 12 months. 

49. This change has enabled officers to assist residents within the LCTR 
scheme, without relying on discretionary powers under Section 13A(1)(c) 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  As was expected, these 
cases have been rare.  In the first five months of 2020/21, of 2,324 new 
LCTRS awards which were backdated, only six required backdating for 
over six months; costing just over £1,500. 

50. The council’s LCTRS scheme has been in significantly increased demand 
this year as a result of the coronavirus pandemic. The pension age 
caseload has continued a trend of reduction. The working age caseload, 
however, increased dramatically in the first quarter of 2020/21 as an 
unprecedented number of new claims were received by customers 
adversely affected by Covid-19.  At the peak in May 2020 the working 
age LCTRS caseload was almost 3,000 higher than in January: 

Page 26



 

51. This increase in working age LCTRS claims, and the continued financial 
impact of Covid-19 is expected to result in an increase in the total amount 
of support offered through the scheme in 2020/21 to around £61.9m.  
This is an increase of over £5m on the cost of last year’s scheme and is 
more than £10m more than the total support offered in 2015/16 and 
2016/17: 

 

52. Despite the pressures of this increased demand, the council has 
continued to offer a good level of service to residents.  So far this year, 
new LCTRS claims have been processed in an average of 19 days of 
being received, ahead of a service target of 21 days. LCTRS changes in 

20000

22000

24000

26000

28000

30000

32000

34000

36000

38000

01/04/13 01/04/14 01/04/15 01/04/16 01/04/17 01/04/18 01/04/19 01/04/20

LCTRS Caseload Since 2013

Working Age Pension Age

£52.4m £52.2m
£51.6m £51.7m

£52.9m

£54.6m

£56.6m

£61.9m
estimated

£45,000,000

£47,000,000

£49,000,000

£51,000,000

£53,000,000

£55,000,000

£57,000,000

£59,000,000

£61,000,000

£63,000,000

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Annual LCTRS Awarded

Page 27



circumstances have been processed in an average of four days, ahead of 
a service target of nine days. 

53. To help maximise take up of LCTRS we continue to treat a notification 
from the DWP of a new UC claim, as a new claim for LCTRS.  In addition, 
work has been undertaken between our Welfare Rights and 
Communications teams to update and improve the information on our 
website concerning help available to residents facing redundancy – 
gathering information about benefits, access to training and jobs, money 
advice, and housing into one place. 

 Conclusion 

54. There is a statutory requirement for Full Council to approve the Local 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (LCTRS) to be operated in 2021/22 
before 11 March 2021.  

55. The council will need to continue to review the national situation and track 
what is happening in local authorities that have introduced LCTRS that 
have reduced entitlement to their working age claimants in terms of 
impacts and performance in terms of recovery of the council tax due. 

56. The reasons for extending the current scheme are due to the current 
scheme remaining within existing cost parameters for the council and 
concerns over the impact that changing the scheme and introducing 
measures to increases charges to working age claimants would have at 
this time, particularly in light of the current economic outlook for our area 
as we seek to recover from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  

57. Whilst the full impacts of the Government’s welfare reforms and the 
impact of covid-19 are complex and difficult to track, demand for 
Discretionary Housing Payments; social fund applications and rent 
arrears statistics in County Durham compared to others across the 
region, would suggest that the council tax benefit protection afforded to 
working age claimants, in addition to the wide ranging proactive support  
put in place, continues to have a positive impact on these households.  

58. The council will also need to keep track of the ongoing and increasing 
impact of the roll out of UC. This presents continuing challenges for the 
administration of LCTRS as it results in a much higher number of 
changes in circumstances and removes the administrative economies of 
scale currently achieved by administering Housing Benefit and LCTRS 
claims side by side.     

59. More significantly however, UC changes result in multiple reworking and 
changes to LCTRS entitlement throughout the year and multiple bills 
being issued to individual households leading to numerous changes to 
their net liability and instalment plans for any council tax balance they are 
responsible for. After many years of continued improvement, our in-year 

Page 28



council tax collection rate reduced slightly in 2018/19 to 96.65% and 
further still in 2019/20 to 96.37%.  

60. Any proposed changes to the LCTRS for 2022/23 would need to be 
consulted upon and, should changes be proposed, a report would need 
be brought to Cabinet in spring summer 2021 before embarking on a 
consultation process thereafter. 

Background papers 

 Local Government Finance Act 1992 (section 13A) 

 

 Welfare Reform Act 2012 

 

 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) 

(England) Regulations 2012  

 

 The Impacts of Localised Council Tax Support Schemes – Institute for 

Fiscal Studies Report January 2019 

Other useful documents 

 Medium Term Financial Plan (11), 2021/22-2024/25 – Report to Cabinet 
14 October 2020 

 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 period to 30 June 
2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) Savings – 
report to Cabinet 16 September 2020 

 Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2020/21 period to 30 
September 2020 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) 
Savings – report to Cabinet 18 November 2020 

Author(s) 

Paul Darby     Tel:  03000 261 930  

Page 29



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

The Welfare Reform Act 2012 abolished the national council tax benefits 

system (CTB), paving the way for new Local Council Tax Reduction Schemes 

(LCTRS) to be introduced under the auspices of the Local Government Finance 

Act 1992.  

Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (“the 1992 Act”) 

requires each billing authority in England to make a scheme specifying the 

reductions which are to apply to amounts of council tax payable by persons, or 

classes of person, whom the authority considers are in financial need (“a 

council tax reduction scheme”). 

The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) 

Regulations 2012 (“the 2012 Regulations”) prescribe matters which must be 

included in such a scheme in addition to matters set out in paragraph 2 of 

Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act.  

Each year regulations amending the 2012 Regulations are made in 

November/December. The majority of the amendments are to ensure 

consistency with changes to social security legislation and these are 

subsequently included in our local scheme. 

The LCTRS provides a ‘discount’ against the council tax charge, rather than a 

benefit entitlement and as such impacts on the council’s tax base.  

Regulations made under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (The Local 

Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) Regulations 1992 (as amended) 

the council to calculate a council tax base for each financial year. 

The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 

2012 which came into force on 30 November 2012 and applies to the financial 

years beginning 1 April 2013 onwards contains the rules which require the 

council to calculate the Council Tax Base. 

A key element of the tax base calculation is the council’s policy in terms of its 

LCTRS. 

There is a statutory requirement for the Council to adopt a local council tax 

support scheme for the ensuing financial year by 11 March each year.  Where 

the council is proposing any changes to its scheme, there is a statutory 

requirement to consult on these proposals in advance of making any changes. 

Page 30



Pensioners have to be protected from any changes, with any reductions applied 

to working age claimants only. 

Finance 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

The funding made available to support the LCTRS in 2013/14 (90% of the 
previous funding available under the Council Tax Benefit System) now forms 
part of the council’s formula funding arrangements.  

The council has continued to pass on the town and parish element of its 
formula grant over the last eight years but in doing so continue to apply pro-rata 
reductions in the Council Tax Support Grant paid to town and parish councils.  

In 2020/21 Town and Parish Councils received £1.332m of LCTRS grant 
allocations and for budget planning purposes have been advised that the 
Council will retain payments at this level next year, though the amount of grant 
provided to individual town or parish councils may vary according to the year on 
year changes in their tax raising capacity. 

The council is responsible for the costs of any increase in caseload as the level 
of Government support is fixed within formula grant.    

Prudent estimates and provisions were built into the tax base forecasts at 
budget setting, and whilst the council is subject to greater financial risk now, the 
current scheme remains within the budget provisions. 

Should the council review its scheme and reduce maximum entitlement to 
working age claimants, depending on the forecasted council tax collection from 
affected low income households, there would be scope to increase council tax 
revenues by between £3.01million (based on a scheme that awarded maximum 
entitlement to working age households of 90% with a prudent collection rate of 
80%) and £5.1million (based on a scheme that awarded maximum entitlement 
of 83.5% with a prudent collection rate of 80%).   

This would impact circa 36,200 working age households across County 
Durham, where 6,950 (19%) are actually in low paid jobs rather than being 
unemployed. 

 

Consultation 

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Town and parish councils were consulted on the proposals to continue to 

passport an element of the council’s formula grant, equivalent to the town and 

parish share of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme grant funding within 

formula grant for 2020/21. This coincided with a review of payments made to 

Town and Parish Councils previously linked to pre-existing and inconsistent 
Page 31



arrangements in the former district councils for services that had been devolved 

to them. 

No further consultation has been undertaken as Cabinet resolved on 18 

November 2020 to recommend to Council that it extends and continues the 

current LCTRS into 2021/22, thereby retaining the same level of support to all 

working age council tax payers as the previous Council Tax Benefit Scheme, 

which was abolished on 1 April 2013. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Eight years after the Government abolished the national Council Tax Benefits 

System the council continues to have a LCTRS which mirrors the previous 

entitlement under the Council Tax Benefit System for all claimants. No council 

tax benefit claimants have therefore been financially worse off in the last eight 

years than they would have been under the previous national scheme and if the 

proposals set out in this report and ultimately agreed by Council in the autumn 

this will continue to be the case. 

The Government EIA on the LCTRS was published in January 2012 and is 

relatively brief. It considered equality impacts in relation to age and disability, 

concluding that protection for pensioners would be a positive impact and the 

effects on disabled people would depend on how each local authority 

responded to the reduction in council tax support. No impacts were identified in 

relation to gender or ethnicity and no other protected characteristics were 

considered and it was left to individual councils to identify full local impacts, 

based on local implementation. 

Given the proposals to extend the current LCTRS into 2021/22 thereby 

continuing to protect current entitlement, there will be no negative equalities 

impact, with the financial position of claimants protected in 2021/22. 

Should the Council decide against extending the current scheme into 2021/22 

and elect instead to pass on reductions to working age claimants, there would 

be a range of potential negative equalities impacts. These include financial 

impact for working age claimants and possible additional impacts in relation to 

health and wellbeing, housing and the consequences of debt or legal action.  

These impacts are most likely in relation to gender, age and disability with 

limited impacts for race and sexual orientation and no evidence of impact on 

transgender status, religion or belief. 

Climate Change 

None. 

Human Rights 

None. 

Page 32



Crime and Disorder 

Any reduction in council tax support, alongside other welfare changes could see 

an increase in crime if customers seek to increase their income to make up for 

the benefits lost. The proposals set out in this seek to protect current 

entitlement in 2021/22 and as such have no implications, though the impact of 

the wider welfare reforms agenda will need to be kept under constant review. 

Staffing 

None. 

Accommodation 

None. 

Risk 

The report outlines a range of financial risks surrounding the LCTRS. These are 

being effectively managed at this time. Given that the proposal is to extend the 

current arrangements into 2021/22 there are no system development issues or 

risk associated with these proposals.  

The council will need to keep track of the impact of the roll out of Universal 

Credit (UC). This presents new challenges for the administration of LCTRS as it 

results in a much higher number of changes in circumstances (experience is 

that the UC earned income element changes frequently as the person moves 

through the claimant commitment with their Work Coach) and removes the 

administrative economies of scale currently achieved by administering Housing 

Benefit and LCTRS claims side by side.   

More significantly however, UC changes results in multiple reworking and 
changes to LCTRS entitlement throughout the year and multiple bills being 
issued to individual households resulting in numerous changes to their net 
liability and instalment plans for any Council Tax balance they are responsible 
for. After many years of continued improvement, our in-year council tax 
collection rate reduced slightly in 2018/19 to 96.65%, and further still in 2019/20 
to 96.37%.  

Procurement 

None. 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Extraordinary County Council 

16 December 2020 

Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 

2019/20 

   

 

Report of Corporate Management Team 

John Hewitt, Corporate Director of Resources  

 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

None 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2019/20 as 
required by the Council’s Constitution. The report is attached at 
Appendix 2. 

Executive summary 

2  In accordance with Article 5 paragraph 5.03 (d) of the Council’s 
Constitution, the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
is required to report annually to the County Council on its work with 
recommendations for its future work programme.  

Recommendation(s) 

3 That County Council receive the annual report for 2019/20, in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution to report annually on 
overview and scrutiny activity. 

Background 

4 Each year the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report is prepared to 
provide information on activity by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board and the five thematic Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. This work programme activity includes in-depth and light 
touch review work, and overview activity including monitoring of 
performance management and budgetary reporting.  

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



5 This year, due to COVID-19, scrutiny work was paused until remote 
meetings were introduced and as a result the report is later than 
previous years. It includes scrutiny work during 2019/20 and the first 
phase of virtual meetings scrutinising the initial response to COVID-19, 
up to the summer recess. 

6 The Annual Report also includes detail on the statutory scrutiny roles 
relating to health and crime and disorder.  

7 The Annual Report has been agreed by the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board prior to submission to County Council.  

8 It is intended to circulate the report widely. 

Background papers 

 None 

 

Contact: Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071 

   

  

Page 36



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The Council’s Constitution requires the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Management Board to report annually on the work of all the Council’s 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

Finance 

None 

Consultation 

Members of the Council’s Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Board considered and commented on the report prior to it being presented to 

County Council. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Impact assessments are carried out for all overview and scrutiny reviews. 

Climate Change 

None 

Human Rights 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

None 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

None 

Procurement 

None 

  

Page 37



Appendix 2:  Annual report 2019/20 (attached as a separate item) 

 

 

Page 38



 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 

2019-2020 
 

 

 

 

Resources 

Durham County Council 

 

2020 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

 

 

  

Page 40



1 
 

 

Contents 

 
Introduction  ........................................................................................................... 2 

Scrutiny in County Durham ................................................................................... 4 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees ...................................................................... 6 

Scrutiny in 2020 ..................................................................................................... 7 

Overview and Scrutiny Review Activity 2019/20 ................................................. 10 

Planned Overview and Scrutiny in 2020/21 ........................................................ 16 

Work Programme 2020/21 .................................................................................. 17 

New statutory guidance on scrutiny arrangements ............................................. 18 

Training ............................................................................................................... 19 

Site visits ............................................................................................................. 20 

Impact of Overview and Scrutiny in County Durham .......................................... 23 

Co-optees and engagement ................................................................................ 28 

Constitutional Responsibilities of Overview and Scrutiny ................................... 29 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board ....................................... 31 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee ....................... 32 

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee ...................... 33 

Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee ............................. 34 

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 35 

Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee ................ 36 

Regional Scrutiny ................................................................................................ 37 

Key contacts: ....................................................................................................... 41 

 

 

  

Page 41



2 
 

Introduction from the Chair of 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 
 

The COVID-19 pandemic has dominated our lives this year and Durham County 

Council is working extremely hard to help and support our residents and 

businesses through this unprecedented emergency. The challenge of overview 

and scrutiny has always been crucial in supporting high quality public service 

delivery in County Durham. The COVID-19 pandemic has meant that we paused 

our planned scrutiny work programme for 2019/20 from March 2020 to enable 

members to concentrate on working to support our communities. The scrutiny 

team operated a skeleton service and rescheduled much of our work.  

New emergency legislation enabled our formal meetings to be held remotely and 

in June we were able to hold our first scrutiny meeting. We have all had to work 

flexibly and quickly to adapt to new ways of working.  

This report covers the 2019/20 year but also includes references to our remote 

meetings held in June and July 2020 before the usual summer recess. Work 

programmes for 2020/21 were agreed by most of the scrutiny committees at a 

later stage than usual due to the delays caused as a result of the cancellation of 

meetings. 

Durham County Council had already been facing the challenges of continuing 

austerity and financial uncertainty. A key priority for the authority will be to 

continue to work hard to protect frontline services whilst meeting savings targets 

and managing the additional considerable pressures resulting from the 

pandemic. Overview and scrutiny will contribute in a constructive way to support 

the council in meeting these significant challenges. Scrutiny provides a valuable 

tool to review and challenge how the Council and partners deliver public services 

and drive improvement. 

We are supported by a dedicated scrutiny team and senior and specialist officers 

across the council which has helped develop a strong scrutiny culture and adds 

value to the work of the council. 

This annual report sets out details of work undertaken by scrutiny in the past 

year and anticipates work we will be doing in the coming year. As the COVID-19 

pandemic continues we will review our work programmes and identifying areas 

of the county’s response appropriate for further overview and scrutiny review.  

Page 42



3 
 

I would like to thank everyone who has been involved in supporting and assisting 

the overview and scrutiny process – members, officers, partners, co-opted 

members and the scrutiny team themselves.  

All scrutiny committee meetings are open to the public and if you would like to 

get involved, the scrutiny team’s contact details are at the end of this report. 

Remote scrutiny meetings are available to view on the council’s YouTube 

channel if you would like to see the sort of work we do. 

 

Councillor Rob Crute 

 

Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

  

Page 43



4 
 

Scrutiny in County Durham 
 

Durham County Council has embedded the four principles of good scrutiny, 

developed by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, in all our work. These are: 

• To provide a constructive critical friend challenge to executive policy-makers 
and decisions-makers. 

• To amplify the voice and concerns of the public.  

• To ensure scrutiny is carried out by independent minded governors who lead 
and own the scrutiny role. 

• To drive improvement in public services.   

 

 
 

To provide 
constructive 

challenge

In depth and 
light touch 

reviews

Reports and 
recommendations 

to Cabinet

To amplify 
the voice of 
the public

Engagement 
with the public

Consultations 
and surveys

To be led by 
independent 

minded 
governors

Members 
leading on work 

programme 
development

Expert 
witnesses and 

co-optees

To drive 
improvement 

in services

Quarterly 
performance 
and budget 
monitoring 

Scrutiny of 
Medium Term 
Financial Plan

Page 44



5 
 

Durham County Council’s overview and scrutiny function involves a considerable 
amount of partnership working.  Our aim is to ensure that the good work already 
taking place contributes to our Transformation Programme’s key principal of 
moving partnership working from good to great.  
 
We also promote engagement with local expert and academic researchers in 
overview and scrutiny where they can add to our work.  
    
The scrutiny team works with colleagues in communications to publicise any 

matters within the work programme which may be of particular public interest. 

Meetings considering items such as the climate emergency and changes to the 

delivery of health services have provoked a great deal of interest. 

Scrutiny has welcomed the introduction of Local Democracy reporters who are in 

attendance at most scrutiny meetings. Their coverage is helping to raise the 

public profile of scrutiny and for specific issues it has encouraged increased 

public participation in the scrutiny process. The overview and scrutiny process 

provides an opportunity for members of the public and local communities to 

comment upon any service  

During the year, chairs and vice-chairs have focused on how to bring the public 

voice into overview and scrutiny review activity and meetings. This has been 

achieved through building public feedback strongly into review work such as with 

the Elective Home Education Review undertaken by Children and Young People’ 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC). Parents who had chosen to home 

educate their children were surveyed for their views on how DCC supported 

them. The results of the survey were fed into the review and helped shape the 

recommendations. 

Scrutiny committees decide which areas they wish to examine.  This may arise 

following representations by members of the public about a particular matter; be 

an issue identified by councillors themselves; or follow on from reports or 

performance assessment on the council’s activities made by the cabinet or 

outside agencies.  

This ownership of the work programme and strong organisational culture 
underpins scrutiny’s legitimacy as an effective and strategic function.   

 

 

 

 

Page 45



6 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
 

Overview and scrutiny is a valuable part of local democracy and has important 

statutory roles in the scrutiny of health and crime and disorder. All scrutiny work 

is carried out by our Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and 

five thematic scrutiny committees as below. In addition, all committees have the 

power to form temporary task and finish groups to focus on a specific topic for in 

depth review, in line with their work programmes, as the need arises.  

 

  

Safer and 
Stronger 

Communities 
Overview & 

Scrutiny 
Committee

(SSC OSC)

Adults 
Wellbeing and 

Health 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

(AWH OSC)

Economy and 
Enterprise 
Overview & 

Scrutiny 
Committee

(E&E OSC)

Corporate 
Overview & 

Scrutiny 
Management 

Board

(COSMB)

Children and 
Young People 
Overview & 

Scrutiny 
Committee

(CYP OSC)

Environment 
and 

Sustainable 
Communities 
Overview & 

Scrutiny 
Committee

(E&S OSC)

Page 46



7 
 

Scrutiny in 2020 
 

New emergency legislation came into force in 2020 to enable local authority 

meetings to be held virtually. Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Board was the first virtual scrutiny committee to be held by Durham County 

Council in June. 

 

 

 

Members questioned the Chief Executive and the Corporate Management Team 

on the work undertaken nationally, regionally and locally to protect our 

communities and maintain services in response to COVID-19. A huge amount 

work had been undertaken in partnership with agencies and organisations 

including Durham Constabulary, County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue 

Service, the local NHS and Clinical Commissioning Groups, Area Action 

Partnerships, the Community and Voluntary Sector and Trade Unions.   

The immense contribution local communities had made to the response and the 

cooperation of County Durham residents throughout the unprecedented situation 

together with the contribution the Council’s employees and strategic partners had 

made to the response was acknowledged. 

The CYP OSC in July focused on an update on the impact of COVID-19 on 

children and young people’s services and specifically on vulnerable children, 

children in receipt of free school meals, child poverty, education and the reduction 

in safeguarding referrals.  

Page 47



8 
 

 

 

 

The Corporate Director for Children and Young People Services and the Head of 

Education and Skills answered questions from members of the committee on how 

services had needed to change to continue to deliver services to children, young 

people and their families. 

 

 

Page 48



9 
 

The AWH OSC meeting in July enabled members to hear from the Director of 

Public Health on the public health planning, response and current recovery 

position to the COVID-19 pandemic. The County Durham Care Partnership 

System response to the pandemic was also presented to members. 

 

 

 

The E&E OSC met in July and received an update on the support that Durham 

County Council and Business Durham had delivered during the COVID-19 crisis 

to help businesses and the economy.  

  

Page 49



10 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Review 
Activity 2019/20 
 

Each year the scrutiny work programme is developed to ensure a balanced 

programme. Alongside considering overview reports and updates, we plan 

focussed review work throughout the year. These reviews can be light touch or in 

depth and are usually reported to Cabinet and the appropriate thematic 

partnership. Due to the pause in the work programmes this year, some reviews 

will be completed in 2020/21 

Three in depth evidence-based reviews below have been completed this year with 

two further reviews continuing into next year.  

 

 

 

  

Joint Review of Residential Children’s 
Homes - SSC and CYP OSC

Review of Durham County Council’s 
Allotment Policy - Environment OSC

Elective Home Education - CYP OSC

Page 50



11 
 

Joint Review of Residential Children’s Homes  
 

A joint review of children’s residential care homes was undertaken by the Children 

and Young People’s and Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees. The aim of the review was to gain an understanding of concerns 

associated with the impact of private children’s residential care homes demand on 

services. The review also explored approaches to lobby government/national 

bodies for tighter legislation.  

Six recommendations were made by the review. These are, in summary: 

• The Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP) receive a further 
report on the timeliness and accuracy of information received from placing 
authorities to the Council and partner agencies for out of area children 
looked after residing within a children’s residential care home within the 
county. 

• The demand placed upon the Local Authority Designated Officer be 
monitored and ensure that all private children’s residential care homes 
receive information about courses provided by DSCP relating to residential 
care 

• The DSCP monitor the number of incidents reported to Durham 
Constabulary from all residential children’s care homes within the county 
and action taken to reduce demand. 

• The Council’s Corporate Parenting Panel receive regular information on 
reported incidents to Durham Constabulary, for County Durham children 
looked after who reside within any residential children’s care home within 
County Durham with a specific focus on reports of missing from home. 

• Following an evaluation of the accreditation scheme, proposals for a revised 
scheme tare taken to the Corporate Parenting Panel. The revised scheme 
should be promoted with all children’s residential care homes within County 
Durham.  

• The DSCP consider lobbying regionally and nationally for agreement to 
explore an accreditation scheme for residential children’s homes nationally. 

 

 

  

Page 51



12 
 

Review of Durham County Council’s Allotment Policy 
 

The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee undertook a scrutiny review looking at Durham County Council’s 

proposed future allotment policy. Nine recommendations were made by the review 

of the future policy. These are summarised below: 

• Concerning the housing of large animals no longer permitted on allotment 
plots, the five year period identified in the proposed transition arrangements 
should apply. 

• All DCC directly managed allotment sites in the county are managed by one 
DCC service team 

• A review group is established to undertake a complete review of allotment 
sites not used for purpose and that the review group 

o Considers each site on an individual basis 
o Undertakes site based consultation meetings  
o Considers whether tenancy agreements on retained sites are 

transferred to match the purpose for which the plot is used  
o Ensures that the sale of sites is handled under the Land Disposal 

Policy subject to necessary approval where the site is a statutory 
allotment.  

• Area allotment associations are established where appropriate to take over 
day to day management and control where appropriate. 

• Discussions take place with Town and Parish Councils that have expressed 
an interest in taking over the management of allotment sites and where they 
do take over management, advice and support should be provided by DCC 
for an agreed period  

• Reconsideration be given to the process for the allocation of plots to co-
workers by acknowledging previous contributions whilst not registered, 
subject to any legal advice. In addition, the need for co-workers to register 
is publicised.  

• The provision of smaller sized allotment plots be considered if there is 
demand. 

• That consideration is given to a rental review of DCC’s allotment portfolio 
with recognition given to the health and wellbeing benefits of cultivating 
allotment plots. Any increase in rent could be managed via annual 
increments. 

• A review of progress of these recommendations be undertaken six months 
after the report is considered by Cabinet. 

 

Page 52



13 
 

Elective Home Education - Children and Young People 

OSC 
 

Members of CYPOSC undertook a review of Elective Home Education following 
members concerns about the rise in numbers of children in County Durham who 
are educated at home.  Members wanted to examine the standard of education for 
children who are home educated, how relationships with partners protect children 
from harm, relationships with schools and support available for children and 
families. Their recommendations in summary: 

• Cabinet lobby for a common framework to improve oversight of the quality 
of education and safeguarding of children and young people who are 
Elective Home Educated. The framework should include a national register 
of all children and young people who are home educated and reasons why 
they are. 

• Work continues with the Principals of Further Education Colleges in County 
Durham to provide places to enable access to vocational and core GCSE 
courses for year 10 and 11 pupils who are electively home educated. 
Capacity is developed to ensure all children and young people who are 
electively home educated have access to the courses. 

• A high understanding of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
including autism be promoted. All schools be encouraged to provide 
appropriate training to staff so that children and young people with a special 
educational need or disability receive the appropriate level of support 
whichever school they attend. 

• A reporting model be developed to encourage all schools to include within 
their annual Head Teacher report to the Governing Body: 

o Discussion of reasons given for Elective Home Education 

o Where bullying is cited as a reason that this is discussed  

o Ensure that anti-bullying policies are continuously reviewed. 

• An annual event be held for families who home educate their children to 
engage with the service and meet other families in a similar position to 
themselves. The event to give children an opportunity to interact and 
socialise with other children who are home educated. 
 

 

 

 

Page 53



14 
 

 

Road Safety – Stronger and Safer Communities OSC 
 

The aim of the review is to provide comment on the development of a County Durham 
Road Safety Strategy. The Committee has a statutory role to scrutinise work of the 
Council and the Safe Durham Partnership. Implementing measures to promote a safe 
environment is one of the priority objectives within the existing Council and Safe Durham 
Partnership plans. ‘Ensuring a safer road environment’ is a focus within this objective.  
 
Road Safety is an area in which the Committee has previously undertaken review work, 
holding a focussed session on the “fatal four” being the four most common causes of 
casualties and fatalities in road traffic accidents (inappropriate speed, using a mobile 
phone while driving, not wearing a seatbelt and drink/drug driving). The Committee has 
also received annual reports on activity of the Durham and Darlington Casualty 
Reduction Forum and monitored quarterly performance against road safety performance 
indicators.   
 
Within its work programme, the Committee agreed to undertake further review activity 
looking at road safety performance, specifically the number of people killed or seriously 
injured in road traffic collisions within County Durham. In preparing for this review activity, 
a request was received from the Council’s Head of Technical Services for the Committee 
to undertake a policy development review and provide comment on development of a 
new County Durham Road Safety Strategy.  
 
The strategy will set out how the council will work with partners to improve road safety 
within the County and will also contribute to activity undertaken by the County Durham & 
Darlington Road Casualty Reduction Forum who report to the Safe Durham Partnership 
Board.  
 

 

Road Safety Strategy- SSC OSC

GP Service Provision in County Durham-
AWH OSC

Page 54



15 
 

GP Service Provision in County Durham – Adults 

Wellbeing and Health OSC 
 

This review is looking at the extent of GP coverage across County Durham and 

the range of services offered by GP practices. It is considering the issues and 

barriers facing patients in accessing their GP including the availability of branch 

sites across individual practices 

The Adults Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee have been 
engaged in a number of consultation and engagement processes undertaken by 
GP practices which involve a range of issues including reductions in practice 
branch sites, reductions in pharmacy/dispensing provision and branch closures.  
 
During these processes, the Committee have become increasingly concerned 
about challenges in GP recruitment, retention, retirement and other workforce 
related pressures that are impacting on the level of service provision available to 
residents within County Durham. 
 
There are concerns, nationally, regionally and locally about the falling number of 
GPs, the availability of GP appointments, the number of GP practices that are 
accepting new patients, the range of services available from GP practices, and the 
reduction in the number of GP branch sites.  
 
It is expected the review on GP provision in County Durham will be completed in 
October 2020. 
 

 

  

Page 55



16 
 

Planned Overview and Scrutiny in 
2020/21 

 
The work programmes for overview and scrutiny are developed in the context of 

the current Council Plan, the Cabinet’s Forward Plan of decisions, the County 

Durham Vision 2035, partnership plans and strategies, performance and 

budgetary control data and changes in government legislation.  

Importantly in this next year, we will also be focussing on County Durham’s 

response to the COVID-19 pandemic and reflecting on performance within that 

context. 

The process for developing the Council’s overview and scrutiny work programmes 

is consultative and comprehensive. Initial proposals are influenced by legislation, 

plans and strategies, performance reports and include engagement with the 

executive, partners and officers. Each overview and scrutiny committee has an 

experienced chair to ensure there is a clear focus on the committee’s role and 

forward plan of work. Where there are any cross-cutting matters, joint meetings 

are held to avoid duplication and make the best use of capacity of both members 

and officers 

Work programmes are usually finalised during June and July and are designed to 
ensure there is flexibility and capacity to take on topics which may arise 
throughout the year. Work programmes for 2019/20 have had to be cut short or 
rescheduled due to the need to prioritise work on the response and recovery to 
COVID-19. 
 
A summary of the planned programme for 2020/21 is shown overleaf. The Safer 
and Stronger Communities and the Environment and Sustainable Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees will be agreeing their work programmes in 
September as it had not been possible to meet earlier.  
 
 

Page 56



17 
 

Work Programme 2020/21  

 

COSMB

• Budget and MTFP Process 
reflecting response and recovery 
process to COVID-19

• RIPA

• Performance and budget outturn

• Customer Feedback

• Welfare Reform and Poverty

• Transformation Programme

• Transformation and ICT

• Business Support Services

• Digital Transformation

• Organisational Development

Children and Young People 
OSC

•Impact of COVID-19

•Child Poverty

•Neglect in County Durham

•Children & Young People's Mental 
Health & Emotional Wellbeing

•Care Leavers

•Special Educational Needs & 
Disabilities

•Young Carers

•CAMHS

•Educational Outcomes

•Best Start in LIfe

Adults, Wellbeing & Health OSC

• Future of services delivered at 
Shotley Bridge Hospital

• Overview of Adult Social Care 
Services

• Ward 6 Bishop Auckland Hospital

• Review of Stroke Rehabilitation 
Services in County Durham and 
Darlington

• Extended and Enhanced Primary 
Care Access

• Progress update on the Community 
Services Contract

• Monitoring of the Council's COVID-
19 Local Outbreak Management 
Plan

Economy OSC

• Economic impact of COVID-19

• DurhamWorks Programme

• Business Durham actvity 
undertaken

• Housing Strategy

• Homelessness Strategy

• Selective Licensing Scheme

• Transport (regional and local)

• Tourism and Visit County Durham 
Activity

• Retail support provided and detail 
of the Town and Village Centres 
report

Environment OSC

• Impact of COVID-19

• Air Quality in County Durham

• Emerging Climate Emergency 
Response Plan

• Carbon Management Plan

• Refuse and recycling collections

• Fly Tipping

• Fuel Poverty

• Highways and bridge maintenance

• Bereavement services

• Flood Risk Management 
Authorities

Safer & Stronger Communities 
OSC

•Domestic Violence & Sexual Abuse

•Prevent - Counter Terrorism and 
Prevention of Violent Extremism

•Arson and Secondary Fires

•Hate Crime

•Impact of COVID-19 on Community 
Safety Partners

•Youth Justice Plan

•Reform of Probation Services

•Reducing Reoffending

•Anti-Social Behaviour

•Cybercrime

Page 57



18 
 

New statutory guidance on scrutiny 
arrangements 
 

New statutory guidance on overview and scrutiny in local and combined 

authorities was published in May 2019 by the Ministry of Housing, Communities 

and Local Government. The guidance covered six areas – culture, resourcing, 

selecting committee members, power to access information, planning work and 

evidence sessions.  

We carried out detailed work to consider and reflect on how our scrutiny function 

operates and whether we needed to make any changes in the light of the 

guidance. We concluded that our scrutiny arrangements are robust and effective 

and already incorporate much that was recommended. However, we took the 

opportunity to implement some changes to further enhance our work: 

 

Updated 
Handbook 
with advice 

on 
attending 
scrutiny 

committees

Training for 
officers on 
overview 

and 
scrutiny

Six 
monthly 

update on 
scrutiny 

activity to 
Council

NECA O&S 
minutes 

submitted 
to COSMB

Annual 
review of 

information 
used by 
scrutiny

Councillor 
and Chair 

role 
descriptors 

updated

Page 58



19 
 

Training 
 

Training and development for overview and scrutiny has been identified as an 

essential element of the council’s member development programme.  

In the summer of 2019, chairs and vice chairs of committees undertook media and 

social media training delivered by the Communications team. The training 

reflected one of the key principals of good scrutiny to amplify the voice of the 

public. This was also underlined by the statutory scrutiny guidance published in 

May 2019 which stated that authorities should ensure that scrutiny has a profile in 

the wider community and confirmed the need to understand how to get messages 

across. 

The training sessions covered the changing media landscape, dealing with media 

requests, social media hints and tips and some practical exercises. Members are 

increasing engaging with residents using social media and the training was a 

valuable opportunity to learn from the communications team. 

 

 

 

Scrutiny members involved in scrutinising budget monitoring reports received 

financial awareness sessions from the Head of Finance and Transactional 

Services. These detailed sessions included an overview of how our budgets are 

constructed, what we mean by cash limits, an overview of the format and the 

content of budgetary control reports. The role and responsibilities of scrutiny 

members in relation to scrutinising financial information were discussed with 

reference made to the recent statutory scrutiny guidance about the clear division 

of responsibility between the audit and scrutiny functions. Practical advice and 

guidance was given on reviewing reports and the Head of Finance and 

Transactional Services answered questions from members.  

 

 

Page 59



20 
 

Site visits  
 

Unfortunately, several scrutiny visits were cancelled this year due to the COVID-

19 pandemic. Instead, evidence gathering has had to use other methods and be 

sensitive to social distancing. 

Visits are invaluable in helping to engage with external partners and local 

residents to enable their views to be taken into account for reviews and issues on 

scrutiny agendas. We have considered carrying out virtual site visits as an 

alternative to visits in person however these bring their own difficulties as many 

sites place restrictions on filming and photography. We continue to explore new 

ways to carry out this important aspect of scrutiny.  

Two of the scrutiny committees were able to hold site visits before restrictions 

were put in place.  

 

 

 

Members of the Children and Young People’s OSC continued their practice of 

holding one of their meetings in a local school. This practice began in 2015 with a 

meeting being held at Consett Academy and a visit around the school building.   

The committee puts great importance on engaging with young people and by 

holding a meeting in a school this helps young people to understand how scrutiny 

works in County Durham and gives them an opportunity to ask questions of both 

senior officers and politicians. 

In March 2020 the committee had a very successful visit to the Durham Johnson 

School.  

The agenda items for the meeting included Schools Engagement in Tackling the 

Climate Emergency; Education and Attainment Standards and What is there for 

Young People to do in County Durham. An additional presentation was given at 

the start of the meeting to explain how scrutiny operates in Durham County 

Council that took the form of a question and answer session for the students who 

attended the meeting.   

 

Page 60



21 
 

 

 

The school was represented by two pupils from every year group, the Head Girl 

and Head Boy, members of the school’s environment and climate change group 

and an invitation was given to any other pupils who wanted to attend.  In total 

there was approximately 30 pupils in attendance at the meeting.  The pupils 

showed excellent knowledge of the Cabinet and Scrutiny system and were given 

comparisons with the government’s cabinet select committee model.  The pupils 

took advantage of the opportunity to ask questions of all of the presenters at the 

meeting.  

 

 

Members of the Safer and Stronger Communities OSC attended a series of 

events to gain an insight to road safety activity delivered by the Council and 

partner agencies. 

During 2019/20 members attended the following events: 

• Bikeability training session with primary school pupils at Framwellgate Moor 
Junior School 

• Year 9 safety carousel event at Seaham High School  

Page 61



22 
 

• Young Driver seminar with apprentices at the Learning Curve in 
Spennymoor.  
  

The Bikeability session enabled Members to observe a session delivered by the 

Council’s Road Safety Team to primary school pupils on bike safety, road safety 

awareness and how to safely undertake manoeuvres at junctions near to the 

school.  

The Safety Carousel event focused on safer road choices aimed at secondary age 

pupils that included the potential risks of mobile phones as a pedestrian or cyclist 

and road safety within vehicles. Members also attended carousel sessions linked 

to the Committee’s work programme on Anti-Social Behaviour and Arson.  

 

 

 

The young driver seminar with apprentices was delivered by the Council and 

Durham Constabulary and focused on education on road safety and the fatal four 

areas of speeding, mobile phones, not wearing seatbelts and driving whilst under 

the influence of alcohol or drugs. The session also sought views of young drivers 

on these areas and included an interactive virtual reality exercise to experience 

the impact of a road traffic collision and the response by emergency services to 

extricate people from the vehicle.  

The field study exercises undertaken by Members provided a great insight into 

these approaches and highlighted proactive work being undertaken by partners to 

deliver key road safety messages.  

 

Page 62



23 
 

Impact of Overview and Scrutiny in 
County Durham  
 

Overview and scrutiny can have a real impact in contributing to and helping to 

shape public service policies and practice. It is integral to the improvement of 

services and plays an important role in linking in with regulation and inspection 

regimes. 

 

Oral Health Strategy 
 

In July 2019, Durham County Council’s Oral Health Strategy was examined by the 

Adults Wellbeing and Health OSC. During its consideration, members noted 

proposals for extending the Community Water Fluoridation Scheme in conjunction 

with a number of regional partner local authorities. In view of the wide-ranging 

implications for the proposals, a joint OSC consisting of members of the Adults 

Wellbeing and Health, Children and Young Peoples and Environment and 

Sustainable Communities OSCs was set up. 

It met in February 2020, following an initial postponement due to the calling of the 

December 2019 General Election, and was attended by a number of public and 

community groups together with representatives of the dental profession to 

consider evidence regarding the perceived benefits of community water 

fluoridation schemes and also listen to concerns of anti-fluoridation campaigners. 

Further meetings of the Joint OSC will be held once arrangements for the 

proposals are finalised and public and stakeholder consultation plans can be 

safely established in the current COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

Raising awareness of the consequences of cybercrime 
 

In 2017, the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

led a review exploring methods to prevent young people engaging in or continuing 

to commit cybercrime. 

One of its recommendations was for Durham Safer Cyber Group to work with 

young people to produce a film 

 

Page 63



24 
 

HACK is a hard-hitting film written and produced by college students to highlight 

the dangers of cybercrime.  

 
 

It was officially launched in July 2019 at New College Durham, as part of the Safe 

Durham Partnership’s work to prevent young people from engaging in illegal 

online activity. Filmed on location in the North East, the production was created 

entirely by New College media students. 

 

Climate Change Emergency 
 

Durham County Council declared a climate change emergency following a motion 

to Council in February 2019, adopting a target for the Council to reduce carbon 

emissions by 60% from 2008/09 levels by 2030. The Council also resolved to 

investigate what further actions were necessary to make County Durham carbon 

neutral by 2050. 

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

have a crucial role to monitor progress of these aims and identify barriers. 

In October 2019, the Committee provided a comprehensive response to the 

Climate Emergency Consultation that included recommendations to: 

• Fit solar panels and LED lighting on DCC buildings where appropriate 

and to encourage and support this process in community owned 

buildings. 

Page 64



25 
 

• Encourage drivers to switch off engine’s whist waiting at school gates. 

• Highlight issues associated with climate change in communities. 

In addition, the committee felt there was a need to consider: 

• The use of all new technologies 

• Rolling out advice and support to all town and parish councils across the 

County on energy efficiency measures 

• Developing a suite of measures to report against progress regularly, 

breaking down the climate change targets into constituent elements. 

 

The Environment and Sustainable Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

recommended giving greater focus to increasing woodland and restoration of 

peatlands in the County to increase carbon absorption. 

The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee takes its role to monitor the Climate Emergency Response Plan very 

seriously and has received information on the following areas during the last 

twelve months: 

• DCC’s Fleet 

• Air Quality 

• DCC’s Carbon Management Plan 

• Fuel Poverty 

• Woodlands. 

Members of the committee have also attended Economy and Enterprise Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee to jointly consider Ultra Low Emission Vehicles. 

 

Scrutiny of the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan 
 

Detailed scrutiny of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is undertaken each 

year by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board. In 2019/20 the 

Board considered the MTFP 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and Capital Budget at 

their meetings in September and again in February 2020.  COSMB raised several 

points which were subsequently considered by Council as part of its budget 

discussion. These included: 

 (a) The Committee expressed concern about future financial uncertainties given 

the results of the Government’s Comprehensive Spending Review and Fair 

Funding Review would not be known until Autumn 2020. Members stated that in 

Page 65



26 
 

view of the significant future potential financial pressures there was a need to 

continue to lobby Government for a better share of national funding. 

(b) Members were particularly concerned about the potential threat to the current 

levels of public health funding linked to the national Fair Funding Review which 

could dramatically affect the County.  

c) Members welcomed the additional £10 million investment in the Towns and 

Villages Fund and hoped it will be used to drive improvements in the local 

economy. The Board added that there should be local member input into how it is 

allocated, that funding should be prioritised according to need and that there is a 

need to include a focus on villages. 

(d) The Board considered the funding in relation to flood relief. The Chair of the 

Environment and Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee highlighted a six 

year investment programme of £127 million across agencies which his committee 

had considered. Members highlighted the need for continuing proactive 

investment. 

(e) COSMB welcomed the additional revenue investments proposed by Cabinet in 

providing new services and highlighted that some would be important for 

consideration in future thematic scrutiny work programmes, such as the youth 

parliament and tree planning proposals. 

(f) Additional funding to repair potholes was welcomed, but some members 

emphasised the need for more investment in highways in future years. 

(g) The proposed capital investments in better facilities for County Durham were 

also welcomed by the Board.  

(h) Some concerns were expressed by members of the Board about utilisation of 

Budget Support Reserve when it needs to be available to meet the significant 

future financial pressures that MTFP (10) sets out. However, members were 

assured that reasonable contingency has been built into plans. 

 

Informing Emerging Plans  
 

- Safe Durham Partnership Plan  
 

The Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

considered the priorities and actions within the draft Safe Durham Partnership 

Page 66



27 
 

Plan. In response, whilst acknowledging ongoing partnership work, Members 

commented on the importance of road safety and that a performance report to the 

Committee’s meeting highlighted an increase in the number of people killed or 

seriously injured within the county compared to the previous year.  

Within this context, the Committee requested that consideration be given for road 

safety to be included within the Safe Durham Partnership Plan. This request was 

agreed by the Safe Durham Partnership Board and is included within the 

Partnership plan. 

 

- Selective Licensing 

 
Durham County Council has decided to apply to the Secretary of State for 

permission to introduce a Selective Licensing Scheme in County Durham.  The 

scheme will allow DCC to designate areas of the county for Selective Licensing to 

support the improvement of privately rented properties, providing certain 

conditions are met. 

In areas designated, landlords must apply for a licence if they want to rent out a 

property and this includes landlords who rely on lettings agents to manage their 

properties on their behalf.  This allows the council to check whether they are a ‘fit 

and proper person’ to be a landlord or letting agent, as well as making other 

stipulations concerning management of property and appropriate safety 

conditions. 

The Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee has received 

regular reports monitoring the progress of the proposed scheme.  In addition, at a 

special meeting of the committee held on the 11 March 2020 to which all 

Overview and Scrutiny members were invited providing an opportunity for 

members to comment on the proposed scheme.  The meeting confirmed 

members support for the proposed scheme with members making the following 

additional comments: 

• Ensuring that the income from the proposed scheme is sufficient to fund all 

individual elements of the scheme. 

• Ensuring that information is available as to how the £16m income will be 

utilised in funding the proposed scheme. 

• Need to monitor any dispersal incidents occurring in the county. 

• DCC continuing to engage with landlords to promote the benefits of the 

scheme including the support, advice and training provided. 

• Support for a range of options in relation to the payment of the fee.  

Page 67



28 
 

• Need to monitor rent levels in the designated Selective Licensing areas to 

determine whether landlords are increasing rents to pay the Selective 

Licensing fee. 

• That DCC continues to provide support and advice in relation to housing 

issues in those areas of the county not included in the Selective Licensing 

Scheme. 

The comments made by Overview and Scrutiny members were incorporated into 

an overview and scrutiny response and fed into the extensive consultation 

process undertaken for the proposed scheme. The committee will receive 

feedback from the consultation and consider the business case as part of its 

2020/21 work programme.  

 

Co-optees and engagement 
 

We continue to work with the non-voting co-optees who sit on our scrutiny 

committees. They bring skills, knowledge and their own expertise and views to 

scrutiny and provide important external challenge to our work programme.  

We have also promoted engagement of local expert and academic researchers in 

overview and scrutiny where they can add to our work.  

Co-opted members appointed to scrutiny committees ensure a strong external 

representation and help scrutiny to engage with the public.  

We value the different perspectives and challenge our co-optees bring to our 
work. Co-optees:  
 

• Act as an independent voice for those who live or work in County Durham. 

• Bring specialist knowledge, skills and an element of external challenge to 
the overview and scrutiny process. 

• Take an interest in, attend and contribute to the committees and working 
groups to which appointed. 

• Establish good relations with other members, officers and co-optees. 
 

 

 

  

Page 68



29 
 

Constitutional Responsibilities of 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 

The constitutional responsibilities of the scrutiny committees are based on the themes 

within the current council plan. A new council plan is under development following the 

agreement of a County Durham Vision 2035. The new plan will reflect the priorities in the 

Vision and there are expected to be some changes to the roles and responsibilities of 

scrutiny committees in due course.  

 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 

• To oversee and co-ordinate the work of Overview and Scrutiny and its committees 

• To ensure effective liaison across the work of the committees on cross cutting issues. 

• To be the strategic driver of the Overview and Scrutiny function. 

• To consider as appropriate scrutiny member involvement in regional scrutiny 
arrangements within the context of any regional strategies. 

• The establishment of appropriate liaison with the Executive in the interests of 
achieving common aims and continuous improvement for the Council 

• To encourage appropriate community involvement in the overview and scrutiny role.  

• Putting the customer first  

• Working with our communities 

• Effective use of resources 

• Support our people through change 
 

 

Environment and Sustainable Communities OSC 
• Deliver a clean, more attractive and sustainable environment 

• Maximise the value and benefits of Durham’s natural environment. 

• Reduce carbon emissions and adapt to the impact of climate change  
 

 

Children and Young People OSC 
• Helping children and young people realise and maximise their potential 

• Helping children and young people make healthy choices and have the best start in 
life 

• A Think Family approach is embedded in our support for families 
 

 

Page 69



30 
 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health OSC 
• Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 

• Improve the quality of life, independence and care and support for people with long term 
conditions 

• Improve the mental health and physical wellbeing of the population 

• Supporting people to die in the place of their choice with the care and support they 
need 
 

 
 

Economy & Enterprise OSC 

• Thriving Durham City 

• Vibrant and successful town 

• Sustainable neighbourhoods and rural communities 

• Competitive and successful people 

• A top location for business 
 

 
 

Safer and Stronger Communities OSC 
• Reduce anti-social behaviour 

• Protect vulnerable people from harm 

• Reduce re-offending 

• Alcohol and substance misuse harm reduction 

• Counter terrorism and prevention of violent extremism 

• Casualty reduction 

• Embedding Think Family approach 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 70



31 
 

Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 

 

COSMB reports and presentations scrutinised during 2019/20 

include: 

 

Cllr Rob Crute 

Chair

Cllr Alison Batey 

Vice chair

Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny 

Management Board 
(COSMB) provides 
a strategic direction 
for the work of all 
the overview and 

scrutiny committees.

Attendance 
Management-

Review of 
recommendations

MTFP (10) 
2020/21 2023/24 

and Budget 
2020/21

Regulation of 
Investigative 
Powers Act 
(RIPA) 2000

Quarterly 
Performance 
Management

Quarterly 
Budget Outturn 

reports

Transformation 
Programme

MTFP 
Delivery 
reports

Customer 
Feedback -
Complaints, 

Compliments & 
Suggestions

Digital 
Strategy

New County 
Durham Vision 

2035

Welfare 
Reform

Updates on 
Petitions 

Council Tax 
Empty Homes 
consultation

County 
Durham 

Partnership

Chairs 
Updates

Notice of Key 
Decisions

Page 71



32 
 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

 

AWH OSC reports and presentations scrutinised during 2019/20 

include: 

 

Cllr John Robinson

Chair

Cllr Jean Chaplow

Vice chair

The Adults, Wellbeing 
and Health Overview 

and Scrutiny 
Committee (AWH OSC) 

has a statutory role 
under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2001 

as amended to 
scrutinise local health 

services

Future of Stroke 
Rehab in County 

Durham & 
Darlington

Future of Ward 
6 Bishop 
Auckland 
Hospital

Consultations 
on NHS 
reviews

North East 
Ambulance 

Service 
performance

Public Health 
updates

Integrated 
Sexual Health 

Services

NHS 
Foundation 

Trusts Quality 
Accounts

Durham Health 
and Wellbeing 
Plan 2019/20 -

Adults

Community 
Hospitals in 

County 
Durham

Interated Care 
System/Partner

ships 
Development

Changes to 
Delivery of 

GP Services 

Engagement and 
Communication 
Plans - Shotley 
Bridge Hospital

County 
Durham 

Healthwatch 

Local 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Strategy 2020

Review of 
Enhanced and 

Extended 
Primary Care

Page 72



33 
 

Children and Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 

Children and Young People OSC reports and presentations 

scrutinised during 2019/20 include: 

 
 

Cllr Heather Smith 

Chair

Cllr Christine Potts 

Vice chair

Children and Young 
People Overview 

and Scrutiny 
Committee (CYP 

OSC) 

Annual Report 
Director of 

Public Health

Joint Targeted 
Area Inspection 

Action Plan

Update on Free 
School Meals 
and holiday 

provision review

School 
Funding

Healthy 
Weight 
Alliance

Educational 
Attainment

Growing 
Healthy 0 -19

Ofsted results -
Durham 

Maintained 
Schools

Children and 
Families 

Partnership 
minutes

Visit to Durham 
Learning 
Resource

Child 
Protection 

Offer

Participation 
in Learning

Child 
Poverty

SEND 
Inclusion and 

Exclusion

CYP Mental 
Health Local 

Transformation 
Plan

Edge of Care 
and Pre Birth 

teams

Page 73



34 
 

 

Economy and Enterprise Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

 

Economy and Enterprise OSC reports and presentations 

scrutinised during 2019/20 include: 

 

Cllr Malcolm Clarke 

Chair

Cllr Richard Manchester 

Vice chair

Economy and 
Enterprise Overview 

and Scrutiny 
Committee 

(Economy OSC)

Regional 
Funding and 
Investment 

Pipeline

Regional and 
Local Transport 

Provision

Homelessness 
in the county

DurhamWorks 
Programme

Skills Advisory 
Panel 

(NELEP)

Employment 
in the County

EU Funding 
programme

Tackling Empty 
Properties

Business 
Enterprise 

Group of the 
CDEP 

Selective 
Licensing 
Scheme

Local 
Industrial 
Strategy

Engagement 
with Social 
Housing 
Providers

Housing 
Strategy

Visit County 
Durham

Business 
Durham

County Durham 
Economic 

Partnership

Page 74



35 
 

Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  

 

Environment & Sustainable OSC reports and presentations 

scrutinised during 2019/20 include: 

 

Cllr Eddy Adam

Chair

Cllr Olga Milburn 

Vice chair

Environment and 
Sustainable 

Communities 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

(Env&Sust OSC)

Single Use 
Plastics

Highways 
and Bridge 

Maintenance

Sustainable 
Heating

Climate 
Change

Leisure Centres 
Transformation

Tree 
Management 

Policy

Heritage Coast 
and the Tourism 

Offer

Carbon 
Management 

Plan

Gala 
Theatre

Flood Risk 
Management 
Authorities for 

County Durham

Fly-tipping
Management 
of DCC's fleet

European 
Structure & 
Investment 

Funding

Environmental 
Schemes

Fuel 
Poverty

Winter 
Maintenance

Page 75



36 
 

Safer and Stronger Communities 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

Safer and Stronger OSC Reports and presentations scrutinised 

during 2019/20 include: 
 

 

Cllr David Boyes

Chair

Cllr Heather Liddle 

Vice chair

SSC OSC has powers 
under the Police & 
Justice Act 2006,as 

amended, to scrutinise 
work being undertaken 
by the statutory crime 
and disorder reduction 
partnership - the Safe 
Durham Partnership

Durham Police 
and Crime 

Panel

Youth 
Justice Plan

Hate Crime

Consumer 
Protection 

Enforcement & 
Intervention 

Activity

Drug and 
Alcohol 

Recovery 
Service

Safe 
Durham 

Partnership

Counter 
Terrorism & 
Security Act 

2015

Consumer 
Protection 

Enforcement 
Activity

ERASE Child 
Sexual 

Exploitation

Safer Durham 
Partnership 

Board

Fire Service 
Integrated Risk 
management 

Plan

Arson and 
Deliberate 

Fires

Modern 
Slavery

Open Water 
Safety & City 
Safety Group

Cybercrime
Domestic 

Abuse

Page 76



37 
 

Regional Scrutiny 
 

Durham County Council contributes to the scrutiny of important regional issues 

such as transport, health, economic development and regeneration through 

membership of the following: 

• North East Joint Scrutiny Member / Officer Network 

• North East Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

• North East Joint Transport Committee Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

• North East and North Cumbria ICS and Northern and Central ICP Joint 
OSC 

• North East and North Cumbria ICS and Central and Southern ICP Joint 
OSC 

• South Tyneside and Sunderland Health Partnership Path to Excellence 
Phase 2 Joint OSC 

 

North East Joint Scrutiny Member / Officer Network 

 
The North East Regional Employers’ Organisation supports a region-wide North 

East Joint Scrutiny Member/Officer network where all North East local authority 

scrutiny leads discuss national developments in scrutiny. Durham County Council 

chairs the network which provides an opportunity to share work programmes and 

priorities and consider emerging issues that have an impact across local authority 

boundaries.  

During 2019/20 the officer network has met to discuss the new scrutiny guidance, 

future health scrutiny arrangements, combined authorities, work programmes and 

future topics. Unfortunately, due to the calling of the general election in 2019 and 

then COVID-19 the member network had been unable to meet during 2019/20. 

Virtual meeting arrangements are now being explored. 

 

North East Combined Authority scrutiny arrangements  
 

We continue to work with other regional authorities as the North East Combined 

Authority (NECA) which is comprised of the four councils of Durham, Gateshead, 

South Tyneside and Sunderland.  

NECA has three broad areas of focus: 

• Transport 

Page 77



38 
 

• Employability and Inclusion 

• Economic Development and Regeneration 
 

We have representation on the NECA Overview and Scrutiny Committee to 

scrutinise and challenge decision-making on behalf of our communities. The 

committee investigates matters of significant importance to residents across the 

areas covered by the four councils with a view to influencing decisions. 

Durham County Council is represented on the NECA Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee by Councillors Rob Crute and Alison Batey, the Chair and Vice-Chair 

of COSMB. Councillors Malcolm Clarke and Richard Manchester, the Chair and 

Vice-Chair of Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee are the nominated 

substitute members. 

 

North East Joint Transport Committee Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

 
Transport is of strategic importance to the north east and both NECA and the 

North of Tyne Combined Authority (Newcastle, North Tyneside and 

Northumberland councils) (NoTCA) work collaboratively to ensure effective 

decision making takes place across the region.   

We work with NECA and NoTCA on a North East Joint Transport Committee 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee established with representatives from all seven 

authorities. Councillors Rob Crute and Alison Batey, the Chair and Vice-Chair of 

COSMB represent Durham County Council. Councillors Malcolm Clarke and 

Richard Manchester are the nominated substitute members. 

Both scrutiny committees normally meet at varying locations across the NECA 

area and meetings are open to the public. During the pandemic, meetings have 

been held virtually. 

Further details on NECA can be found at www.northeastca.gov.uk . 

 

Regional Health Scrutiny 
 

The Council continues to work collaboratively at a regional level to ensure that the 

impact of changes to health services across local authority boundaries does not 

adversely impact upon residents of County Durham.  

The North East Regional Joint Health Scrutiny Committee consists of lead Health 

Scrutiny members from all 12 north east local authorities. 

Page 78

http://www.northeastca.gov.uk/


39 
 

The committee is charged with scrutinising issues around the planning, provision 

and operation of health services in and across the north east region, comprising 

for these purposes the areas covered by all constituent authorities.  

The North East Regional Joint Health OSC has not met during 2019/20 because 

of the emergence of the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System 

and associated Integrated Care Partnerships. The development of these systems 

has resulted in the establishment of two Integrated Care System/Integrated Care 

Partnerships Joint OSCs. 

 

North East and North Cumbria ICS and Northern and 

Central ICP Joint OSC 
 

This Joint OSC comprises representatives from Durham County Council; 

Gateshead BC; Newcastle City Council; North Tyneside BC; Northumberland CC; 

South Tyneside BC and Sunderland City Council  

 The committee has examined: 

• South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust service updates 

• Primary care and the development of Primary care networks 

• Integrated Care update 
 

• Revised terms of reference and protocol for the Joint OSC to reflect the 
development of an Integrated Care System for North East and North 
Cumbria; 

• The development of an Integrated Care System for North East and North 
Cumbria and associated clinical priorities; 

• ICS Partnership arrangements; 

• ICS Communications and engagement update; 

• Workforce updates  

• Updated joint OSC work programme. 

• North East and North Cumbria (NENC) Mental Health ISC Programme 

Update 

• Optimising Health Services and Child Health and Wellbeing NENC ICS 

Update 

Page 79



40 
 

 

North East and North Cumbria ICS and Central and 

Southern ICP Joint OSC 
 

This Joint OSC comprises representatives from Darlington BC; Durham County 

Council; Hartlepool BC; Middlesbrough BC; Redcar and Cleveland BC; North 

Yorkshire County Council and Stockton on Tees BC  

 The committee has examined: 

• Durham Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby 
STP Terms of Reference and Protocol revisions 

• Proposals for the development of an Integrated Care System for the North 
East and North Cumbria 
 

Durham County Council is the only North East Council with representatives that sit 

on both ICS/ICP Joint OSCs. 

The regional and sub-regional joint scrutiny overview and scrutiny arrangements 

will be used to scrutinise the development of the ICS/ICPs and any associated 

proposals for substantial developments or significant variations in services. 

 

South Tyneside and Sunderland Health Partnership Path to 

Excellence Phase 2 Joint OSC 
 

Arrangements have been made for Durham County Council to join a Joint OSC to 

consider South Tyneside and Sunderland Health Partnership’s Path to Excellence 

programme Phase 2. This involves a review of services across South Tyneside 

and Sunderland in respect of Acute medicine and emergency care; Emergency 

surgery and planned care (including surgery and outpatient care. 

The Joint OSC has yet to meet due to General Election 2019 purdah restrictions 

and the current COVID-19 pandemic. 

  

Page 80



41 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Team  
The Overview and Scrutiny team is part of the Resources Directorate. Jenny 

Haworth, the Head of Strategy is designated as the Statutory Scrutiny Officer. 

Tom Gorman is the Corporate Scrutiny and Strategy Manager and Stephen 

Gwillym the Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer. Diane Close, Jonathan Slee 

and Ann Whitton are Overview and Scrutiny Officers. Clare Luery is the Scrutiny 

Support Assistant. 

Key contacts:  
Email: scrutiny@durham.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.durham.gov.uk/scrutiny 
Tel:  03000 265978 

 
 

 

• Stephen Gwillym

• Tel: 03000 26814 
stephen.gwillym@durham.gov.uk

Adults, Wellbeing 
& Health OSC

• Ann Whitton

• Tel: 03000 268143 
ann.whitton@durham.gov.uk

Children & Young 
People OSC

• Clare Luery

• Tel:  03000 265978 
clare.luery@durham.gov.uk

COSMB

• Diane Close

• Tel: 03000 268141 
diane.close@durham.gov.uk

Economy & 
Enterprise OSC

• Ann Whitton/Diane Close

• ann.whitton@durham.gov.uk &   
diane.close@durham.gov.uk

Environment & 
Sustainable 

Communities OSC

• Jonathan Slee

• Tel: 03000 268142 
jonathan.slee@durham.gov.uk

Safer & Stronger 
Communities OSC

Page 81

mailto:scrutiny@durham.gov.uk
http://www.durham.gov.uk/scrutiny


This page is intentionally left blank



 

             

       

 Extraordinary County Council 

16 December 2020 

Appointment of Interim Chief Executive 

 

Report of Chief Officer Appointments Committee 

Councillor Simon Henig, Chairman of the Chief Officer 

Appointments Committee 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of the report is: 

(a) to inform Council of the recruitment process for an Interim Chief 
 Executive;  

(b) to seek Council approval as to the recommended appointment to 
 the post.  
 

Executive Summary 
 
2 In September 2020, Terry Collins, Chief Executive, announced his 

intention to retire at the end of December 2020. The Chief Officer 
Appointment’s Committee (COAC) met on 30 September 2020 to 
consider proposals for recruiting a new Interim Chief Executive and on 
23 October 2020 interviewed candidates for an interim appointment.  

3 This report summarises the considerations of the COAC and makes a 
recommendation as to the appointment of Interim Chief Executive. 

Recommendation(s) 

5 It is recommended that Full Council: 

(a) appoints John Hewitt as the Interim Chief Executive Officer 
effective from 1 January 2021. 

 

  

Page 83

Agenda Item 6



Background 
 
6 Following the announcement of Terry Collins’ intention to retire as the 

Council’s Chief Executive, the COAC met on 30 September 2020 to 
implement plans regarding the appointment of his successor. The 
COAC considered the following options for recruitment to the role:  
 
(a)  External substantive recruitment;  

(b)  External interim appointment; 

(c)  Internal substantive appointment; 

(d)  Internal interim appointment; 

(e)  Combine the role of Executive Director of Resources and Chief 
Executive.  

7 Given the importance of a seamless and rapid transition from the 
current Chief Executive to any successor and the current challenges the 
Council are facing relating to the COVID-19 pandemic and the need for 
stability in the short term, COAC agreed that an internal interim 
appointment (option d) was the most appropriate course of action. The 
COAC agreed to advertise the post internally in the first instance, 
drawing candidates from the Corporate Management Team. 

8 This option was considered the most suitable in the circumstances as it 
would enable the Council to appoint a Chief Executive at the earliest 
opportunity to provide leadership and stability to the organisation during 
the continuing pandemic and in the run up to the election. 

9 The internal appointment would be for a period of 12 months, which 
would enable the recruitment process to fill the post permanently 
commencing in June 2021 following council elections.   

10 This would also enable the Chief Officer Appointments Committee to 
consider the performance of an internal candidate in post and then 
against the wider market at the appropriate time. 

Appointment Process  

11 Expressions of interest were therefore invited from members of the 
Corporate Management Team. Two expressions of interest were 
received and both candidates were interviewed by the COAC on 23 
October 2020. The process included a range of technical questions in 
addition to a presentation.  

Page 84



12 On completion of the interviews, the COAC considered each 
candidate’s overall performance and as a result, were able to identify 
the preferred candidate as John Hewitt, the current postholder as the 
Corporate Director of Resources. 

13 The COAC therefore resolved that John Hewitt be offered the Interim 
Chief Executive Officer post for a period of 12 months, subject to 
paragraph 3.5 of the Officer Employment Procedure Rules and the 
confirmation of the Council in accordance with Article 4.02(h) of the 
Constitution. 

Interim Appointment  

13 Paragraph 3.5 of Officer Employment Procedure Rules requires the 
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (as Proper Officer) to notify the 
Cabinet (referred to in the rules as the Executive) of the intention to 
appoint John Hewitt and the period within which any objection to the 
making of the offer is to be made.  
 

14 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services notified the Cabinet of the 
intended appointment on 3 November 2020 and requested that any 
objections be provided by 10 November 2020. No objections were 
received.  
 

15 Terry Collins has outstanding annual leave remaining therefore his last 
day at the Council is anticipated to be 2 December 2020.  Subject to 
Full Council approval, it is proposed that John Hewitt will act up as Chief 
Executive from 3 December, prior to his appointment commencing on 1 
January 2021, for a period of 12 months.  

 
16 The COAC agreed that the interim arrangement would be reviewed in 

advance of the end of the 12-month period of cover in order that 
decisions can be taken in relation to the permanent appointment of 
Chief Executive. 

Interim Corporate Director of Resources 

17 Subject to approval by Council of the recommended appointment of the 
Interim Chief Executive, the backfill appointment of an Interim Corporate 
Director of Resources is also a matter for the COAC. 

18 On 13 November 2020, the COAC invited expressions of interest from 
members of the Resources Management Team who meet the criteria 
for the role.  Interviews for this role will be held on 4 December 2020. 

Author(s) 

Alison Lazazzera    Tel:  03000 264473 

Page 85



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

The appointment complies with HR policies and procedures in addition to the 

requirements as set out within the Constitution relating to the appointment to 

the post of Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service. 

Finance 

The salary for the post remains unchanged as set out within the Pay Policy for 

the Council. There are no other financial implications. 

Consultation 

NA 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The appointment process is compliant with equalities legislation. 

Climate Change 

NA 

Human Rights 

There are no human rights issues. 

Crime and Disorder 

NA 

Staffing 

The staffing implication arising from the appointment are set out in the report. 

Accommodation 

NA 

Risk 

The proposals set out within the report mitigate against any risks of not filling 

the post of Chief Executive. 

Procurement 

NA 

 

Page 86



 

 Extraordinary County Council 

16 December 2020 

Director of Public Health Annual Report 

2020 

   

Report of: 

Jane Robinson, Corporate Director, Adult & Health Services 

Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health County Durham  

Councillor Lucy Hovvels, Portfolio Lead for Adult and Health 

Services 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is for Council to receive the 2020 Annual 
report of the Director of Public Health for County Durham (Appendix 2). 

Executive summary 

2 Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, one of the statutory 
requirements of the Director of Public Health is to produce an annual 
report about the health of the local population.  The local authority has a 
duty to publish the report.  The government has not specified what the 
annual report might contain and has made it clear that this is a decision 
for individual Directors of Public Health to determine. 

3 The DPH annual report for 2020 focuses on the following: 

a) Health and wellbeing across County Durham  

b) Response to COVID-19  

c) Approach to Wellbeing  

d) The Taylor’s Community  

e) How we have worked with partners to impact on the Health and 
Wellbeing of residents living in County Durham 

f) Update on the seven public health strategic priorities 

g) A focus on the following strategic priorities and recommendations 
for their future work: 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7



i. Good jobs and places to live learn and play  

ii. Every child to have the best start in life 

h) Update on recommendations from 2019  

i) A set of recommendations based on the two priority areas of 
focus. 

 

Recommendations 

4 Council is recommended to: 

(a) Receive the 2020 annual report of the Director of Public Health, 
County Durham. 

Page 88



Background 

2018 DPH annual report 

5 The 2018 report focused on the new vision for the public’s health in 
County Durham.  The report shared the work that has been done to set 
out a new vision for the health and wellbeing of County Durham.   

6 The report was based around a fictional family ‘The Taylors’ describing 
the challenges facing the family, focussing on the ‘assets’  the family 
had and how these can protect health and wellbeing. 

7 The 2018 report set out seven strategic priorities and specific actions 
against each priority for the forthcoming year. 

 Good jobs and places to live, learn and play 

 Every Child to Have the Best Start in Life   

 Mental Health at Scale 

 High quality drug and alcohol services 

 Healthy workforce 

 Promoting positive behaviours 

 Better quality of life through integrated health and care services 
 

8 The 2018 report ended with a short set of recommendations. 

2019 DPH annual report 

9 The DPH annual report for 2019 focussed on the following: 

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) / Durham Insight; 

 Update on recommendations from 2018 DPH annual report; 

 Taylor family (one year on); 

 Mental health at scale; 

 Healthy workforce. 

 
2020 DPH annual report 

10 The DPH annual report for 2020 includes the following: 

a) Health and Wellbeing across County Durham;  

b) Response to COVID-19;  

c) Approach to Wellbeing;  

d) The Taylor’s Community;  

Page 89



e) How we have worked with partners to impact on the Health and 
Wellbeing of residents living in County Durham; 

f) Update on the seven public health strategic priorities; 

g) A focus on the following strategic priorities and recommendations 
for their future work: 

i. Good jobs and places to live learn and play;  

ii. Every child to have the best start in life; 

h) Update on recommendations from 2019;  

i) A set of recommendations based on the two priority areas of 
focus. 

11 The response to the COVID-19 pandemic is a specific focus to this 
year’s DPH annual report.  The COVID-19 pandemic is one of the 
greatest public health challenges in living memory, with significant 
repercussions for health and wellbeing. 

12 The COVID-19 pandemic and the public health measures that followed 
have highlighted the important role of Public Health in protecting the 
public from infectious diseases and supporting and improving their 
health and wellbeing.  

13 The response has also clearly demonstrated that health and wellbeing 
is everyone’s business and the vital part that individuals, communities, 
businesses, services and organisations play in controlling the virus and 
working alongside our residents.  

14 This year’s DPH annual report, provides an update on how DCC have 
responded to the COVID-19 pandemic to reduce and control 
transmission of the virus, support our communities, and maintain our 
essential services.  

15 The annual report provides an update on the progress made on the 
seven public health strategic priorities. Many of our public health 
services needed to change or adapt to continue to safely deliver during 
the COVID-19 lockdown and restrictions. Services developed innovative 
new ways of working to continue to support vulnerable groups.  

16 The annual report will be uploaded onto the council website and copies 
provided to a range of organisations and individuals including the 
County Durham clinical commissioning groups, NHS England, voluntary 
and community sector, foundation trusts, Public Health England, North 
of England Commissioning service.   In addition, copies will be made 

Page 90



available to the members library, to individual members (where 
requested), Cabinet, Overview and Scrutiny Committees and officers.  

Next year’s DPH annual report 

17 The 2021 DPH annual report will focus on the following strategic 
priorities: 

a) High quality drug and alcohol services; 

b) Better quality of life through integrated health and care services; 

c) Promoting positive behaviours; 

d) COVID-19 recovery. 

 

Main Implications 

Legal 

18 It is a statutory responsibility for the Director of Public Health in a local 
authority to prepare an annual report on the health of the local 
population. 

Conclusion 

19 This report provides examples of how we have been working on 
updates on the seven priorities that were set out in the 2018 annual 
report, and has an in-depth focus on giving every child the best start in 
life and promoting good jobs and places to live, learn and play. It also 
introduces a new evidence-based Approach to Wellbeing that has been 
developed and will be used to help empower our communities and build 
their resilience. 

20 The COVID-19 pandemic is far from over; however we are committed to 
working in partnership with partners, communities, and residents to 
continue to protect and support the health and wellbeing of all County 
Durham’s residents. Public health services will continue to learn, adapt 
and innovate as we support our communities to respond and then 
recover from what has been an extremely challenging time.  

21 In the year ahead we will continue to work closely with our partners and 
communities to protect and improve the health and wellbeing of people 
in County Durham. As ever, reducing health inequalities is a core 
principle that will guide us in this work. 

 

Page 91



Background papers 

 DPH annual report 2018 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-
Annual-Report-
2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000  

 DPH annual report 2019 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31646/Director-of-Public-Health-
Annual-Report-
2019/pdf/DPHannualreport2019.pdf?m=637111369766770000 

 

Other useful documents 

 None 

Contact: Amanda Healy Tel:  03000 264323 

   

  

Page 92

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/10077/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2018/pdf/PublicHealthAnnualReport2018.pdf?m=636760677930970000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31646/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2019/pdf/DPHannualreport2019.pdf?m=637111369766770000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31646/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2019/pdf/DPHannualreport2019.pdf?m=637111369766770000
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/31646/Director-of-Public-Health-Annual-Report-2019/pdf/DPHannualreport2019.pdf?m=637111369766770000


Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications  
Section 73B (5) of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 amended the National 
Health Service Act 2006 to include the requirement that the Director of Public 
Health for a local authority must prepare an annual report on the health of the 
people in the area of the local authority and the local authority publish the 
report.  
 

Finance  
No impact at present.   However key public health interventions are dependent 
on the public health ring fenced grant.   
  

Consultation  
This is the independent report of the Director of Public Health and is not 
subject to consultation.  
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  
No impact. 
 

Climate Change  
No impact. 
 

Human Rights  
No impact.  
 

Crime and Disorder  
No impact. 
 

Staffing  
Staff time to produce the 2020 annual report.  
 

Accommodation  
No impact.  
 

Risk  
No impact.  
 

Procurement  
No impact but should inform council commissioning plans in relation to 
services that impact on the health of the population.  
 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



Director of Public Health Annual Report 2020

Healthy Lives, 
Healthier Communities
Protecting and supporting the people of County Durham

Page 95



Contents

   Page 

Foreword  ............................................................................................................. 3

Health and wellbeing across County Durham ..................................................... 4

Response to COVID-19  ....................................................................................... 6

Approach to Wellbeing  ...................................................................................... 10

The Taylor’s Community  .................................................................................... 12

How we have worked with partners to impact on  ............................................. 13 
Health and Wellbeing of  residents living in County Durham

Update on the seven public health strategic priorities  ...................................... 14
and the specific actions against each priority area 

Good jobs and places to live learn and play  .................................................... 16

Every child to have the best start in life  ............................................................. 20

Update on recommendations from 2019  .......................................................... 24

Recommendations for 2020  .............................................................................. 25

 
    

    

1

Acknowledgements 

Many thanks to  

Michelle Baldwin – Public Health Strategic Manager
Sean Barry – Public Health Practitioner
Julie Bradbrook – Partnerships Team Manager
Joy Evans – Public Health Advanced Practitioner 
Michael Fleming – Strategic Manager, Research and Intelligence
Thelma Lambert – Regional Support Officer
Lisa Lynch – Public Health Programme Manager
Jane Marley – Better Health at Work Project Officer 
Karen McCabe – Strategic Manager Wellbeing and Partnerships
Cat Miller – Wellbeing Approach Programme Manager
Jodie Norman – Public Health Practitioner
Rachel Osbaldeston – Public Health Advanced Practitioner
Jon Quine – Commissioning Delivery Manager, NHS North of  England Commissioning Support
Phil Ray – Public Health Advanced Practitioner
Luke Robertshaw – Public Health Speciality Registrar
Helen Riddell – Public Health Advanced Practitioner
Kirsty Roe – Public Health Intelligence Specialist
Mick Shannon – Public Health Advanced Practitioner 
Tracey Sharp – Independent Consultant in Public Health
Tammy Smith – Public Health Advanced Practitioner
Jane Sunter – Public Health Strategic Manager
Chris Woodcock – Public Health Strategic Manager

Design and Print, Durham County Council

P
age 96



32

Foreword

Welcome to my third annual report. It is my role as Director of  Public Health to promote and 
protect the health and wellbeing of  people in County Durham. 

I would like to acknowledge the sadness experienced across our communities for the loss 
of  life and any families affected due to the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, and express 
our thanks to all NHS and social care colleagues, care workers and key workers who have 
worked extremely hard to ensure that services continue in County Durham.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the public health measures that followed have highlighted 
the important role of  Public Health in protecting the public from infectious diseases and 
supporting and improving their health and wellbeing. The response has also clearly 
demonstrated that health and wellbeing is everyone’s business and the vital part that 
individuals, communities, businesses, services and organisations play in controlling the 
virus and working alongside our residents. Throughout the pandemic, I have been privileged 
to work across sectors to lead our public health response, with incredible support from my 
highly motivated, dedicated and skilled public health team. In this report, I outline some 
ways that we have responded to reduce and control transmission of  the virus, support our 
communities, and maintain our essential services. I am extremely proud of  the way our 
partners and communities have responded and worked together to meet the challenges of  
COVID-19. 

This report also provides examples of  how we have been working on updates on the seven 
priorities that I set out in my first report in 2018, and has an in-depth focus on giving every 
child the best start in life and promoting good jobs and places to live, learn and play. I also 
introduce a new evidence-based Approach to Wellbeing that has been developed and will 
be used to help empower our communities and build their resilience.  

As with my previous reports we continue to follow the “Taylor” family, and there is an update 
on how the work carried out has made a difference to them. This year’s report focusses on 
the Taylors’ community and how we have worked with partners to impact on the health and 
wellbeing of  residents living in County Durham.

Last year’s report focussed on our work to improve mental health across the whole 
population and support workplace health. I’m pleased to report that the new employee 
assistance service has been launched to help support workers in small and medium 
businesses and community organisations with their mental health and wellbeing. Businesses 
have also continued to sign up, and progress in, our Better Health At Work Award scheme.

In the year ahead we will continue to work closely with our partners and communities 
to protect and improve the health and wellbeing of  people in County Durham. As ever, 
reducing health inequalities is a core principle that will guide us in this work.

 

Amanda Healy 

Amanda Healy
Director of  Public Health

P
age 97



Health and wellbeing across County Durham

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a suite of  resources locally that helps to 
inform the planning and improvement of  local services, and guides us in making the best 
use of  funding available. It builds a picture of  current and future health and wellbeing needs 
of  local people. This is used to shape joint commissioning priorities to improve health and 
wellbeing as well as reduce health inequalities in our communities. It informed the recent 
refresh of  our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, and underpinned development of  the 
Learning Disability Commissioning Strategy, and the Children and Young Peoples Strategy 
amongst others. The development of  assets within the JSNA is a key priority. By focussing 
only on the “needs” of  local communities we do not acknowledge the importance of  the 
assets, or take account of  the protective factors and strengths within individuals and across 
communities. This should incorporate practical skills, capacity and knowledge of  residents 
and the networks and connections in a community.  
 
Durham Insight 
The JSNA is part of  Durham Insight. Durham Insight is a shared 
intelligence, research and knowledge base for County Durham, 
informing strategic planning across Durham County Council and its partners. This site 
includes in-depth JSNA and insight factsheets, health needs assessments, health equity 
audits and lots of  topic based intelligence including infographics, maps and story maps. 
New intelligence content is regularly added, and the site is continuously being developed 
and improved. www.durhaminsight.info

 

 

 

 

 

 

Intelligence led and data based decision making 
The need for local, timely and high-quality data and surveillance has been a critical factor in 
helping the County Durham COVID-19 Health Protection Assurance Board and the County 
Durham and Darlington Local Resilience Forum (LRF) to make informed decisions. Having 
access to up to date intelligence about the impact of  COVID-19 on County Durham is 
crucial to ensuring the number of  cases in our region continues to fall. The Durham Insight: 
COVID-19 dashboard is a valuable tool, providing the latest statistical information relating 
to COVID-19 in County Durham. It includes a surveillance dashboard displaying statistics 
on cases of  COVID-19 and deaths associated with it in the county and the North East as a 
whole.

In addition to this we have created a local mortality surveillance system to monitor both 
COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 deaths using local Registrar data, and an interactive mapping 
tool containing location specific lab-confirmed tests combined with a broad range of  spatial 
data relating to specific settings and risks. There is also a linked geographically specific 
dashboard containing location based summaries of  positive tests in the last 7 and 14 days.

Where we live, our services and our communities
There are many challenges to health and wellbeing especially whilst dealing with COVID-19. 
However, County Durham has many assets that can support and protect health, some of  
these are set out below:

 

4 5

Building on our assets

Where we live
13,800 businesses

21 green flags for 
parks and open spaces

2 in 5 residents live 
in rural areas

12 miles of coastline

150 miles of former 
railway paths

Durham Cathedral 
and Castle are world 
heritage sites

530,000 people live 
here, around 1 in 5 
are over the age of 65

30 dementia friendly 
communities

43 Crees *
14 Area Action 
Partnerships 

71% people working 
age are in employment

59,000 adult carers 
in County Durham

38 mutual aid shops

4 colleges

33 further education 
establishments

13 special 
educational needs 
schools

1 University

234 primary schools

52 Secondary Schools

39 libraries

12 Council owned 
leisure centres

177 breastfeeding 
friendly businesses

Our communities Our Services

Sunderland  Durham  Hartlepool
Heritage Coast

Recent developments include:

l a COVID-19 landing page 
hosting the public COVID-19 
dashboard. 

l a dashboard providing 
information on a) our Shielded 
Patient List (SPL), and                
b) comparing against other 
North East local authorities.

l Updated information on our 
economy and employment 
(together with a State of  the 
County storymap), including 
the post COVID-19 economy 
(estimated furlough numbers in 
the county, unemployment and 
claimant counts etc.

l New interactive content 
covering the Index of  Multiple 
Deprivation 2019.

*A Cree is County Durham’s version of  Australia’s Men’s Shed. Crees aim to engage with those at risk of  suicide by tackling 
social isolation and self-harm through skill-sharing and informal learning to promote social interaction. Although Crees were 
originally aimed at men, some have developed for women and young people.

P
age 98

http://www.durhaminsight.info


Response to COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic is one of  the greatest public health 
challenges in living memory, with significant repercussions 
for health and wellbeing. It has affected every part of  our 
society and is likely to lead to lasting changes to how we live, 
work and play. The virus is highly infectious and can cause 
severe respiratory illness. As at the end of  September, our 
county has suffered from over 4,600 confirmed infections and 
over 700 deaths associated with COVID-19. The risk of  dying 
from COVID-19 infection is highest in the elderly or those with 
underlying health conditions, however the risks are found to 
be higher in males than females; higher in those living in the 
more deprived areas than those living in the least deprived; 
and higher in those in Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
groups than in White ethnic groups. As well as these direct 
health consequences of  the COVID-19 virus, the subsequent   
restrictions, have affected other areas of  health and wellbeing 
including mental health, social isolation, and changes in eating, 
drinking and physical activity behaviours. The wider impacts are 
still unfolding, with concerns around the health of  the economy, 
employment, education, businesses and socio-economic 
inequalities. 

However, throughout these difficult times our services, 
communities, and residents have been working together in 
partnership to address these challenges.

The public health team have been at the heart of  the council’s 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

l Emergency preparedness, response and recovery
 Since the imminent threat of  COVID-19 to our population 

became clear in January, we worked with regional partners 
including Council departments, the NHS, Public Health 
England (PHE), the Local Resilience Forum (LRF), and 
the Civil Contingencies Unit (CCU). This supported our 
planning and response to the virus. When the pandemic 
was declared as a major incident in March, we worked 
with our partners and communities to implement measures 
to help protect and support our residents, families, 
businesses, social care, community organisations, and NHS 
structures in County Durham. 

l Providing public health advice and support 
 Throughout the planning and response to the pandemic, the public health team have 

worked across council departments and with external partners to provide public health 
advice in line with national government guidance. We set up a single point of  contact 
for requests for public health advice and to date have processed over 1,000 enquires. 
For example, we have supported schools and universities to clarify, interpret and apply 
guidance so that they could operate safely and reduce the risk of  transmission of  the 
virus. Where government guidance was not available for some of  our services, we 
worked with them to develop local advice based on public health principles.  

County Durham   

Together

Better for everyone

Wash HANDS
For 20 seconds and often

Cover FACE
Wear a face covering when 
possible

2

Make SPACE
Stay 2m apart from others

Get a TEST  
If you have symptoms of 
Coronavirus 

CORONAVIRUS 
is still out there

Play your part to stay safe  
in County Durham

durham.gov.uk/coronavirus

CORONAVIRUS CORONAVIRUS 
If the NHS Calls you... 
please self-isolate 
for 14 days
Together we can keep our communities safe

County Durham   

Together

Better for everyone

l Local Outbreak Control Plan 
 In July we published a Local Outbreak Control Plan for County Durham, which sets out 

our plan to protect our local communities by preventing and controlling transmission of  
COVID-19. The plan includes provision of  clear prevention messages, rapid detection 
and management of  outbreaks, and working with various settings to implement 
appropriate infection control measures. It also outlines the support we will continue to 
offer to our communities, particularly those who are vulnerable or needing to self-isolate. 
Since July we have responded to outbreaks of  COVID-19 in care homes, workplaces 
and social settings in County Durham. This has meant working closely with colleagues 
across the council and with PHE Health Protection Team. Utilised the Health and 
Wellbeing Board as a Member-led Local Outbreak Engagement Board to support the 
ongoing response to Covid-19, providing the opportunity for members to communicate 
openly with the public and residents on this issue.

l Maintaining and adapting essential public health services
 Many of  our public health services needed to change or adapt to continue to safely 

deliver during the COVID-19 lockdown and restrictions. Services developed innovative 
new ways of  working to continue to support vulnerable groups. Some examples are:

l Drug and alcohol recovery service adopted online initial assessments for new 
clients, and also began to deliver recovery groups through online platforms 
to maintain this important element of  treatment. As pharmacies were unable 
to administer vital opioid substitution treatments, alternative methods were 
developed including secure deliveries, complemented by increased remote 
support for clients. Where face-to-face clinical appointments were necessary, 
these were conducted in recovery centres with appropriate social distancing 
and personal protective equipment.  

l Health visiting service developed enhanced support for breastfeeding mothers 
included daily phone and video calls through which health visitors were able to 
demonstrate and observe breastfeeding technique. Where necessary, face-to-
face support has been provided by a dedicated team equipped with necessary 
protective equipment. Breastfeeding peer-support groups have also moved to 
online platforms which have received positive feedback. Early signs are that 
we are seeing some improvements in breastfeeding initiation and continuation 
rates, and we are investigating the reasons for this.

l Public health team co-ordinated a multi-agency communications plan to ensure 
that victims of  domestic abuse, including children and young people knew how 
to access support during lockdown. During the pandemic we have increased 
our capacity within the specialist domestic abuse service, including the ability to 
offer dedicated remote access counselling sessions. We have also co-ordinated 
with children and young people services to ensure that vulnerable children and 
young people effected by domestic abuse could still access support. 

76

P
age 99



98

County Durham Together – Community Hub

In March 2020 we worked with our partners and the community to plan and launch County 
Durham Together, a community hub to support socially vulnerable people during the 
pandemic, particularly those who were shielding or self-isolating. The hub has helped 
coordinate food deliveries and link people to volunteers, welfare advice, and wider support 
services. Since it was launched the community hub has supported over 10,000 people. This 
has been through proactive contact with vulnerable residents that were identified, and by 
responding to incoming enquiries from the public. Over 2,000 shielding residents needed 
support with food supplies and 1,500 needed support with pharmacy supplies. 

To help identify residents deemed to be extremely vulnerable to COVID-19, our public 
health intelligence team worked with the NHS North East Commissioning Support Unit to 
develop an innovative data tool that brought together information about social vulnerability 
and existing clinical conditions. This enabled us to proactively contact those identified to 
offer them support. Over 27,000 residents in County Durham needed to shield during the 
pandemic, a further 58,500+ were identified as vulnerable.

As the pandemic progressed and people were self-isolating and shielding for a longer 
period of  time, the Hub noticed that some callers talked of  their growing loneliness and 
lack of  social contact, some people said the Hub Officer was the only person they had 
spoken to for days. In response to this the hub developed County Durham Together - Chat 
Together. The service adds to the person-centred offer of  the Hub and provides general 
companionship, a welfare check and the opportunity for a friendly conversation for people 
who were self-isolating or shielding and those who are still generally missing contact with 
family, friends and activities. The Hub also links with partner organisations to refer people for 
more specialised befriending and mental wellbeing needs where necessary. 

At the peak of  the pandemic, over 200 council staff  and over 80 NHS and Wellbeing for 
Life staff  were redeployed from their usual roles to support the community hub, which was 
functioning 7 days per week. A training programme was developed to support and develop 
staff  in their roles and enable effective responses to clients’ needs. On returning to their 
usual roles, many staff  have identified that the training and Hub experience is valued and of  
benefit to their future practice. 

Health impact assessment 
We have conducted a health impact assessment that has assessed the potential impact 
of  COVID-19 on inequalities in County Durham. This highlighted some areas that need 
to be addressed to guard against widening inequalities. Four key areas were identified: 
socio-economic factors and poverty reduction, mental health and emotional wellbeing, and 
use of  community assets and community mobilisation and inclusion of  vulnerable groups. 
Understanding these will help our services and partners across County Durham to take 
actions to reduce health inequalities. 

The COVID-19 pandemic is far from over; however we are committed to working in 
partnership with partners, communities, and residents to continue to protect and support 
the health and wellbeing of  all County Durham’s residents. Public health services will 
continue to learn, adapt and innovate as we support our communities to respond and then 
recover from what has been an extremely challenging time.

 

This is Charlie Elliott. Charlie of  Brookwood Outdoors 
CIC supported vulnerable members of  the community by 
delivering boxes of  freshly prepared hot meals.

Here are some of  our DCC staff  redeployed to prepare 
food boxes to deliver to vulnerable residents.

Community grants were given out to 
local scout groups. Funding was used 
to buy activity packs for children, 
young people and families enabling 
them to learn new skills and cook 
together at home.

The Meal Orchard project received a grant from the 3 
towns AAP which was used to deliver hot meals which were 
prepared and cooked by a local company. Lee Tones and 
his daughter Ellie volunteered to deliver the vegetables 
used in the cooking of  these meals for the Meal Orchard 
Project. 

This is Linda Parkin and her dog 
Oscar. Linda had been advised to 
shield by the NHS so could not leave 
her home to get any shopping. Linda 
received support from The County 
Durham Together Hub and one of  our 
wellbeing4Life workers arranged for 
essential groceries to be delivered to 
Linda and Oscar. 

P
age 100



Approach to Wellbeing

Over the past year we have developed an Approach to Wellbeing that we intend to build     
into all of  our organisations and services. We are confident that following this evidence-
based approach will help us promote healthier and more resilient communities across our 
county. This Approach to Wellbeing supports the delivery of  the County Durham Vision 
2035, which sets out our ambition for more and better jobs, people living longer and more 
independent lives, and connected communities. 

At the heart of  the Approach to Wellbeing is a recognition that communities play a vital role 
in their own development. By empowering local people to make decisions about issues 
that affect their communities we acknowledge their valuable contribution and responsibility, 
enabling us to work together to discover the best solutions. For example, working with 
people to co-design services will help us develop services that are tailored to communities, 
utilising their assets and targeting their needs. 

Our approach has six principles, that are underpinned by evidence drawn from published 
research, best practice and local insights. Following these principles means that our actions 
will need to be informed by conversations with people and communities, listening to their 
knowledge and experience of  what works for them. It means working in partnership with 
communities, building on their strengths while providing the support they need to manage 
challenges and setbacks they may face. It also means sharing power with communities, 
inviting them to make, or influence, important decisions that will affect them. 

10 11

Alzheimer’s Society
Dementia Friendly Communities (DFC’s) have developed as a social movement through 
empowering and supporting communities to design their own groups and to make local 
businesses and services Dementia-friendly based on the needs of  their own local area. 
There are currently 30 DFC’s across the County with more to follow. The Alzheimer’s Society 
supports these DFC’s by using networks of  service users to support in recruitment of  staff  
and in shaping services to empower its service users through tools, advice and strategies 
rather than doing things ‘to’ or ‘for’ people.

Adult and Health Commissioning
The wellbeing principles form part of  all new contracts for mental health, meaning that 
wellbeing is considered as a central part of  service delivery. This will ensure that the people 
delivering services on behalf  of  the local authority will work more closely with communities 
to build on their assets, to share decision-making and co-design services to build greater 
resilience in communities.

Holiday activities with food
Following work with families, it was identified 
that access to food and also access to positive 
and meaningful activities for children during 
school holidays was an issue. Through Area 
Action Partnerships (AAP’s), local community 
youth groups were given additional funding to 
enhance the range of  activities they could offer 
over holidays and to provide a meal with the 
activity. This meant that groups who already 
knew the children and families and were 
already delivering community-led services 
could reach more families.

We are using the Approach to Wellbeing to influence how are services are being delivered. 
For example, we are encouraging our commissioned mental health services and providers 
to work more closely with communities. We are also designing new early help services, 
working with parents, head teachers and others to identify key challenges to pupils’ 
emotional wellbeing and seeking to codesign potential solutions and support with them. 

People and Places Supporting Systems 

Using what works:
everything we do is supported by evidence   

informed by local conversations.

Empowering communities
working with communities to support 

their development and empowerment.

Working better together
working together across sectors to 

reduce duplication and ensure 
greater impact.

Being asset focused
acknowledging the different needs of  

communities and the potential of  
their assets.

Sharing decision-making
designing and developing services 

with the people who need them.

Building resilience
helping the most disadvantaged and 

vulnerable, and building up their 
future resilience.

Doing with, not to
making our health and care interventions, 

empowering and centred around 
you as an individual.

County Durham Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-2025
The plan sets out the commissioning and delivery intentions of  the partners of  the Integrated 
Care Board, through the life course and across 22 chapters. Each chapter is structured in 
the same format to address why change is needed, the objectives and goals of  change, 
and what interventions are going to be undertaken over the coming years to achieve these. 
The planned interventions are grouped into themes including addressing health inequalities, 
personalised care, and the Approach to Wellbeing. Utilising the approach as a means of  
framing specific interventions has introduced and challenged partners to think about system 
working which engages patients and residents, and to think more inclusively on what matters 
to communities, rather than thinking and planning along organisational perspectives alone. 
The plan is updated twice a year in the Spring and Autumn, and whilst the approach is a 
relatively new concept to many of  the partners the next iteration of  the plan will include a 
self-assessment of  the initiatives against the model, supported by the Approach to Wellbeing 
Programme Manager.

P
age 101



12 13

The Taylors’ community

In my previous reports, we have been following the Taylor family, a fictional family who 
experience the common challenges and opportunities for health and wellbeing in County 
Durham. The Taylor’s community – the people and places they live among – provide an 
important role in supporting health and wellbeing. Family, friends, neighbours and local 
services help them remain connected with others and provide opportunities for them to give 
and receive support when it is needed.

Meet Simon - Simon is a 
community support worker based 
in John’s GP surgery. Simon 
has been supporting John with 
giving up smoking and guidance 
around his alcohol consumption. 
During the COVID-19 pandemic 
John was concerned he would 
take up smoking again as the 
support from Simon might not be 
available. However, Simon kept in 
contact with John via video calls 
which has really helped John 
continue to not smoke.

Meet Mandy - Mandy runs the 
children and young people’s mental 
health support group, which Dan 
now attends. Dan struggled to 
engage in the group at first, so 
Mandy ‘buddied’ Dan up with 
another young person to provide 
some peer support. Dan is now fully 
engaged in the group and has since 
been involved in feedback events 
to help develop an online mental 
health support offer for children and 
young people during the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Meet Stephen - Stephen is 
a sports coach at the local 
leisure centre and has been 
supporting Olivia to keep 
active. Olivia enjoys the 
sessions, has made new 
friends and feels much fitter. 
She would like to do more 
sessions, but since the 
COVID-19 pandemic Stephen 
is no longer offering face-face 
sessions. However, Stephen 
has developed some online 
activity resources which Olivia 
has accessed to keep her 
motivated. 

Meet Dean - Due to the closing 
of  schools during the COVID-19 
pandemic and the children being 
at home more during the day, the 
family have struggled to provide 
additional food for the children. 
The family have accessed their 
local food bank for support. Dean 
is a volunteer at the local food 
bank and has been delivering food 
parcels to the family. 

Dan Callum OliviaJohn JeanGeorgeSarah and 
Charlie

Throughout all of  our work, we aim to promote healthier and more resilient communities in 
which residents in County Durham can thrive. There are many assets in our communities, 
but we must continue to work with our partners and the people who live there to harness 
these and support those in greatest need. Here are some examples of  the partners and 
people we work with who support residents and promote positive health and wellbeing.

Paul is one of  our Health Advocates and has been 
volunteering in this role since 2018. Paul has raised 
awareness of  many health and wellbeing campaigns 
with his colleagues across Durham County Council and 
has supported them to access these. This is Paul being 
a positive role model and signing up to the 2019 Dry 
January campaign. 

Here is what Paul said about being a Health Advocate: 

How we have worked with partners to impact on the Health and 
Wellbeing of residents living in County Durham

This is David Jones. With support from the Housing 
Solutions Warmer Homes Team David was able to 
access a free scheme and receive a grant to replace 
his current central heating system with a new one. The 
pilot scheme aimed to support older people to ensure 
their homes are warm, safe and they are not at risk of  
fuel poverty. 

Here is what David said about the scheme: 

Community Outreach 
Andrea and Elliott Snowball work as cancer awareness workers and 
deliver engagement sessions with residents in local communities across 
County Durham. The sessions raise awareness on several health-related 
topics such as smoking, alcohol, staying safe in the sun and cancer. These 
sessions support residents in understanding some of  the risks associated 
with these topics, promote good health and wellbeing and signpost people 
onto services if  further support is required. 

Community Action Team (CAT)  
The CAT brings together residents and a range of  organisations 
to tackle housing and environmental issues in a specific area by 
identifying local priorities and making best use of  resources. The 
CAT works with multi-agency partners and as well as delivering 
some level of  enforcement, CAT have a key role in promoting health 
and wellbeing and healthier lifestyles. For more information about 
how we promote healthier neighbourhoods for our residents see 
page 16.

“I am delighted with 
my new central heating 
system; my home is 
warm and comfortable 
now and I’m not 
worried about the cold 
weather and high coal 
bills anymore. I was 
amazed that I didn’t 
have to pay anything,   
it was totally free”.

“It’s given me the 
opportunity to 
promote health within 
my team and also 
meet a diverse range 
of  staff  within DCC 
which has been a real 
pleasure”

P
age 102



14

High quality drug and alcohol services 

Action  
1  To support people needing 

help with our new drug and 
alcohol service. 

2 To work with families to help 
them with drug and alcohol 
issues. 

3 Promote awareness about 
sensible levels of  alcohol 
intake.

Good jobs and places to live, 
learn and play is a focus for this 
annual report see pages 20-23

Every child to have the best 
start in life is a focus for this 
annual report see pages 16-19

Update on the seven public health strategic priorities and the 
specific actions against each priority area

In my first annual report, I identified seven key public health priorities for the Taylor family 
and local communities to lead healthier lives. These were based on the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment (JSNA) but also evidence of  ‘what works’ to make a difference. A 
recommendation from 2018 was to implement the actions for each priority working with 
partners across County Durham. Here are some examples of  progress made.

Promoting positive behaviours 

Action  
1  Introduce the Active 30 to 

help children to become 
more active.

2 Reducing exposure to 
second hand smoke. 

3 Increase awareness about 
the risks of  alcohol.

Progress  
1  In response to COVID-19 Active 30 developed an online hub 

with physical activity resources to help support schools, 
parents and young people to keep active to support health 
and wellbeing at home. 

 www.countydurhamsport.com/young-people/active-30-durham 
2 The danger of  second hand smoke is now part of  all training 

delivered to services who work with families. This is in addition 
to inclusion on the Making Every Contact Count (MECC) 
training.

3 Implemented the recommendations from the Alcohol CLeaR 
(Challenge, Leadership, Results) self-assessment and peer 
assessment. In addition we increased the reach and uptake 
of  alcohol harm campaigns such as Dry January, What’s the 
Harm and 7 cancers. 

Better quality of life through integrated health and care services

Action  
1  Encourage people to have 

the flu vaccination.
2 To work with health and 

social care organisations to 
integrate services to improve 
quality of  life. 

3 Support people to get 
involved in local social and 
physical activities to reduce 
social isolation.

Progress  
1  The Flu Prevention Board have supported the biggest local 

joint flu vaccine programme to date with further plans to 
extend the reach and scope of  the programme into 2020/21 

2 Working with partners through the County Durham Integrated 
Care Partnership to review and implement the local System 
Plan.

3 Public health continues to support an extensive range of  
programmes to address the wider social determinants 
of  health within local communities. For example: Social 
Prescribing Link Workers - working in GP practices enabling 
patients to build confidence and access support within their 
local community, e.g. walking groups, befriending services 
and volunteering opportunities.  

Mental Health at scale

Action  
1  Support small businesses 

to take action about mental 
health, and train staff  to 
become Mental Health First 
Aiders

2 Get involved in Time to 
Change to reduce stigma 
due to mental health.

 

Progress  
1  Worked with Business Durham and its networks to support 

small and medium businesses to reduce mental health 
stigma and discrimination, including training over 80 staff  
to become Mental Health First Aiders.

2 In 2019, County Durham was successful in becoming 
a funded Time to Change Hub, enabling us to make 
positive progress in tackling mental health stigma and 
discrimination.

Healthy Workforce

Progress  
1  The BHAWA has helped facilitate 300,000 health promoting 

contacts in the workplace. Throughout the COVID19 
pandemic, demand for virtual training has continued e.g. 
health advocates and mental health awareness.

2 Across the region, County Durham continues to have the 
highest number of  registered businesses actively engaging 
and progressing the award. Recruitment of  new businesses 
has continued. County Durham, currently has 78 businesses 
working towards all levels of  the BHAWA.

3 Staff  flu campaign 2019 - 
 l  401 front line staff  were vaccinated in 2019
 l  Dry January – 360 staff  took part in 2020 campaign
 l  Mental Health – Time to Talk day and Mental Health   

 Awareness Week raising awareness of  mental health and   
 challenging stigma and discrimination

 l  Physical Activity – During the lockdown staff  have created   
 a virtual exercise forum where they share pictures and   
 routes to motivate one another.

15

Every child to 
have the best 
start in life

Good jobs 
and places to 
live, learn and 

play

High quality 
drug and 
alcohol 
services

Healthy 
workforce

Promoting 
positive 

behaviours Better quality 
of life through 

integrated 
health 

and care 
services

Mental 
health 

at scale

Action  
1  Support organisations to 

promote the wellbeing of  
their staff. 

2 Reach more organisations 
with our Better Health at Work 
award;(BHAWA).

3 Support a range of  marketing 
campaigns to promote health 
and wellbeing award.

 

Progress  
1  Service provision has transformed through the COVID-19 

pandemic to enable staff  and clients to be safe and still 
access treatment and recovery services. Referrals have seen 
stable or increased numbers accessing services. 

2 Flexible support for individual needs of  families continues 
and we have reshaped our outreach support to include video 
calls, remote working and treatment. Also, an increase in 
targeted bespoke support to 46 clients and their families 
whose treatment plans had been effected as a result of  the 
pandemic. 

3 Worked with all off-license premises to promote Chief  
Medical Officer (CMO) alcohol guidelines as part of  Alcohol 
Awareness Week.

P
age 103

http://www.countydurhamsport.com/young-people/active-30-durham 


1716

Good jobs and places to live, learn and play

In my 2018/19 report I said we would:
l  Develop health standards for private landlords to implement.

l Support older people to ensure their homes are warm and safe and not at risk of  fuel 
poverty.

l Set out a plan to restrict the increase in take-away food.

The quality of  our housing and the neighbourhoods in which we live are fundamentally 
linked to our health and wellbeing. Poor housing can contribute to various illnesses, injuries 
and mental health conditions. Deprived neighbourhoods are often associated with higher 
crime rates, unhealthy food outlets, betting shops, and stigmatisation of  communities, 
and can lead to health and social harms. However, these problems are preventable if  
root-causes of  poor-quality housing and unhealthy neighbourhood environments can 
be addressed. That is why we have been working closely with our council partners and 
communities to improve housing standards, and to promote healthier neighbourhoods for 
our residents to live in.

Why is this important?
The homes and the places in which people live are important to support their overall health 
and wellbeing – impacting on their quality of  life; their healthy life expectancy (this is the 
expected number of  years of  life spent in good health), their risk of  illness, and their access 
to appropriate support services. Improving the quality of  housing, living conditions and their 
wider environment will lead to improved health and wellbeing for our residents. This is more 
important than ever as we are now spending more time at home due to COVID-19. Whether 
people have a long term condition, are experiencing social or health inequalities or simply 
have changing needs as they get older, it is important that all homes and places in County 
Durham provide a safe, inclusive and secure environments for people to live and grow within 
their local community.

Influencing Housing
We are working with housing and planning colleagues to understand and adopt health 
interventions across housing and environmental policies, projects and actions to see living 
standards rise and fuel poverty reduce. 

Key achievements in 2019/20
l  Working with the selective licensing team we have contributed to the County Durham 

Selective Licensing Evidence Report incorporating the evidence between poor housing, 
deprivation and ill health. 

l The development of  draft licence conditions setting out the expected standards to improve 
quality of  housing and living conditions for tenants in some of  our most deprived areas.

l Health is now a cross cutting theme of  the local housing strategy. 

l Undertaken a Health Impact Assessment (HIA) of  the housing strategy, working with 
partners from housing, health and social care identifying measures that can improve 
equity of  access to quality housing, mitigate against financial barriers to having a secure 
home and prevent against accidents or injuries. 

l Produced a HIA on homelessness to consider opportunities to address those most at risk 
and to support rough sleepers. 

l Upskilling housing staff  in Make Every Contact Count (MECC) to make the most of  health 
improvement opportunities. 

Of people of 
working age are 

employed ... 
estimates

suggest this has 
decreased due to 

COVID

  

Average weekly 
earnings is 

£441 

a third
of which is 

accessible green 
space

County Durham 
covers an area of 

862 
square miles

71.4%

There is an average of 
96.1 hot food takeaways 
per 100,000 population 

in England. 
In County Durham 
the rate is 119.6

Over 13,800 
businesses and 

over 180,000 jobs

1 in 3 people 
are employed 

in public 
administration, 

health and 
education

Approximately 
570 

hot food 
takeaways across 
County Durham

It is estimated 
that 69,000 
employees 

were 
furloughed

Over 95% of 
people over the 

age of 65 receive 
winter fuel 
payments

County Durham 

has 33,500 
(14%)

households living 
in fuel poverty

P
age 104



1918

Restricting increase in take-away food 
Now more than ever it is a critical time to support residents to be of  a healthy weight. 
Evidence has reported that there is an increased risk of  COVID-19 diagnosis, serious illness 
and death among people of  excess weight. 

Work is ongoing to support our young people, families and communities to be able to live 
and interact within environments where healthier food and drink choices are the easy and 
accessible choice.

Key achievements in 2019/20
l  The County Durham Plan includes a policy which will allow us to carefully consider 

over concentrations of   hot food takeaways in our defined retail centres and will only be 
approved in certain circumstances. The policy will also ensure that in order to promote 
healthy lifestyles in young people, hot food takeaways will not be allowed within 400 
metres of  an entry point of  an existing or proposed school or further education college. 
The policy approach and evidence base have been subject to wide consultation and was 
discussed at length in front of   an independent planning inspector at the examination in 
public. Following the recent publication of  the Inspector’s report, the policy approach 
can now be afforded significant weight in determining planning applications. Full Council 
will be asked to adopt the updated policy as part of  the County Durham Plan at the 
earliest opportunity.

l Takeaway Masterclasses are to take place when safe to do so to help businesses 
promote healthy cooking practices and menu options. These will provide advice on 
simple practical changes that can be made when buying, preparing, cooking, serving 
and promoting food.

Our joint work with housing will ensure that the Taylors’ health and 
wellbeing is considered in both private and public housing. Jean 
and George were referred to Warmer Homes service by their 
GP and subsequently received a new boiler and home insulation 
making their home warmer and more energy efficient. Sarah 
and John self  referred to the Managing Money Better service 
and received advice to access lower energy tariffs and to switch 
energy providers.

The improved cooking practices and menu options adopted by 
hot food takeaways will benefit the Taylor family by improving their 
access to better quality meals when they buy takeaway foods. 

How has this work 
benefitted the Taylors

Older People in their homes
In collaboration with our housing, health and social services colleagues we have helped 
support older and vulnerable people through home adaptations, improved energy efficient 
homes, and better integrated planning to promote independence and security. These will 
help improve their quality of  life as well as prevent illnesses associated with poor housing.
County Durham has 33,500 (14%) households living in fuel poverty. Fuel poverty occurs 
when a household cannot afford to maintain an internal household temperature adequate 
for the health and wellbeing of  the occupants. Reducing fuel poverty remains one of  our 
priorities.

Key achievements in 2019/20
l  We have actively engaged with the fuel poverty group making winter warmth and 

reducing health inequalities a key strand of  their action plan.

l Refreshing the Cold Weather Plan and Heatwave Plan and implementing new local 
actions and engaging more closely with our AAPs.

l Based on information from the publication of  NICE guidance (NG6),‘Excess winter deaths 
and illness and the health risks associated with cold homes’ we identified an opportunity 
to maximise reductions in levels of  fuel poverty and cold-related illness interventions with 
a specific focus on working with primary care to identify and refer patients with chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma. 

l NG6 has also been used to embed cold-related ill health assistance into the Council’s 
Affordable Warmth Strategy.

l Working with Housing Solutions Warmer Homes Team we developed and piloted a cold 
related ill health project offering free intervention such as new or replacement boilers  / 
central heating system, home insulation and fuel energy advice to assist them mitigate 
bouts of  cold related illness and the impacts of  fuel poverty. 

l Evaluated the pilot with Teesside University and through the recommendations the 
Warmer Homes service have adapted the interventions and seen a greater uptake in GP 
surgeries engaging with the service. We will extend this engagement by working with the 
newly created social prescribing link workers across County Durham.

l Joint working with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG), Public Health and Housing 
Solutions has resulted in positive contacts with patients living in cold homes or having 
cold related ill health. Over the last two years a total of  1,886 households have received 
financial assistance, energy efficiency measures and central heating/boiler grants with 
£3.64m of  external funding drawn down into County Durham from the energy supply 
companies.

Betty, an elderly widow renting a house in County Durham was 
referred to Managing Money Better (MMB) as she was worried 
about increasing direct debits on her energy bills. MMB found 
she was on an expensive standard energy tariff  and made 
arrangements for her to move to a cheaper tariff, this has saved 
her £210 a year. In addition, during a visit to her home, MMB 
found Betty was eligible for a new boiler and insulation measures 
under the Energy Company Obligation Flexible health criteria.  
The work was carried out the following month.

CASE STUDY

P
age 105



1514 2120

Why is this important?
We know that the first 1000 days of  life from conception to age 2, is a critical phase, during 
which the foundations of  a child’s development are laid. If  a child’s body and brain develop 
well their life chances are improved. 

We also know that supporting children to reach their potential through supporting their 
health and wellbeing throughout their school years can greatly improve their educational 
outcomes.

Focusing on the early years and childhood and encouraging a healthy start in life can 
positively improve the health outcomes of  babies’ and children long term, including: 

 l early cognitive and non-cognitive development
 l social interaction and development
 l children’s readiness for school
 l later educational outcomes

Behavioural Insights- Understanding the health and wellbeing needs of children with special 
educational needs and disability 
In 2019 we completed a Health Needs Assessment (HNA) for Children with Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND). This detailed assessment means that we have 
a better understanding of  the health needs of  some of  County Durham’s most vulnerable 
children and young people. The HNA produced a range of  key findings which were used to 
inform a comprehensive set of  recommendations for key themes included:

l Having a clear focus on improving the quality, particularly the health element, of  
education, health and care plans, ensuring children and young people get the right level 
support at the right time. 

l Ensuring that all services have a good understanding of  the impact of  Adverse 
Childhood Experiences and can implement a trauma informed approach.

l Ensuring there is a focus on supporting a range of  multi-agency practitioners to use 
appropriate evidence – based tools to identify any speech, language and communication 
issues at the earliest opportunity and linking this to an all age pathway.

Findings and recommendations from the HNA have been incorporated into future strategic 
documents and plans making sure that as a system we are continually striving to improve 
outcomes for our children and young people with SEND and their families.

Provided dedicated support for women smoking while pregnant and included support for their 
partners. 
In October 2019 we worked with our Stop Smoking Service (SSS) to gather qualitative 
insights from pregnant smokers to inform the development of  the service. The women were 
helpful in identifying referral pathway failures and shared their experiences of  behaviour 
change. This helped us develop a plan of  action to overcomes these challenges and 
remodel the SSS to meet their needs. As a result, from April 2020 the service provider 
began to deliver an enhanced service to pregnant women and their “significant others”.  
This included:

l Behavioural support which goes beyond the “standard” 12-week programme and is 
available throughout pregnancy which includes additional support post-partum to ensure 
support at a time when most women fear relapse.

l Combination Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT - two NRT products) for a minimum of  
12 weeks.

l Support, throughout pregnancy, for “significant others”.

 

Every child to have the best start in life

In my 2018/19 report as part of my strategic priority for every child to have the best start in life 
I said we would: 
l  All schools in County Durham working towards healthy schools with emphasis on mental 

health. 

l Provide dedicated support for women smoking while pregnant and include support for 
their partners. 

l Introduce breastfeeding friendly venues. 

l To understand the health and wellbeing needs of  children with special educational needs 
and disability. 

It is estimated that 
in County Durham 
1 in 10 children 
have a mental 

disorder

 

There are over 
26,000 children 
ages 0-4 in County 

Durham...
5% of the total 

population

17.5% 
babies born have 
mothers wo are 

tobacco dependent

There are around 
10,400 

children with SEN 
(in state schools)

That’s over 
10,000 
children 

in County 
Durham

Half of babies born 
in County Durham 
have breastmilk as 

their first feed

This 
decreases to 
3 in 10 being 
breastfed at 
5-8 weeks

This is 
14.5% of 
all school 

pupils

Over 850 babies in 2018/19.
This is significantly higher 
that the England average

Giving children the best start in life is a fundamental part of  improving health and reducing 
health inequalities. What happens in pregnancy and early childhood will impact on physical 
and emotional health all the way through to adulthood. It is important that we encourage 
positive early experiences to ensure children are ready to learn, ready for school and have 
good life chances.

In County Durham, we are committed to working together in a coordinated way with our 
partners in health, social care, and the community so that children, parents and families 
receive the support they need to give every child the best start in life.

P
age 106



Key achievements in 2019/2020 to support women smoking while pregnant and their partners
l  We have reduced Smoking at the time of  delivery across County Durham from 17.4% in 

2018/19 to 15.8% in 2019/2020

l We have worked with the North East Yale System Leadership group to tackle too many 
pregnant women smoking at the time of  delivery. This led to the development of  a 
Tobacco Dependency script for professionals to follow and a new clinical pathway for 
smoking dependency which was formally launched in September 2019.

l We have ensured that carbon monoxide (CO) readings are taken at every midwife 
appointment to monitor smoking status and track progress for those women who had 
stopped smoking.

l We have promoted and rolled out the use of  the Smoke Free app funded by the 
Integrated Care System Prevention Board to complement the existing pathway and 
support to treat tobacco dependency for both pregnant women and their partners.

 

 

22 23

All schools in County Durham working towards healthy schools with emphasis on mental health. 
We have worked with local schools and partners across County Durham to develop a Health 
and Wellbeing Framework, with an emphasis on mental health. The framework supports 
schools and education settings to improve, promote and develop good health and wellbeing 
for children, young people and staff. 

We have piloted the Health and Wellbeing Framework with schools and settings and 
feedback was used to inform further development, roll out and implementation of  the 
framework. We are now working with our partners within DCC Education Services, 
Education Psychology, the Mental Health Support Teams and Harrogate and District 
Foundation Trust School Nursing service to support more schools who have signed up to 
use the new framework in the autumn term. Here is what some of  our schools said about 
the Health and Wellbeing Framework

 

In response to COVID-19 we developed an online resource with information about services 
available in County Durham to support the mental health and emotional wellbeing of  
children, young people and their parents. This was shared with all schools across County 
Durham. 

It allows you 
very quickly to 
identify the area 
of  focus for 
your school.

It gave us the opportunity 
to reflect upon our mental 
health provision and what 
action needs to be taken 
in the future.

It is very useful and detailed 
and for someone already 
committed to the emotional and 
mental well-being of  families 
and staff  it is a very welcome 
resource. 

https://www.durham.gov.uk/familiesmentalhealth

Sarah’s Health Visitor attended one of  HDFT’s infant feeding 
training sessions. As a result, the Health visitor was able to 
signpost Sarah to the Breastfeeding Peer Support Programme as 
Sarah had admitted that she had found it difficult to breastfeed 
baby Charlie, which made her feel anxious and upset. 

Sarah has since been regularly attending the programme. This 
has helped her access the support and guidance she needed to 
breastfeed Charlie. 

Sarah has also made friends with some of  the other mums 
who attend the programme and they often meet up at the 
Breastfeeding friendly cafes in their local area. Sarah now feels 
much more confident to breastfeed Charlie. 

How has this work 
benefitted the Taylors

Introduced breastfeeding friendly venues 
In June 2018 the ‘Breastfeeding Friendly County Durham Business Scheme’ was reviewed 
and relaunched. By taking part in this scheme, cafés, restaurants, leisure centres and 
community venues show that they are committed to ensuring their staff  and premises are 
welcoming and supportive of  breastfeeding mothers. 

To promote the scheme, we ran a three-month county wide marketing campaign to coincide 
with national and world breastfeeding events and campaigns. We now have 177 businesses 
signed up to the Breastfeeding Friendly County Durham business scheme.

To find out what our County Durham mums think of  the scheme:       
http://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeedingfriendly
To hear from some of  our breastfeeding mothers:                                                                
https://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeeding

Key achievements in 2019-2020 in County Durham for breastfeeding
l  Reviewed and re-accredited all Durham County Council venues 

in 2019.

l 200 frontline practitioners attended the County Durham Infant 
feeding conference 

l Harrogate & District Foundation Trust (HDFT) Specialist Infant 
Feeding Practitioners introduced and are delivering the 
Breastfeeding Peer Support Programme - 46 volunteers have signed up

l Over 5,000 individuals are users of  the Best Beginnings Baby Buddy app

l 150 people attending ‘The Big Latch on’ event

l The Growing Healthy 0-5 Health Visiting services in County Durham and Darlington team 
were awarded the ‘UNICEF Baby Friendly Gold award’

l The HDFT Infant Feeding Team now have an active face book page with 600 followers.

l A COVID-19 Infant Feeding Pathway was developed and put into action to ensure families 
could continue to access quality support during the pandemic.

P
age 107

http://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeedingfriendly 
https://www.durham.gov.uk/breastfeeding


24 1525

Recommendations for 2020

Following the information presented in my report this leads to a number of  recommendations 
we will take forward next year.

Good jobs and places to live, learn and play
1  Work with housing and planning colleagues to implement health interventions that aim to 

raise health and living standards and reduce fuel poverty. 

2. Include housing support for older people in a Healthy Ageing Strategy 

3. Engage with hot food takeaways to promote healthier changes to cooking practices and 
menu options across Takeaways across County Durham. 

Every child to have the best start in life  
1. Increase the number of  schools and settings working towards the Health and Wellbeing 

Framework 

2. Reduce the number of  women who smoke during pregnancy. 

3. Increase the number of  businesses and venues signed up to the breastfeeding 
accreditation scheme.

Smoking recommendation 
In my 2018 annual report we had a focus on smoking with a recommendation to continue 
with the ambition of  only 5% of  our local residents smoking by 2025. Our levels of  smoking 
are at 17% (compared to 22.1% in 2013).

 

 

Update on recommendations from 2019

Mental Health at Scale
1. Increase the number of organisations involved in our collective approach to workforce 

development on mental health 
 A new joint approach to improving mental health training and support for workplaces has been 

developed, which engaged 30 representatives from 17 public, private and voluntary sector 
organisations. This included development and publication of  ‘A framework for good workforce 
mental health in County Durham businesses’. The framework aims to reduce stigma associated 
with poor mental health and develop equitable access to good mental health training and support. 
The joint approach also saw the commissioning of  a new Employee Assistance Programme and 
Mental Health Training Hub to provide free training and support to Small and Medium Sized 
businesses (SME) and Voluntary and Community sector (VCS) organisations based in County 
Durham.

2. Take a proactive approach to reaching more SMEs 
 Surveys and a series of  focus groups were conducted with a cross section of  local SME and 

VCS organisations to inform our framework for good workforce mental health. Over 100 local 
organisations took part in these information-gathering exercises, in which they told us about 
the unique problems that are associated with wellbeing amongst small business owners – 
predominantly relating to the small networks in which they operate and the demands of  running a 
small business. 

3. Continue to focus on Time to Change and tackling stigma and discrimination by more 
employers signing the Time to Change Employer Pledge and support the Time to Change Hub. 

 As of  May 2020, over 20 local organisations have committed to change the way they act and 
think about workplace mental health by signing the Time to Change Employer Pledge. Signatories 
are developing action plans to reduce stigma and discrimination by increasing mental health 
awareness amongst employees, encouraging open conversations about mental health, promoting 
a healthy work/life balance, and promoting effective people management.

Healthy Workforce
1. Help create healthy workforces across County Durham by ensuring alignment with key 

strategies such as the County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
 Creating healthy workforces has been embedded in County Durham’s Health and Wellbeing 

strategy published in 2020. The strategy includes an ambition to see more mental health 
champions across workforces and support businesses to implement effective preventative 
strategies, to help improve employees’ wellbeing and avoid costs of  absenteeism to organisations. 
This year 151 new health advocates have attended one of  15 training sessions. In addition, Mental 
Health First Aid Training delivered by the regional Trades Union Council (TUC) team were fully 
subscribed and well received. 

2. Attract more businesses to participate and achieve the Better Health at Work award. 
 The Better Health at Work Award continued to proactively reach out to businesses, providing 

them with a framework to improve the health and wellbeing of  their staff. The programme has 
responded to the challenge of  COVID-19 and adapted to ensure the support provided to 
businesses is relevant and beneficial. Since January 2020, 15 new businesses have joined the 
programme. 

3. Encourage and support progress through Better Health at Work award levels. 
 Workers within participating businesses across County Durham continued to benefit from a vibrant 

BHAWA programme that maintained high levels of  engagement, commitment and progression. In 
2019-20, 46 businesses progressed to the next level of  the award which means that thousands 
of  workers now have more health information, improved access to services and more supportive 
working environments.

What is coming up in future annual reports
In my next annual report  I will focus on:

2021 
l High quality drug and alcohol services;
l Better quality of  life through integrated health and care services;
l Promoting positive behaviours;
l COVID-19 recovery.

P
age 108



47587 AHS

Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format. 

Braille Audio Large print

Arabic Chinese Urdu

Polish Punjabi Spanish

Bengali Hindi German

French Turkish Malay

polski Español

Deutsch  
Français  Türkçe  Melayu  

PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk
03000 264109

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Director of Public Health

Annual Report 2020

Council

2 December 2020

Amanda Healy

Director of Public Health

P
age 111



Health and wellbeing across County Durham

www.durhaminsight.info

Recent developments include: 

• a COVID-19 landing page hosting the public COVID-19 dashboard

• a dashboard providing information on a) our Shielded Patient List (SPL), 

and b) comparing against other North East local authorities

• Updated information on our economy and employment 

• New interactive content covering the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019. 

P
age 112



Where we live, our services, our communities

There are many challenges to health and wellbeing especially whilst dealing with COVID-19.

However, County Durham has many assets that can support and protect health, some of

these are set out below:

P
age 113



Local Data - COVID-19

• We publish local COVID-19 data on our Durham Insights website 

www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19

• Currently updated once a week but will be moving to 2/3 weekly updates.

• Provides a good overview of the cases, rates, outbreaks, over a 7 and 14 

day period.

• Provides a regional and national comparison. 

P
age 114



Response to COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic is one of the greatest public 

health challenges in living memory, with significant 

repercussions for health and wellbeing.

As well as direct health consequences of the COVID-19 

virus, the subsequent restrictions, have affected other 

areas:

• Health and wellbeing including mental health, 

• Social isolation, 

• Physical activity behaviours,

• Employment, 

• Education, 

• Businesses,

• Socio-economic inequalities.

Our services, communities, and residents have been working together in 

partnership to address these challenges. 

P
age 115



Response to COVID-19

• County Durham Together – Community Hub

o Supported over 10,000 people

o Over 2,000 shielding residents needed 

support with food supplies 

o 1,500 needed support with pharmacy 

supplies 

• Conducted a health impact assessment:

o Assessed the potential impact of 

COVID-19 on inequalities in county 

Durham

This is Charlie Elliott. 

supporting vulnerable 

members of the community 

by delivering boxes of freshly 

prepared hot meals.

The COVID-19 pandemic is far from over, but we are committed to working in 

partnership with partners, communities, and residents to continue to protect 

and support the health and wellbeing of all County Durham’s residents.. 

P
age 116



Our priorities

P
age 117



Our priorities and progress towards them

• Get involved in Time to 

Change to reduce stigma 

due to mental health.

• Reducing exposure to 

second hand smoke

• To support people needing 

help with our new drug and 

alcohol service.

• County Durham was successful in 

becoming a funded Time to 

Change Hub, enabling us to make 

positive progress in tackling 

mental health stigma and 

Discrimination

• The danger of second hand 

smoke is now part of all training 

delivered to services who work 

with families.  

• Service provision has transformed 

through the COVID-19 pandemic 

to enable staff and clients to be 

safe and still access treatment 

and recovery services. 

Action Progress

P
age 118



Our priorities and progress towards them

Action Progress

• Support organisations to 

promote the wellbeing of 

their staff.

• Encourage people to have 

the flu vaccination

• The BHAWA has helped facilitate 

300,000 health promoting 

contacts in the workplace. 

• The Flu Prevention Board have 

supported the biggest local joint 

flu vaccine programme to date 

with further plans to extend the 

reach and scope of the 

programme into 2020/21.

P
age 119



Good jobs and places to live, learn and play
Why is this important? What we have done

• Working with Housing Solutions Warmer 

Homes Team to develop and pilot a cold 

related ill health project 

• Offered free intervention such as new or 

replacement boilers / central heating system, 

home insulation and 

• The County Durham Plan includes a policy 

which will allow us to carefully consider over 

concentrations of hot food takeaways in our 

defined retail centres. 

• To promote healthy lifestyles in young people, 

hot food takeaways will not be allowed within 

400 metres of an entry point of an existing or 

proposed school or further education college.

P
age 120



Every child to have the best start in life

Why is this important? What we have done

• Developed a COVID-19 Infant Feeding Pathway to 

ensure families could continue to access quality 

support during the pandemic.

• Harrogate & District Foundation Trust (HDFT) 

Specialist Infant Feeding Practitioners introduced 

and are delivering the Breastfeeding Peer Support 

Programme – 46 volunteers have signed up.

• Completed a Health Needs Assessment (HNA) for 

Children with Special Educational Needs and 

Disability (SEND). This detailed assessment means 

that we have a better understanding of the health 

needs of some of County Durham’s most vulnerable 

children and young people.

P
age 121



How we have worked with partners to impact on 

the Health and Wellbeing of residents living in 

County Durham

This is David Jones. With support from the Housing 

Solutions Warmer Homes Team David was able to 

access a free scheme and receive a grant to 

replace his current central heating system with a 

new one.  

Community Action Team 

(CAT)

The CAT brings together 

residents and a range of 

organisations to tackle 

housing and environmental 

issues in a specific area by 

identifying local priorities and 

making best use of resources. 

“I am delighted with my new 

central heating system; my 

home is warm and comfortable 

now and I’m not worried about 

the cold weather and high coal 

bills anymore. I was amazed 

that I didn’t have to pay 

anything, it was totally free”.

P
age 122



Recommendations

Good jobs and places to live, learn and play:

1) Work with housing and planning colleagues to implement health interventions 

that aim to raise health and living standards and reduce fuel poverty.

2) Include housing support for older people in a Healthy Ageing Strategy

3) Engage with hot food takeaways to promote healthier changes to cooking 

practices and menu options across Takeaways across County Durham.

Every child to have the best start in life:

1) Increase the number of schools and settings working towards the Health and 

Wellbeing Framework

2) Reduce the number of women who smoke during pregnancy.

3) Increase the number of businesses and venues signed up to the 

breastfeeding accreditation scheme.

P
age 123



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 Extraordinary County Council 

16 December 2020 

Corporate Parenting Panel Annual 
Report 2019-20 

 

 

Report of Councillor Ivan Jewell, Chair of the Corporate Parenting 

Panel 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Corporate Parenting 
Panel Annual Report April 2019 – March 2020, for information.  

2 The Annual Report was due to be agreed by the Corporate Parenting 
Panel at its meeting on 17 July 2020, however due to the Covid 19 
pandemic it was agreed by the chair and vice chair, then circulated by 
email to the Corporate Parenting Panel for wider agreement. 

3 The Annual Report 2019-20 was endorsed by Cabinet on 14 October 
2020. 

4 The Annual Report 2019-20 is attached as Appendix 2 of this report. 

Executive summary 

5 It was recognised that the Corporate Parenting Panel needed to 
strengthen political and management oversight and increase the 
voice of children and young people in our work. This was highlighted 
in our 2016 Ofsted inspection and benchmarking work.  

6 A number of changes were implemented, and the September 2019 
Children’s Services Ofsted inspection report stated that ‘The 
Corporate Parenting Panel is effective and is maintaining good 
political and strategic governance of children in care and care 
leavers.’ 

7 The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of 
Durham County Council’s constitution and make specific reference 
that the Corporate Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an 
annual report that will be shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.   

8 This is the third Annual Report of the Corporate Parenting Panel, 
following the changes to political oversight. 

Page 125

Agenda Item 8



 

Recommendations  

9 Council are requested to: 

(a)      Note the content of the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report  
 

     

Page 126



Background 

10 In March 2016, Durham County Council’s Children’s Services were 
inspected by OFSTED who found that services required 
improvement. Their report made fourteen recommendations 
including: “Review existing arrangements to ensure that political and 
senior leaders have access to improved quantitative and qualitative 
performance information that enables them to have an accurate 
picture of the current practice delivered to children, so that they can 
develop strategies to maintain and improve the quality of front-line 
practice.”  

11 Following the publication of the Ofsted Inspection report an Ofsted 
Improvement Plan was developed and was grouped into four themes, 
including The Strengthening Political and Management Oversight 
theme.  Benchmarking was undertaken, and as a result changes 
were made to political oversight arrangements, including the 
functions, membership, governance and administration of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel.  Work has also been undertaken to raise 
the profile of the Corporate Parenting Panel’s work. 

12 Further work has been done following the approval of changes to the 
constitution, and terms of reference for the Corporate Parenting 
Panel were agreed, which incorporates all aspects of the 
constitutional changes.  The terms of reference include the functions 
described in the Constitution with the responsibilities of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel in relation to each of the functions clearly set out. 

13 The terms of reference make specific reference that the Corporate 
Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual report that will be 
shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny. 

14 In September 2019, Durham County Council’s Children’s 
Services were inspected by OFSTED.   The inspection report 
states that since previous inspections (JTAI in July 2018, and 
focused CIN visit in January 2019) ‘the local authority has taken 
swift and decisive action to strengthen services.  Pace has 
increased since the focused visit, and solid improvements can 
be seen in many service areas, including at the front door and 
for children in care. Firm foundations are in place to sustain and 
build on the improvements made’. 

15 The inspection report also states that ‘The Corporate Parenting Panel 
is effective and is maintaining good political and strategic governance 
of children in care and care leavers.’  A copy of the OFSTED 
inspection report can be found HERE  

 

Page 127

https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50117737


Development of the Annual Report 

16 To ensure the voice of the child is reflected in the work of the 
Corporate Parenting Panel, it was agreed that young people from the 
Children in Care Council, supported by officers from the Partnerships 
Team, would develop the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Annual Report 
for 2017-18. 

17 The young people worked on the design, content and language of the 
Annual Report to ensure it was easy to read and understand.  This 
was well received, and a decision was made to follow a similar 
process for the development of the Annual Report moving forward. 

18 To ensure we continue to raise the profile of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel, the Durham County Council Communications and Marketing 
Team have been involved in the development of the Annual Report to 
ensure it follows a more corporate format, whilst ensuring it uses 
language and design which is also appealing to young people. 

19 The Annual Report will hold a more prominent position on the 
Durham County Council website and will again be hosted on the 
Investing in Children website, and the Children in Care Council 
website. 

20 The Annual Report includes information on: 

(a) What a Corporate Parent is 

(b) The role of the Corporate Parenting Panel 

(c) The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference 

(d) Key performance data 

(e) Achievements during 2019/20 

(f) Priorities for 2020/21 

Next Steps 

21 Council are requested to note the following key dates for the 
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report: 

(a) Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 
6 November 2020, for information 

 

 

Page 128



Conclusion 

22 Council are recommended to note the Corporate Parenting Panel 
Annual Report which provides oversight of the work undertaken 
during 2019-20, and the priorities for the year ahead. 

Contact:  

Helen Fergusson, Head of Children’s Social Care, Durham County Council 
Tel:  03000 266543 

  

Page 129



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of Durham 
County Council’s Constitution. 
 
Finance 
There are cost implications for design and print services, however the 
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report will primarily be shared by email, 
and will be hosted on the Children in Care Council, Investing in Children and 
Durham County Council websites to minimise printing and distribution costs. 
 
Consultation 
Young people from the Children in Care Council have been involved in the 
development of the Annual Report.  Following an initial face to face meeting 
with the CICC in February 2020, the rest of the consultation has been done in 
the main through virtual meetings coordinated by Investing in Children, due to 
the Coronavirus pandemic and lockdown restrictions.   
 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
Looked After Services are available to all children and young people in line 
with legal duties.  
 
Climate Change 
There are no climate change implications 
 
Human Rights 
Children and young people have been central to the development of the 
Annual Report to ensure that their voices are heard.  
 
Crime and Disorder 
There are no crime and disorder implications. 

 
Staffing 
There are no staffing implications. 

 
Accommodation 
There are no accommodation implications. 
 
Risk 
There are no risk implications. 
 
Procurement 
There are no procurement implications.  

Page 130



Appendix 2:  Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2019-20 

 

Attached as a separate document 

 

 

 

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Parenting Panel

Annual Report 
April 2019 - March 2020

County Durham

Page 133



Message from 
the Chair!

What is a 
Corporate Parent
Local Authorities must 
provide the care, support 
and security that young 
people need if they can’t 
stay at home safely and 
become the young people’s 
‘corporate parent’.

Being a corporate parent isn’t 
just up to the Corporate 
Parenting Panel, everyone 
should be looking out for our 
children and young people, 
and every councillor and 
council employee has a role 
to play as the eyes and ears 
of the community.

Being a corporate parent 
means doing whatever we 
can to support young 
people in our care and our 
care leavers, to help them 
to achieve their full potential 
and to have the best possible 
outcomes.

I would like to take this opportunity to introduce myself as the new 
chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP). My name is Ivan 
Jewell and I am a Durham 
County Council Councillor 
representing Burnopfield 
and Dipton.  

I take great pleasure in 
introducing the Corporate 
Parenting Panel’s third 
annual report.

As you will be aware, the 
global COVID-19 pandemic 
affected the delivery of 
children’s services across the 
whole of England, and in 
Durham staff, partners and 
volunteers played a key role in coordinating responses to the 
outbreak to ensure that our children and young people, and their 
carers received support and protection during this difficult time. 

I would like to thank everyone for their hard work and dedication 
during the COVID-19 outbreak, as well as their continued 
commitment over the last year to improve outcomes for our 
children and young people, which was reflected with the CPP 
being shortlisted for the LGC awards 2020 in the Children’s 
Services category.  Due to the pandemic, we won’t find out 
how we’ve done until October 2020 but being in the finals is 
a great achievement.

Ivan Jewell 
Chair of the CPP

Where are children 
in care?

 

Children and young people 
can be in care in a range of 
settings, including foster 
care, children’s homes, 
supported lodgings, and 
secure accommodation 
– the council is corporate 
parent to all of them.

Why are children 
in care?
Young people are looked 
after for a variety of reasons 
including neglect and abuse. 
They could also be in care 
if their parents are unable 
to look after them because 
of their own comple 
 health needs or behaviours. 
Some young people have 
no parents to care for 
them, or they could be 
unaccompanied asylum 
seekers.

I would like to 
thank everyone for 
their hard work and 
dedication during the 
COVID-19 outbreak

“

”

2

Page 134



3

I have been a regular attendee of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel – representing young people 
from the CICC and presenting items that the 
young people want to raise. I have been able
to speak freely in the meetings and have a 
valid input.

As part of our collaboration, there have been 
some really good changes, for example the 
language document that the CICC created has 
now been rolled out across the council and social 
workers are individualising the language and 
terms they use with the young people they work 
with to ensure it includes the young people’s 
personal preferences. 

“Overall it has been a great year working with 
the Corporate Parenting Panel. A lot of positive 
changes have been made and hopefully there’s 
a lot more to come.” 

Amber Boyd, Co-opted member

While I have been on the Corporate Parenting 
Panel, I have grown higher respect for everyone 
involved with young people in County Durham. 
Before I joined, I was very sceptical about what 
those within Durham County Council did for 
young people.

I was offered an opportunity to become a co-
opted member of the Corporate Parenting Panel 
and from this I learnt a lot of life changing advice 
and understanding of what everyone does, how 
they want to help and improve young people’s 
lives and how they try to achieve this.  

The Corporate Parenting Panel encourage 
young people to talk about what they want, 
and to share how they think things could 
change to help others who are in the same boat.
 

One of the issues I raised was around discount 
cards for young people who are in care/leaving 
care, and this has been identified as a priority 
area of focus for 2020/21.

Another piece of work which I am involved in 
is the Care Experienced Young Inspectors for 
Children’s Residential Homes, which has also 
been identified as a priority area of focus for 
2020/21.  Hopefully we will be the first Council 
within the North East to do this. 

I would like to say a massive thanks to everyone 
on the Corporate Parenting Panel for believing 
in every young person out there and without the 
dedicated staff within Durham County Council, 
I wouldn’t have had the confidence to do what 
I’m doing today and wouldn’t have believed in 
myself. Without them we would not be able to 
help as many young people out there and hearing 
stories of all the work they do in the background 
is heart-warming. 

“I would like to thank Investing in Children and 
the Corporate Parenting Panel for supporting 
me on this GREAT JOURNEY.”

Ian McLeod, Co-opted member

You can find more information on the CICC HERE

Message from Children in Care 
Council (CICC) co-opted members

I would like to thank 
Investing in Children and 
the Corporate Parenting 

Panel for supporting 
me on this 

GREAT JOURNEY.

“

”

Page 135

http://www.durhamcicc.co.uk/


4

The Corporate Parenting Panel is a group 
that is part of the council, which is 
called a committee. 

It has 21 councillors as well as council 
officers. There are also 10 other 
members, including school 
representatives and young people’s 
representatives to make sure there is 
a broad range of experience and 
knowledge and that the voice of 
children and young people is heard, 
and actively listened to.

Corporate parents have responsibility to 
act for the children and young people 
in our care as a parent would for their own child.

If I were that 
child would it 

have been 
good enough 

for me?
How could 
I make it 

even 
better?

If this were 
my child would 

it be good 
enough?

Corporate Parenting Panel responsibilities

The role of the Corporate Parenting Panel

There are a number of things which the Corporate Parenting Panel must do:

1.  Make sure the council acts as a good corporate parent to children and young people in care 
and care leavers, including: 

l Young people in residential care

l Children and young people in foster care

l Children placed for adoption

l Children placed at home under Care Planning. Placement and Case Review regulations

l Young people who are living in supported lodgings

l Young people in secure homes

l Young people in custody 

2. Engage and listen to the views of children, young people and their carers.

3. Work in partnership with other agencies to make improvements for our children and young 
people in care. 

4. Oversee the Virtual School for looked after children and young people. For more information 
visit http://www.durham.gov.uk/durhamvirtualschool. A sub group has been established to  
lead on this work. 

5. Oversee Aycliffe Secure Services. A sub group has been established to lead on this work. 
 
More information on the Corporate Parenting Panel can be found in the Constitution of the Council 

Page 136

http://www.durham.gov.uk/durhamvirtualschool
https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/30335/Constitution-Of-The-Council/pdf/ConstitutionOfTheCouncil_1April2020.pdf?m=637214372185670000


What we said we 
would focus on Where we are now

Working to involve children 
and young people in 
completing placement 
risk assessment forms 
(for foster care).

We met regularly to review the language and 
criteria used to describe a young person’s individual 
circumstances, lots of support was given and they 
were re-written and re-named Safety Plans.  
The service is now working to ensure that these 
are in place for every young person.

Review Freedom cards to see 
if additional offers and 
discounts can be included.

There are 588 freedom cards currently in use and 
most are used by young people themselves. 
From January 2020 the cards are limited to Leisure 
Centres only, and expiry dates have been extended 
due to lockdown.

Work with school settings so 
that they better understand 
the needs of children who 
are looked after.

Progress has been made with the virtual head to 
better promote young people’s individual voices 
about pupil premium funds and personal education 
plans. There is still further work to be done to hear 
young people’s views in a school setting, which will 
be supported further. 

Create more job opportunities 
for care leavers.

Lots of work has taken place to look into this, 
but given the size of County Durham/number of 
different providers, this is proving very difficult.  
Support will continue to be provided on an 
individual basis for young people, and a national 
covenant will look into this in the future, and 
hopefully things will improve.

Free leisure activities for 
care leavers

Care leavers get free access to DCC leisure 
centres to enable them to swim or go to the gym 
which promotes a healthy lifestyle and supports 
their physical and mental wellbeing. 

Ringfenced apprenticeship 
positions within DCC for care 
leavers ‘The Family Firm’.

There are four care leavers in apprenticeship posts 
across DCC, and in addition to these positions 
there has been agreement to ring-fence six 
apprenticeship posts for Care Leavers.  
Discussions are also taking place to consider 
alternative work experience placements and 
sessional work for our care leavers, which will 
provide more opportunities.

Opening a children’s home at 
Aycliffe Secure Centre to 
improve transition from secure 
accommodation into the 
community.

We have worked over this period to ensure that 
transition planning is at the forefront of all care 
planning. Whilst we know that community 
placements are hard to identify for complex young 
people, we have continued to drive forward that 
comprehensive planning around transition is clearly 
linked to success in the community. 

Updates against 2019/20 priorities
What young
people think

5

Page 137



6

Care Leavers Challenge
In February 2020, 
members of the 
Children in Care 
Council challenged 
Councillors and 
Officers to live on 
£57.90 a week, which 
is what care leavers 

who are not in employment receive. 

Two Durham County Council Councillors, 
and two Durham County Council Officers 
took part in the challenge and all of them 
agreed that it was a very difficult 
challenge.

Cllr Tanya Tucker said “I’ve never done 
anything so hard. It’s impossible to ‘live’ on 
£57.90 per week. You may manage to 
‘exist’ but that’s not living”

Cllr Heather Smith, vice chair of the CPP 
said “I missed being warm more than a 
greater variety of food. We were not   
                       hungry, but we were VERY         
                           cold. Not just care  
                              leavers, but also many  
                                 elderly people have to  
                                    choose between  
                                    heating and eating.  
                                    People need to be  
                                    able to afford both  
                                   to live healthily”.

                                Jayne Watson said 
                              “I made it to the end  
                             of the week with 4p left,        
                     but I was surviving NOT 
thriving. Had I needed to get the bus 
anywhere or buy medication etc I would 
have really struggled. 

 

I missed lots 
of things, but 
above all it 
was heating 
– being cold 
at home was 
unbearable”.

Dawn Barron said “Celebrating special 
occasions would be almost impossible, 
as every penny is needed to live” 
Living on a very limited budget for a week 
or two, knowing that normal life will 
resume afterwards, is very different from 
care leavers having to manage week in, 
week out, on very little money. The strain 
this placed on their physical and mental 
wellbeing must be acknowledged.

We must also take into consideration that 
young people may never have had the 
chance to learn the cooking skills that 
would allow them to eat healthily on a 
low budget.

Work will take place from this learning 
to see how we can support young people 
with some of the issues they face, 
for example direct debit payments for 
electricity and gas, and transport issues 
as transport costs ate up a large 
proportion of the budget and are a very 
significant barrier for young people to 
travel for education, work and any 
social activities.

It’s impossible to 
‘live’ on £57.90 

per week.

“

”
Page 138



7

The CICC is a group for children and young 
people who are looked after in County Durham 
and is supported by Investing in Children (IIC). 
The CICC members meet monthly to talk about 
issues which are important to them, highlight 
what works and share stories of the support they 
have received. This forum is well established, 
with senior managers and elected members who 
are on the Corporate Parenting Panel, managers 
from the independent reviewing officer (IRO) 
services, Virtual School staff, fostering services 
staff, and looked after children service staff 
regularly attending CICC meetings.

Co-opted positions for CICC members:  
Two young people from the CICC have 
co-opted positions providing panel representation 
and attend each meeting (supported by IIC) to 
share feedback from the CICC. In addition, 
the CICC have a standing item on each 
Corporate Parenting Panel agenda, where they 
provide feedback from CICC meetings, ensuring 
members of the CPP hear real unfiltered 
feedback directly from the young people. 
The young people are involved in decision 
making within the CPP, which is fed back to 
leads to influence service decisions and 
developments as necessary.

Joint CICC/CPP meetings 
In addition to the formal CPP meetings, children 
and young people from the CICC (supported by 
IIC) host a joint meeting with the CPP every 
6 months.

The young people set the agenda/venue for the 
meeting and invite members and officers of the 
CPP to attend to meet with the CICC.  

This is less formal than the CPP meeting and 
provides an opportunity for all of the young 
people who are part of the CICC to raise issues 
which are important to them, and have 

discussions directly with members and officers 
of the CPP.  

Feedback from the discussions is collated by IIC 
and key issues are presented by the young 
people from the CICC at a formal CPP meeting, 
for further discussion. Work takes place to 
address these issues within the service, and 
feedback is provided to the CICC at the next 
joint meeting.

Children in Care Council (CICC)

Page 139



Training sessions 
Young people from the CICC deliver foster 
carer training to potential foster families and 
feedback has been that this is invaluable in 
informing potential foster families to make 
informed decisions.  

Ten potential foster carers attended a joint 
training session with the CICC on 12th 
November. This was facilitated by care 
experienced young people who are in or have 
left care. The potential foster cares feedback 
demonstrates the impact this training has had, 
and it was felt that the CYP brought a distinctive 
view to the role of future foster care and it 
was valued. 

“Absolutely amazing session, so interesting, 
unbelievable to think children go through 
these things, without any home comforts, 
emergency care and hearing how they felt 
and how we, as foster carers can support 
these young people and what their needs 
and wants are”.
l In total 4 foster carer sessions have been 

delivered to 48 foster carers. 
l  Young people from the CICC also deliver 

training to those on Social Worker courses 
in the North East, ensuring these students 
understand what young people want from 
a social worker from the outset.

l In total, 6 session have been delivered 
to 101 students who study at Durham 
university, Sunderland university and 
New College Durham.  

l Head of Service training was delivered 
in 2019 to ensure that senior leaders are 
aware of the views of children and young 
people and can use this feedback to shape 
service delivery.

l Members of the CPP also receive regular 
training from the CICC on issues which are 
important to them, and the CPP ask young 
people to hold them to account if outcomes 
do not improve over time. 

 

Panel representation: 
The young people also sit on the fostering 
panel, and supported lodgings panel to provide 
diverse representation, from a young people’s 
perspective. They have been involved in five 
fostering and five supported lodgings panels 
to date.

Young people were involved in the design and 
roll out of a marketing and recruitment drive for 
foster carers, coming up with a range of ideas 
on how some of the myths surrounding this 
can be dispelled. Young people from CICC 
fronted this campaign, with a push for placing 
brothers/sisters together. 

Recruitment and selection: 
Where posts are in the Children Looked After / 
Care Leavers service remit, young people from 
the CICC are part of the recruitment and 
selection process to ensure that the new 
workers are fully aware and signed up to 
meeting the needs of our young people from 
the outset.

Investing in Children Membership: 
IiC currently work with 44 Durham County 
Council teams, who have either achieved the 
Investing in Children’s award or are in the 
process of going through the award. These 
teams include Children Looked After Teams, 
Families First Teams and One Point Centre’s.

8

44 IIC membership awards

Page 140



Use of language: 
Consideration is being given to the language 
used across Durham County Council as a result 
of feedback from children and young people.

A language document was co-produced with 
CICC and a session was held with the Social 
Care senior management team that was led by 
young people to re-enforce the importance of 
this. Further work is scheduled to take place to 
address this throughout 2020, and the following 
initial changes have been made:

l Using ‘children who are looked after’
 instead of ‘LAC’ 
l Using ‘family, brother/sister’ instead 

of ‘siblings’ 
l Using ‘family time’ instead of ‘contact’

9

Children’s homes:   
At the request of our young people, 
photographs and profiles of Regulation 44 
visitor are on display in all residential settings 
so that the young people know who’s who 
before they come to visit their home. This is 
real information about the members, not their 
corporate pictures or biographies, but about 
them as a person, their likes and dislikes etc.

Young people requested comments boxes to 
be in place in some residential settings in case 
they are not on site whilst the Regulation 44 
visits are taking place, therefore still enabling 
them to share their views with the inspectors 
and visiting members. These were
implemented and are in operation in some 
of our homes.  

Young people also said they would like to 
know who their local Councillors are, so 
information has been shared with young 
people and hosted on the Children in care 
Council website for easy access.

In November the CICC were invited to a Team 
Development day whereby the IRO Service 
were reviewing their annual team plan. Young 
people attended and facilitated conversations 
to provoke conversations and changes to take 
forwards. These changes have been 
incorporated into the IRO team plan. One of 
the changes was to create an IRO Profile to 
be shared with children and young people to 
know who is going to be visiting them before 
their meetings.

Council Tax:
Exemptions and concessions help care-leavers 
under our Local Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme.  This came on the back of our Care 
Leavers Challenge and to date approx. 230 
care leavers have benefitted from this.

Winter fuel allowance:
Payments are made to care leavers on a 
discretionary basis to help tackle fuel poverty 
and to date, 32 young people have received 
this payment.

       Independent Reviewing 
       Officer (IRO) Changes:

Page 141



10

1)  To treat you with respect and to remember that everyone is different.   

2)		 To	help	find
	best	home	we	can	for

	you.		It	will	
be	where	yo

u	feel	safe, 

  cared about and treated well.  

3)  To help you stay in touch with family and friends if it is ok to do so.  

4)  To listen carefully to you and try to act on what you say.  

 
5)  That your social worker will get to know you well.  

  They will keep in touch with you and listen to what you say. 

6)  To really listen to things you would like to change about being looked after.  

7)  To be honest and share any information or changes with you. 

8)		 To	involve	y
ou	in	any	de

cisions,	plan
s	or	change

s	that	affect
	you	or	your

	future.	 

9)  To give you any help or support that you need.  

10)	 To	help
	you	be	the	

best	that	yo
u	can	be	at	

school,	coll
ege,	training

	and	work.	 

11) To give you help and support when needed to move from care to adult life.  

 
12) To work together and support you during every change in your life.

 
For example moving placement or leaving care. 

Our Promise

To Looked After Children and Young People

Contact: Tel: 0191 307 7030    www.investinginchildren.net 

Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services  - contact number 03000 266 593

Head of Children’s Social Care - contact number 03000 265 759

43474

43474 looked after children promise posters A3.indd   1

01/10/2018   13:44

We continue to develop our Local Offer for care Leavers, click 
here for more information on the services available, and to find 
out what young people can expect from us . . . 

Last year, feedback from the CICC indicated that they did not 
like how the Local Offer was hosted on the council’s website. 
Unfortunately, we are not able to change the style and design 
within the Durham County Council website, so we will continue 
to make this offer information as easily accessible and relevant 
to its audience by working closely with communications and 
marketing team.

Promise 
Durham County Council’s promise launched officially 
on Friday 26 October 2018. 
 
Young People from CiCC have been involved in supporting the 
council with the creation of the promise and regularly review it 
to make sure it is fit for purpose, and that we are doing what we 
have said we will do. If we are not, the young people can raise 
this at a CICC meeting and this will be fed into the Corporate 
Parenting Panel.

Christmas lunch
Members of the CPP donated money from their own budgets to 
pay for our care leavers to go out for a Xmas meal 2019. Word 
of this spread, and members right across DCC said they would 
like to contribute as part of their corporate parenting 
responsibilities. The service received enough money 
to take young people out for a meal (and all young 
people were able to get drinks for themselves at 
the bar), to buy them all a box of chocolates, and 
where necessary a gift for their children too, 
to encompass corporate grandparenting 
responsibilities. Enough money was secured 
to repeat this in 2020.

The young people chose a Chinese buffet in 
“In Shanghai” in Durham city as the venue. 
We bought Xmas crackers and decorated the
tables. 31 YP attended the Xmas meal, and 2 
young people brought along their own children.
They were supported by 14 staff from the Young 
People’s Service. In addition, 12 Durham young 
people who are living out of county and were unable 
to make it to the meal received a £20 supermarket voucher.

Page 142

http://www.durham.gov.uk/careleavers


11

21 young people 
have passed their 
practical driving 

tests to date

In November 2019, the CPP were shortlisted 
for the LGC awards 2020 in the Children’s 
Services category. This was a huge 
achievement for the Panel as a record 
number of entries were submitted, so to be 
shortlisted was an absolutely outstanding 
achievement in itself.

The awards ceremony was due to take place 
in March 2020, however this was postponed 
due to the Coronavirus pandemic, so we have 
to wait until 28 October 2020 to see if we have 
won – watch this space.

An officer from DCC undertook 
the step challenge and raised 
£108.50 to go towards fun 
activities for the CICC. 

400,000 step challenge

LGC Awards

This project supports 15 
young people a year, 
providing up to the value 

of £500 for driving lessons. The project pays for 
one lesson, the young person pays for the next 
lesson, and so on. 

The project pays for the first theory test and one 
practical test. This is available for looked after 
young people 17+ and care leavers up to the 
age of 21 (25 if in full time education). 

The driving schools are contacted regularly 
by IIC for a progress update. If the project 
has been fully allocated young people will 
be placed on a waiting list until a space 
becomes available. 

Funding is renewed from Durham County 
Council annually. 21 young people have 
passed their practical driving tests to date:

l  2017/18: 6 passes
l  2018/19: 9 passes
l  2019/20: 5 passes to date 

There are 25 Young People currently learning 
to drive, 10 of which are carried forward from 
2018/19. Two young people from 2019/20 who 
received the initial funding are continuing with 
their driving lessons and funding themselves. 
There are 53 Young people on the waiting list 
to join this initiative.

Drive Project

Page 143



12

Subsidised Transport:  Discussions are taking place to see how subsidised transport can 
be offered to our young people; however this is difficult given the geographies within County 
Durham and the different providers serving these communities.

Teacher training

This is scheduled to be delivered by the CICC to teachers and designated teachers in schools 
across County Durham by May 2020.

Extension of the Freedom Card for Care Leavers: Members of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel have requested exploration into the expansion of the Freedom Cards to establish a 
discount scheme for care leavers, following feedback from young people at the Corporate 
Parenting Panel meeting and at their meeting with Terry Collins, Chief Executive Officer.  
Work is taking place to develop this, and discussions will take place with the CICC to ensure 
that the discounts are offered in places where they shop.

Young people now have access to the Durham County Council staff scheme, and work has 
taken place to contact some other companies who provide discounts for Durham County 
Council staff to see if they could provide discounts for care leavers. 

Further discussions and developments will need to take place once companies are able to 
reassess their economic position after the Covid-19 pandemic and see if/what they are able 
to offer.

Care Experienced Young Inspectors for Children’s Residential Homes 

Young Inspectors would help us to shape the services we provide in Durham County Council 
Children’s Residential homes.

The Inspectors will be developing a framework and toolkit, accessing training and support to 
allow them to carry out the role of a Young Inspector. The role would involve them visiting 
homes and sharing their views and observations on the services provided to the young people 
and their home.

Priorities for 2020/21

Page 144



13

Councillors who do Reg 44 inspections

Home                       Memeber

Tow Law Cllr Anne Reed

Park House Cllr Ivan Jewell

High Etherley Cllr Christine Wilson

West Rainton Cllr Jude Considine

9 Cedar Drive Cllr Pauline Crathorne

Coxhoe Cllr Liz Maddison

Moorside Cllr Beaty Bainbridge

New Lea House Cllr Jude Considine

Framwellgate Moor Cllr Mamie Simmons

(Auckland - secure) Cllr George Richardson

(Barnard - secure) Cllr Ivan Jewell

(Lumely - secure) Cllr Eunice Huntington

(Walworth - secure) Cllr Joe Makepeace

(Durham House - secure) Cllr Elizabeth Scott

Page 145



14

l Our number of children in care increased 
from 2016 and then stabilised but began 
to increase again during 2019/20. 

l 414 became looked after and 339 children 
ceased to be looked after.

l 55 children were adopted in 2019/20. This 
equates to 16% of all children who left care. 
This is higher than in England (12%) and in 
line with our statistical neighbours (16%).

  
l Around eight in ten of our children in care 

are placed in foster care or with friends 
and family (45% DCC foster carers, 18% 
independent fostering agency carers and 
14% friends and family). 

l 9% (80) of our children in care live over 20 
miles from their home address, outside of the 
County Durham boundary. This is lower than 
in England (15%).

l 68 children in care went missing, 
accounting for a total of 315 missing 
incidents. Seven in ten children completed 
a return to home interview (RTHI), however 
the child/young person can refuse this. 

l 94% of our children who had been in care for 
at least 12 months had an up-to-date health 
assessment and 87% had a dental check in 
the last 12 months.

l 68% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in 
education, employment and training (EET), 
in comparison to the England average of 
64% and the statistical neighbour rates 
of 63%.

l 54% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were in 
education, employment and training (EET), 
in comparison to the England average of 52% 
and the statistical neighbour rates of 52%.

l 93% of our care leavers aged 17-18 were in 
suitable accommodation, above the 
national rate of 88% and above our 
statistical neighbour rates of 91%. 

l 83% of our care leavers aged 19-21 were in 
suitable accommodation, below the national 
rate of 85% and the statistical neighbour 
rate of 87%. 

l At KS2, Durham children looked after 
achieved better outcomes than their peers 
regionally and nationally at all headline 
measures (Reading, Writing, Maths, GPS 
and in combined RWM). The gap between 
Children Looked After and all Durham 
children significantly narrowed across the 
board, but particularly in reading.

l At KS4, young people in the care of Durham 
County Council achieved a significantly 
better A8 score than their peers regionally 
and nationally and they had better outcomes 
in English and Maths (grade 9-5).

l 7% more Durham children Looked After 
achieved 5 high grades including English 
and Maths than the same cohort nationally. 
Durham Children Looked After made better 
progress than children in care nationally 
and regionally with a higher progress 8 
score. They made better progress in 
English, Maths, Ebac subjects and across 
all other subject areas, with English 
standing out as a real strength.

  

Key performance data

Page 146



15

Education, 
Employment and Training

Post-16 Support

Durham County Council’s ambition to 
appoint a minimum of 6 Apprentices to 
ring-fenced positions during the 
recruitment programme 2020-2021 is well 
under way. In preparation for the 
resumption of the recruitment process 15 
care leavers have been identified as 
interested in an apprenticeship position 
within Durham county Council. 
   
Supporting more Looked After young 
people and Care Leavers into sustained 
post-16 education, employment and 
training is a key priority for Durham County 
Council and is a recognition of its 
importance on improving the life chances 
of Looked After young people and Care 
Leavers in terms of their future income, 
health, sense of wellbeing and purpose.

DurhamWorks
Additional support is provided to Looked 
After young people and Care Leavers 
through the DurhamWorks programme. 
Further details can be found HERE. This is 
a European funded, Durham County 
Council led partnership project that supports 
young people aged 16-24 who are NEET 
(Not in Education, Employment and 
Training) and resident in County Durham to 
progress into education, employment or 
training. The current funding is available 
until July 2021. Further details of 
DurhamWorks can be found HERE.

Looked After young people and Care Leavers receive wrap-a-round support from their named 
Specialist Progression Adviser in order to sustain their progression into education, employment 
or training or to re-engage them in learning if they are NEET.

Transition Support
During year 11, a number of activities are 
undertaken in order to ensure that Looked 
After young people and Care Leavers 
make an effective sustained transition into 
post-16 education, employment and 
training. For example, every Looked After 
young person was offered a careers 
guidance interview from a Specialist 
Progression Adviser, in order to explore 
their options and to develop an action 
plan (often through attendance at 
Transition PEP meetings 
to provide IAG support.

Work with Further Education providers

Durham Works and the Young People’s 
Service have strong links with local 
colleges.  Meetings with those links take 
place throughout the year to support 
transition events and activities; to share 
information and ensure early identification 
of young people with care experience; 
and to prevent disengagement of 
vulnerable students. Employment, 
Education and Training meetings are held 
monthly and have representation from the 
further education and regional higher 
education sector.

Apprenticeships

Page 147

https://durhamworks.info/
https://durhamworks.info/


Celebrations

Foster Carer Awards

Winter Wonderland 

Care day is the world’s largest international 
celebration of children and young people with 
care experiences. This year, our 2020 care 
day event, which was planned by young people 
from the CICC, was attended by 82 people 
from across the care community, including 
16 young people. 

The event was themed around dreams and hopes 
for future, and young people were given an 
opportunity to attend a workshop with music artist 
Ric Flow, who himself has care and mental 
health experience.  

The session focused on the stigma of mental health 
when young people are in care and as care leavers. 
A song was created and was performed on the day.

Young people’s dreams and hopes for the future 
were hung on the Dream Tree branches. 

Unfortunately, our foster carer awards event was 
cancelled due to Covid-19, a decision on when it 
will be held will be taken as soon as possible 
but we continue to recognise and appreciate the 
exceptional work of our foster carers throughout 
the year.

Durham Children in Care Council (CICC) and 
Durham County Council Fostering Service jointly 
supported a Winter Wonderland experience to 
celebrate the festive season in 2019.  Young people 
from CICC received £1000 from the Key Fund after presenting to a key 
fund panel about how funds would be used to develop an experience for the 
care community. The event was very successful with over 170 attendees and 
festive activities ranging from a silent disco to a Santa’s Grotto.

16

Care Day 2020

Page 148



Higher Education Achievement
 

Outstanding Achievement 

Educational Achievement

 

 

IIC Award (Investing in Children)
Amazing Young Person Achievement 

The Children Looked After EPIC Awards (Exceptional People in Care) took place on 6 November 
2019 at the Durham Indoor Bowling Club. It was a festival themed event to celebrate the 
achievements of looked after young people and care leavers. The event was aimed at young people 
who were aged between 15 to 25 years old.

The categories for the awards were:

The winners received a certificate and £50 voucher. Those who were shortlisted for each category 
also received a certificate. 

Entertainment and food was provided on the night with dancing, singing (by staff and young people), 
fire-eating, photo booth, a variety of stalls, games, festival make-up and a group Spice Girls dance 
was performed by staff from the Young People’s Service at the end.  

17

Epic Awards

Page 149



18

In June 2019 the Corporate Parenting Panel 
received an update on the Digital Voice project, 
which produced video profiles of children in care, 
using media and animation enabling the young 
people to speak honestly and openly about 
themselves and their experiences of social 
workers, whilst remaining anonymous. The work 
also enabled a summary of key messages to be 
pulled together for social workers from the 
young people.  

The films were very powerful and contained 
moving messages. The project was showcased 
at a ‘movie night’ themed event hosted at 
Durham Town Hall, and the final film is hosted 
on you tube, a link can be found HERE.

Digital Voice Project

Page 150

https://www.bing.com/videos/search?q=you+tube+voice+looked+after+digital+me&docid=608019145239628675&mid=AF987E05D82DD5BE118CAF987E05D82DD5BE118C&view=detail&FORM=VIRE


19

Melanie Stubbs took up the post of Virtual 
Head in January 2020 and has responsibility 
for vulnerable groups, safeguarding and 
Children Looked After. Melanie is looking 
forward to working with all schools who have 
Children Looked After on their role and 
believes she has joined Durham County 
Council at an exciting time, when the Virtual 
School service offer is being reviewed ensure 
the best possible outcomes are achieved to 
support our children and young people.

In Durham, school attendance is good for our 
children in care, and there have been no 
permanent exclusions since 2014.

The introduction of Welfare Call in September 
to complete the Personal Education Plan 
(PEP) process has been met favourably by 
all who use it and has enabled the virtual 
school caseworkers to monitor the progress of 
children and young people and champion for 
the best outcomes. This process allows the 
PEP’s to move with the child electronically as 
they move through each Key Stage. Training 
has been offered to Designated Teachers and 
Governors to support the implementation of 
the new PEP system.

Caseworkers work with schools to identify 
what is best for the child and can advise them 

about the range of interventions we can put in 
place to best meet the needs of the child. 
Schools have previously had training on 
Attachment and Trauma which is a key area 
for many of our children. Designated teacher 
networks have focused on this area again this 
year and teachers participated in a session led 
by Michael Bettencourt, NNECL (National 
Network for the Education of Care Leavers) 
who has over 15 years experience working as 
a Virtual School Head. 

In January 2020, the Virtual School Head 
attended the Corporate Parenting Panel 
meeting, and answered questions from the 
young people from the CICC. This was a very 
informative event and we were able to answer 
their questions about the processes behind 
PEP meetings and how their information is 
shared. We are looking forward to the group 
leading one of our training sessions for 
designated teachers and launching the work 
they have completed around working with the 
designated teacher. This has come together in 
the form of an information leaflet for schools.

Virtual 
School

In Durham, school 
attendance is good for 

our children in care, and 
there have been no 

permanent exclusions 
since 2014.

Page 151



20

Aycliffe Secure Centre
l Review the education model to ensure the 

individual needs of every child and young 
person are met; Through carefully planned 
and ongoing multi-agency work to support 
individuals with a higher level of presenting 
need, staffing has been adapted to provide 
bespoke timetables for individual young 
people. This ensures the holistic needs of 
every child are met as part of this wider 
picture. Whilst retaining the core model, 
which replicates the model’s young people are 
familiar with and will hopefully transition back 
into, staff have been utilised very effectively to 
ensure that the needs of those for whom this 
model presents any challenges, are met to an 
equal level.

l Increase opportunities for learners to 
practice and develop their reading and 
writing skills in every lesson. Provide clear 
and specific intervention for young people who 
are not yet functional readers; This has been a 
focus of staff training and development, led by 
the two curriculum leaders. The existing 
Curriculum Group meeting structure has been 
utilised, as well as specific CPD sessions, to 
focus on enabling teachers to reflect on the 
opportunities they could offer to young people 
within their lessons to further practice their 
reading and writing skills. The template for 
work scrutiny exercises and learning walks 
have been adapted to ensure observers/
reviewers home in on this specifically to 
provide further guidance to staff. Initial 
assessments able swift identification of each 
young person’s strengths and deficits in basic 
skills, meaning that once reading age is 
established on entry, any young person who 
is not a functional reader can be supported 
through a reading recovery programme without 
delay. Where young people are functional, but 
not yet fluent, their reading is prioritised as 
part of their English programme.

 

l Ensure attendance remains a focus 
throughout the academic year for groups 
and individuals; Attendance continues to be 
monitored weekly and monthly and this 
remains very high. Given that on average, 
each young person spends less than a tenth 
of their secondary school career with us, 
attendance is absolutely critical. This is 
particularly important given that the majority 
of young people have had poor school 
attendance prior to arriving in the centre. 
Attendance at a subject by subject level is 
reviewed prior to every MATAC, with any 
pattern of concern being referred to the lead 
teacher overseeing inclusion. This is part of a 
wider project aimed at identifying and 
proactively overcoming any barrier to progress 
and achievement.

l Motivate all children and young people to 
achieve accredited certificates and 
qualifications and promote an accredited 
curriculum; Focus remains on ensuring that 
every child achieves Functional Skills 
qualifications in English and Maths as a 
minimum, as this is absolutely critical in terms 
of enabling them to progress beyond Aycliffe. 
As the majority of learners continue to be KS4 
and 5 education staff actively seek to link their 
accreditation to their career aspirations so that 
there can be a clear pathway into further 
education identified. The qualifications that 
young people achieve at Aycliffe continue to 
enable this progress. Outcomes in these 
subjects are testament to the hard work of 
skilled teaching staff who motivate young 
people to achieve more and more over time. 
The wider curriculum is accredited through 
ASDAN, specifically chosen because of the 
skills embedded within this; working 
independently, working together, problem 
solving, and the use of functional maths, 
English and ICT.

 

Page 152



21

ASC strives to promote pro-social behaviour wherever possible, helping young people reconnect 
with society and the communities they live in. Through national charity initiatives the centre aims 
to help young people help other young people also going through traumatic life experiences. 
Young people amaze staff with their efforts and generosity in fund raising and donations towards 
these initiatives. Recently a non-school uniform day was held, a staff vs young people football match 
and an interhouse badminton tournament to raise funds for Sports Relief. The efforts and attitudes 
of the young people involved were exemplary, young people were proud of their achievements. 
At Christmas time young people at Aycliffe learned about the scale of the use of foodbanks in our 
country. Although Christmas time was going to be difficult for them, they knew that other people 
in their communities would be struggling too and decided to create food 
parcels to donate to our local foodbank. Young people donated 
some of their pocket money and care staff went to the local 
supermarket to buy items from the food shortages lists 
obtained from the local foodbanks. In addition to this, 
discussions were had with the director at the local 
foodbank about attending and volunteering opportunities.

Target work around obesity and poor 
relationships with food, exercise and sleep. 
Over the last six months several initiatives have 
been implemented within the children’s homes 
and school. Including controlled portion size, 
understanding the nutrition in food and making 
healthy choices. There has been a concerted effort 
to encourage young people to be more active by 
undertaking exercise both in school and within their leisure time. 
We have continued to try and look at sleeping patterns of young people and take remedial action 
where concerns are identified. In order to promote better sleep, we continue to have an earlier 
Sunday to Thursday television cut off and alongside this encourage wind down activities for example 
reading, colouring, Lego building and jigsaws.

Practice Development:

Community

Page 153



22

Young People’s Involvement at ASC

l Young people continue to be heavily 
involved in the recruitment of staff based 
at Aycliffe Secure Centre. This process 
has also been used in the appointment 
of Northumberland Tyne & Wear NHS 
Foundation Trust staff who provide the 
community adolescent forensic service 
(The Kolvin Service).

l MySpace meetings continue to offer young 
people the opportunity to share their views 
and contribute to decision making within the 
centre. This forum is also utilised for specific 
pieces of work including collecting views on 
‘What makes a good residential worker’ to 
aid the recruitment process, re-decoration of 
the admissions garage and choice of music 
channels are just some of the examples.

l In response to several negative comments 
regarding food, mechanisms have been put 
in place to seek the opinions of young people 
and make change. Food logs continue to be 
used for daily feedback and in addition to this 
feedback sheets to gather young people’s 
views on their food ‘likes’, ‘dislikes’ and 
suggestions have been introduced.  
Information gathered from these sources 
forms the basis of monthly discussions 
with Creative Management (procured 
catering provider).

l A Coram voice worker has recently joined. 

“When I first came to Aycliffe I was scared to death, 
I thought I was coming to a prison where I’d be beaten up 
every day, but that couldn’t be further from the truth.  
Since I’ve been here I have learned a lot about who I am 
and what I am capable of.  I’ve learned that no matter how 
bad it is you can always ask for help.  If it wasn’t for the 
staff here I don’t know what I would have done.  I want to 
thank every single staff member of Lumley House for 
helping me and turning my life around.  You helped me 
learn how to trust people and for that I will be forever 
grateful. Every single staff member helped me in their 
own individual way and I think that’s what helped most.  
Thank you to all the education staff for believing in me, 
I wouldn’t have passed my functional exams without you.  
More than anything thank you for not treating me like a 
child who knows no better!  Thank you every single staff 
member at Aycliffe secure! x”

“To all staff, especially those who looked after my 
grandson J. I want to thank you from the bottom of my 
heart.  I don’t know where J would have ended up if it 
hadn’t have been for this Unit and the people who run it.  
People on the front dealing with it all and the people on 
the back burners making it all possible. I just wanted to 
say thank you and keep up your excellent work. These 
kids that are in your unit are exactly that, kids and have 
had a tough time in life.  They need a bit of time, patience 
and sometimes tough love, but you know with all the 
support and help you give them they will get there and 
grow up responsible adults. Once again thank you 
so much.”

“Aycliffe has done everything we hoped for C and 
he has made tremendous progress during his time with 
you. Thank you for the work that you have completed 
with him, the care provided and the quality of the 
relationships that he has developed with staff especially 
his key workers. I hope this has helped C turn a big 
corner in his life and have a much happier future.”

“I believe the support that K has received is outstanding 
and we have definitely felt that she has improved her 
attitude and behaviour over the duration she has been 
there. We believe she has matured and listened to 
everything you and the team have done in helping her. 
We are truly grateful for all the support everyone has 
given her.”

The process of seeking young people’s views 
(My View) for their Multi-agency team around 
the child meeting is fully embedded. In future, 
where deemed appropriate it is envisaged that 
some young people will be able to attend their 
own meetings.

Exit surveys continue to be utilised as a way of 
collecting a broad range of feedback from young 
people prior to their discharge. In the main, 
comments continue to be positive:

Page 154

https://www.cntw.nhs.uk/content/uploads/2016/08/Forensic-In-Reach-Service-July-2017.pdf


23

Residential Services for 
Children and Young People

47120 CYPS

Durham County Council currently has nine 
children’s homes, one of which is a disability 
short break care service for children and 
young people, with a tenth home planned to 
open in 2020.

The service has also explored the option of 
developing and opening an eleventh home 
and an options appraisal has been conducted. 
Our young people are also excited about the 
house move for one of our current homes from 
the old Aycliffe site to a new home in Aycliffe 
later this year. The young people have been 
putting together some great design ideas for 
their bedrooms and the living areas. 

Durham County Council currently has nine 
children’s homes, one of which is a disability 
short break care service for children and 
young people, with a tenth home planned to 
open in 2020.

The service has also explored the option of 
developing and opening an eleventh home 
and an options appraisal has been conducted. 
Our young people are also excited about the 
house move for one of our current homes from 
the old Aycliffe site to a new home in Aycliffe 
later this year. The young people have been 
putting together some great design ideas for 
their bedrooms and the living areas.

Nine of our homes are rated as good by Ofsted 
with one being rated as requires improvement to 
be good in their last inspection. 

These homes support between three and five 
young people with complex behaviours who 
require a period with support from their care 
team to reduce risk taking behaviours and 
support how they will achieve their outcomes.   

The homes are all located in across Durham to 
ensure the young people are living as close to 
their families and schools as possible.

All our homes benefit from a stable care team 
which is made up of a Registered Manager, 
Senior Residential staff and residential staff.  
The young people who live here benefit from 
one to one time with their key worker who 
ensures their views, wishes and feelings are 
shared, whilst this is not the only time our
young people get to share their thoughts with
us, it is something which the young people talk 
positively about.  

The teams within the homes work hard to ensure 
the young people have access to a range of 
educational, social and fun activities to do, 
ensuring their talents and interest are 
recognised, valued and harnessed. There are 
many achievements from building an allotment 
and growing their own veg, to playing guitars, to 
a champion footballer for a local club, to singing 
and a lot more. Our care teams know and 
understand our young people, providing a good 
level of care and support.

Our homes are reviewed on a monthly basis by 
an independent visitor (Regulation 44) and every 
three months the independent visitor is joined by 
an Elected Member from the Corporate 
Parenting Committee.  

The Regulation 45 reports provides Ofsted with 
an analysis of the quality of safeguarding across 
the home through the eyes of the Registered 
Manager. These reports are a statutory 
requirement and an area which we plan on doing 
some focused development work in preparation 
for the October and November submission. 
This will ensure we are supporting the 
development of the managers with their 
analytical skills, bringing in new ideas and tools 
for measuring and evidencing practice and 
interventions, alongside triangulating the findings 
with the regulations and quality standards which 
in turn supports the content of the statutory 
workforce plan for the home and the quality 
assurance process.  
      

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Mid-Year Review Report on Treasury Management for the period to 30 September 2020 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	4 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2021/22 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	5 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2019/20 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	O&S AR Final

	6 Appointment of Interim Chief Executive - Report of Chief Officer Appointments Committee
	7 Director of Public Health Annual Report 2020
	DPH Annual Report 2020
	DPH AR Presentation2020

	8 Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2019/20 - Report of the Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel
	CPP Annual Report 2019-20


